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Five-year Financial Overview

in € million  2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Group – Results of operations       

Sales  1,362.0 1,571.9 1,583.6 1,734.9 1,830.4

Share of sales in emerging markets in % 41 46 46 48 48

EBITDA  245.6 331.2 315.9 338.9 373.1

EBITDA margin in % 18.0 21.1 20.0 19.5 20.4

Net income  84.3 133.5 146.5 157.5 172.3

Earnings per share in € 0.71 1.13 1.24 1.33 1.46

Dividends paid  59.1 70.9 73.3 76.8 82.71

Dividend per share in € 0.50 0.60 0.62 0.65 0.701

       

Group – Financial position /net assets       

Operating cash flow  225.7 235.1 200.9 219.5 274.8

Investments  56.7 70.5 67.3 70.3 142.9

Balance sheet total (as of December 31)  1,895.2 2,059.0 2,120.3 2 2,150.2 2 2,210.4

Capital ratio (as of December 31) in % 36.4 40.9 40.9 2 40.9 2 43.0

Net debt (incl. pension provisions and similar  
obligations) (as of December 31) 773.4 733.7 772.3 2 808.0 2 744.8

       

Employees (as of December 31) FTE 3 4,954 5,288 5,434 5,669 5,959

       

Scent & Care       

Sales  682.3 804.5 801.4 882.8 960.4

EBITDA  109.0 160.8 157.6 161.1 194.5

EBITDA margin in % 16.0 20.0 19.7 18.2 20.3

       

Flavor & Nutrition       

Sales  679.7 767.4 782.2 852.1 869.9

EBITDA  136.6 170.4 158.3 177.8 178.6

EBITDA margin in % 20.1 22.2 20.2 20.9 20.5

1 proposal 
2 adjusted as a result of changes to accounting policies in 2012 (see note 2.2) 
3 not including apprentices and trainees; FTE = Full Time Equivalent    
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About This Report 

This 2013 financial report contains the complete consolidated financial  
statements, the Group management report and all other legally required elements.  

We are also publishing a separate corporate report with a holistic depiction  
of Symrise’s performance in 2013 – both from a business perspective as well as  

from a sustainability standpoint. The corporate report is provided  
as a supplement to this financial report or can be viewed electronically  

and ordered in print form at www.symrise.com/investors. 
 

The Symrise 2013 financial report was published simultaneously with the 2013  
corporate report on March 10, 2014 and is available in German and English.  

The publication date of the financial report for the 2014 fiscal year  
is March 2015. Additional information on our company’s activities can  

be found at www.symrise.com.
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Overview of the 2013 Fiscal Year • Basic Information on the Symrise Group

Overview of the 2013 Fiscal Year
The international economic landscape showed mixed develop
ments over the course of 2013. Raw material prices were slightly 
down for the 2013 fiscal year as a whole, but still displayed sub
stantial volatility, particularly in the area of natural raw materials. 
The Symrise Group’s sales rose by 6 % to € 1,830 million in the 
2013 fiscal year. At local currency, the increase was 10 %. As in 
the previous year, the emerging markets’ share of total Group 
sales amounted to 48 %.

EBITDA – earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amor
tization on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – 
of the Symrise Group increased by 10 % from € 339  million to 
€ 373 million. The Group’s EBITDA margin, as based on sales, 
improved from 19.5 % to 20.4 %.

The Scent & Care division generated sales of € 960 million in 2013. 
Sales were therefore up 9 % on the previous year’s level. At local 
currency, this corresponds to growth of 13 %. EBITDA was up 21 % 
on the previous year at € 195 million. The EBITDA margin there
fore amounted to 20.3 % in 2013 compared to 18.2 % in 2012. The 
Flavor & Nutrition division increased its sales by 2 % to € 870 
 million. At local currency, this amounts to 7 % growth. EBITDA 
for the division was slightly higher than last year, amounting 
to € 179 million in 2013. The EBITDA margin amounted to 20.5 %, 
compared to 20.9 % in the previous year.

The Symrise Group’s net income rose by 9 % to € 172 million in the 
2013 fiscal year. With an unchanged number of shares, earnings 
per share improved from € 1.33 in the previous year to € 1.46 in 
the reporting year. The Executive Board and  Supervisory Board 
will propose to increase the dividend from € 0.65 to € 0.70 per 
share at the Annual General Meeting on May 14, 2014.

Cash flow from operating activities could be increased by more 
than 25 % and amounted to € 274.8 million in 2013, € 55.3 million 
more than in the previous year (€ 219.5 million). This can be 
mainly attributed to the improved operating result. The Symrise 
Group’s liquidity increased by € 18 million to € 135 million as 
of December 31. Net debt (including provisions for pensions and 
similar obligations) decreased to € 744.8 million as of the 2013 
reporting date, primarily due to higher cash balances and lower 
pension provisions. The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 2.0 as 
of the 2013 reporting date and thus remains within the lower por
tion of the targeted corridor of 2.0 to 2.5.

Basic Information on the Symrise Group
struCture and Business aCtivit ies
Company profile

 Symrise develops, produces and sells fragrances and flavors 
as well as active ingredients for the cosmetics industry. Its cus
tomers include companies in the perfume, cosmetics and food 
 industries, as well as manufacturers of household products. In 
addition, Symrise provides biofunctional and bioactive ingre
dients and substances to the health and personal care sector. In 
2013, Symrise achieved sales of over € 1.8 billion, making it 
the fourthlargest company in the global flavor and fragrances 
market. The company sells its products in 160 countries. In 
2013, Symrise generated 52 % of sales in industrial countries in 
 Western Europe, North America and parts of Asia. The number 
of customers served by Symrise totaled approximately 6,000 in 
2013. The business model is built upon longterm relationships 
with our customers. As is typical in the industry, however, the 
order situation is characterized by orders at short notice, which 
is reflected in an order backlog of approximately one month’s 

OVERVIEW OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

€ million 2012 2013
 

Change in %
Change in %  

at local currency

Sales 1,734.9 1,830.4 6 10

EBITDA 338.9 373.1 10 13

EBITDA margin in % 19.5 20.4   

Net income 157.5 172.3 9  

Earnings per share in € 1.33 1.46 9  

Net debt (incl. provisions for pensions and  
similar obligations) to EBITDA (Dec. 31) 1 ratio 2.4 2.0   

1) The previous year’s figures have been adjusted as a result of changes to accounting policies (see note 2.2).
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sales. A total of 48 % of our sales were achieved in the emerging 
markets in Asia, Latin America, Africa, Middle East and Eastern 
Europe. There are 5,959 employees working in the  Symrise 
Group. With sites in 35 countries, we have a local presence in our 
most important sales markets. We supplement our internal 
growth through strategic acquisitions that offer us a stronger 
market position or access to important technologies.

The Symrise Group was created by a merger between the German 
companies Haarmann & Reimer and Dragoco in 2003. The com
pany celebrated its 10th anniversary in 2013. Symrise’s roots date 
back to 1874 and 1919, when the two companies were founded. 
In 2006, Symrise AG entered the stock market with its initial pub
lic offering (IPO). Since then, Symrise stock has been listed in 
the Prime Standard segment of the German stock exchange. With 
a market capitalization of about € 4.0 billion at the end of 2013, 
Symrise stock is listed on the MDAX® index. Currently, 94 % of 
the shares are in free float.

The two divisions, Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition, are re
sponsible for our operating business. They each have their own 
research and development, purchasing, production, quality 
 control, marketing and sales departments. This system allows 
internal processes to be accelerated. We aim to simplify proce
dures while making them customeroriented and pragmatic. We 
place great value on fast and flexible decisionmaking.

Both business divisions have divided their organization into four 
regions with separate regional heads:

 Europe, Africa and Middle East (EAME)
 North America
 Asia /Pacific
 Latin America

Scent & Care is comprised of the Fragrances, Life Essentials, Aro
ma Molecules and Oral Care business units, with each of these 
units being globally active. The business units themselves are 
structured according to different application areas. Fragrances, 
for example, is composed of Fine Fragrances, Personal Care and 
Household.

Flavor & Nutrition concentrates on products in the Beverages, Sa
vory, Sweet and Consumer Health application areas.

In addition, the Group has a Corporate Center which encompass
es the central areas of finance and controlling, corporate com
munications, investor relations, legal affairs, human resources, 
corporate compliance, internal auditing and global process de
sign in order to exploit crossbusiness synergies. Other support
ing functions such as information technology are either  out
sourced to external service providers or bundled in separate Group 
companies. The latter have, in the divisions of technology, ener
gy, safety, the environment and logistics, for example, business 
ties to customers outside the Group.

  Symrise sites       Regional headquarters

WORlDWIDE lOCATIONS IN 2013
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Symrise’s headquarters are located in Holzminden, Germany. At 
this site, the Group’s largest, Symrise employs 2,216 people in 
the areas of research, development, production, marketing and 
sales. A large number of Corporate Center employees are also 
based in Holzminden. The company has regional headquarters 
in the USA (Teterboro, New Jersey), Brazil (São Paulo) and Sin
gapore. Important production facilities are located in Germany, 
Brazil, Mexico, Singapore, China and the USA. Symrise has 
 development centers notably in Germany, Brazil, China, France, 
Singapore and the USA. We have sales branches in more than 
30 countries. 

management and oversight

Symrise is a German stock corporation with a dual management 
structure consisting of an Executive Board and a Supervisory 
Board. 

As of December 31, 2013, the Executive Board is comprised of 
four members: Dr. HeinzJürgen Bertram (CEO), Achim Daub (Pres
ident Scent & Care Worldwide), Hans Holger Gliewe (President 
 Flavor & Nutrition Worldwide) and Bernd Hirsch (CFO). The Exec
utive Board is responsible for managing the company with 
the primary aim of sustainably increasing the company’s value. 

Symrise AG’s Supervisory Board has 12 members. The Super
visory Board oversees and advises the Executive Board in the 
management of the company. It regularly discusses business 
 development, planning, strategy and risks with the Executive 
Board. In compliance with the German Codetermination Act, 
Symrise AG’s Supervisory Board has an equal number of share
holder and employee representatives. In order to increase the 
 efficiency of its work, the Supervisory Board has formed four 
committees.

Details on cooperation between the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards as well as on corporate governance at Symrise can 
be found in the Supervisory Board and corporate governance 
statements.

Business aCtivities and produCts

Symrise manufactures about 30,000 products from around 
10,000 – mostly natural – raw materials such as vanilla, citrus 
products or flower and plant materials. The value chain of both 
business divisions extends across product research, development, 
purchasing and production, as well as sales of our products 
and solutions. The flavors, perfume oils and active ingredients 

are generally central functional components in our customers’ 
end products and often play a decisive role in consumers’ pur
chasing decisions. In addition to typical characteristics such 
as fragrance and flavor, our value creation lies in the develop
ment of products with added benefits. Examples of a combina
tion of flavors and perfume oils with other innovative components 
 include flavorings that enable the sugar or salt content of foods to 
be reduced, or a moisturizing cosmetic ingredient that lowers 
the proportion of preservatives in care products. On the basis of 
these products, our customers can differentiate themselves 
from competitors with their tailormade end products in the rap
idly changing consumer goods market. The extensive research 
and development (R & D) undertaken, which is supplemented by a 
widereaching external network of research institutes and scien
tific facilities, forms the basis of our product development. Given 
the big differences in regional sensory preferences, compre
hensive consumer research is also an important part of our R & D 
activities.

Our customers include large, multinational companies as well as 
important regional and local manufacturers of foods, beverages, 
perfumes, cosmetics, personal care products as well as cleaning 
and washing products.

We manufacture our flavorings and fragrances in our own pro
duction plants. In some cases, we have longerterm delivery con
tracts for obtaining important raw materials. We maintain close 
ties with our suppliers and establish uniform standards to guar
antee that the quality of our base materials remains the same.

Scent & Care
The Scent & Care business division’s approximately 15,000 prod
ucts are sold in some 135 countries. Its portfolio includes fra
grances, cosmetic ingredients, aroma chemicals and mint prod
ucts. The business division has sites in more than 30 countries. 
The Scent & Care business division is divided into the Fragrances, 
Life Essentials, Aroma Molecules and Oral Care business units. 
In these business units, our products are used in different appli
cation areas as follows:

Fragrances: Perfumers combine aromatic raw materials like 
aroma chemicals and essential oils into complex fragrances 
 (perfume oils). Symrise’s perfume oils are used in perfumes 
(Fine Fragrances application area), in personal care products 
(Personal Care application area) and household products (House
hold application area). 
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Life Essentials: The products manufactured in this business 
unit are used in skin care products, hair care products, sun 
creams, aftershave balsams, shower gels, wash lotions, anti
dandruff shampoos and deodorants. Products with nurturing 
characteristics are an important part of this business unit. Alter
native preservatives are another focus. The business unit is 
 divided into the Cosmetic Ingredients and UV Protection appli
cation areas.

Aroma Molecules: The business unit comprises the Sensates 
(Menthols), Special Fragrance & Flavor Ingredients and Fine Aro
ma Chemicals application areas. In the Sensates application 
area, Symrise manufactures natureidentical menthol, which is 
primarily used in the manufacture of oral care products, chew
ing gum and shower gels. Special Fragrance & Flavor Ingredients 
and Fine Aroma Chemicals encompass aroma chemicals (inter
mediate products for perfume oils) of particular quality. These 
aroma chemicals are used for Symrise’s own perfume oil pro
duction and are also sold to consumer goods manufacturers, who 
make perfume oils from them.

Oral Care: Symrise offers the entire product range of mint 
 flavors and their intermediate products for use in toothpaste, 
mouthwash and chewing gum.

Flavor & Nutrition
Flavor & Nutrition’s range of products consists of approximately 
15,000 items, which are sold in 140 countries. The flavorings 
that we produce are used by customers to make foods and bever
ages, giving different products individual tastes. Symrise sup
plies individual flavorings used in end products as well as com
plete solutions, which, apart from the actual flavor, can contain 
additional, functional raw materials, dyes or microencapsulated 
components. The global Consumer Health application area 
serves, among others, the growing market for food supplements 
and pharmaceutical preparations. The business division has 
sites in more than 30 countries in Europe, Asia, North America, 
Latin America and Africa.

In particular, Symrise’s flavorings and ingredients are used in 
four application areas:

CORPORATE STRuCTuRE
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Beverages: Our flavorings are used in nonalcoholic beverages 
such as refreshment drinks, fruit juice drinks, energy and 
sports drinks, tea and coffee drinks, mixed milk drinks and func
tional drinks. Symrise also has applications with flavor gran
ulates for instant drinks such as tea and coffee specialties. The 
product range is being expanded with flavorings, distillates 
and extracts for nearly all common types of alcoholic beverages.

Savory: This application area includes meat flavors, herb and 
vegetable extracts, wine flavors for soups, sauces, instant foods 
as well as seasonings for snacks. Special Symrise flavorings 
help reduce the salt and fat content of foods with no loss of flavor.

Sweet: This application area includes sweets, baked goods, ice 
cream and dairy products. A focal point is products with improved 
flavor release and flavor systems with masking properties that 
permit the use of functional ingredients and simultaneously con
ceal the often unpleasant flavor of these ingredients.

Consumer Health: This application area includes natural, func
tional ingredients to promote heart and digestive function, 
 flavoring solutions and aromatization for pharmaceutical prod
ucts as well as natural food colors and coloring foods.

Marke t and CoMpe tit ion
market struCture

The Symrise Group is active in different markets across the world. 
These include the traditional market for flavorings and fra
grances (F & F market), whose volume amounted to € 13.4 billion 
in 2013, according to calculations made by the IAL Consultants 
market research institute. In addition, with the Life Essentials and 
Aroma Molecules business units, the company is active in the 
market for aroma chemicals and cosmetic ingredients, which, ac
cording to our own estimates, achieved sales of € 4.0 billion in 

2013. In both submarkets, the materials make up a series of prod
ucts which are consumed or used by end consumers. As a result, 
the two markets have many trends and characteristics in common. 
The market relevant for Symrise (AFF market) has a total vol
ume of € 17.4 billion and is achieving average longterm growth 
of around 2 to 3 % per year.

More than 500 companies are active in the market worldwide. 
The four largest providers – including Symrise – together have a 
market share of about 60 %.

The F & F market is characterized by high barriers to entry 
worldwide. There is increasing customer demand for higher qual
ity and more differentiated products with evershorter product 
life cycles. The majority of products and formulas are manufac
tured specially for individual customers. Furthermore, due to 
 local taste preferences, there are often many different formulas 
for one end product, depending on the country. Moreover, cus
tomer relations are often characterized by intensive cooperation 
in product development.

Apart from different local taste preferences and behavioral pat
terns, the demand for end products in which our products are 
used is influenced by additional factors. The increasing income 
of people in the emerging markets is having a positive impact 
on the development of demand for products containing fragrances 
and flavorings or cosmetic ingredients. Market growth is also 
partially based on simple products which meet basic needs and 
have an established presence in the markets of developed na
tions. In the developed Western European, Asian and North Amer
ican markets, consumer trends such as beauty, health, well 
being, convenience and naturalness determine the growing de
mand for products containing Symrise ingredients.

RElEVANT AFF MARKET SIzE 2013 in € billion 
(approx. € 17.4 billion overall)

Flavors

Aroma Molecules and Cosmetic Ingredients

Fragrances 6.4

4.0

7.0

Source: IAL (8th edition), internal estimates
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symrise’s market position

Symrise is the fourthlargest company in the F & F industry as 
measured by sales. Relative to the relevant AFF market of € 17.4 
billion, the company’s market share was 11 % in 2013. Symrise’s 
biggest competitors, such as Givaudan, IFF or Firmenich, are pri
marily active in the traditional flavor, fragrance and perfume 
oil business. Symrise has expanded both business divisions with 
additional applications: Scent & Care has added cosmetic sub
stances, for example, and Flavor & Nutrition now includes food 
supplements. On the basis of these more complex product solu
tions, greater value creation can be achieved. In submarkets such 
as food supplements, sun protection filters or other cosmetic 
 ingredients, Symrise also competes with companies or divisions 
of these companies that do not belong to the traditional F & F 
 industry.

We have worldwide leading positions in certain market seg
ments, for example in the synthesis of natureidentical Lmenthol 
and its derivatives as well as mint flavor compositions. Symrise 
also holds a leading position in the UV sun protection filter seg
ment.

aiMs and str ateGY
aims

In the long term, we want to strengthen our market position and 
ensure Symrise’s independence. At the same time, we recognize 
our responsibility towards the environment, our employees and 
society at large. By increasing our sustainability regarding the 
economy, environment, employee issues and society, we minimize 
risk and promote Symrise’s continued economic success.

 Market position: Our sales growth should exceed the long
term growth of the market, which is expanding by about 2 to 
3 % per year on average. In this way, we will gradually incre

ase the distance between us and our smaller competitors and 
gain market shares.

 Value orientation: We want to consistently be among the most 
profitable companies in the industry. We aim to achieve a sus
tainable EBITDA margin of about 20 %.

 Financial situation: The ratio of net debt (including provisions 
for pensions and similar obligations) to EBITDA should be in a 
corridor between 2.0 and 2.5 in the medium term. In our view, 
it is possible to exceed this range in the short term, by making 
acquisitions within the framework of our strategy, for example. 
Performance results are described in fuller detail in the out
look section. A consistently high cash flow from  operating ac
tivities contributes to the company’s financial  stability.

We ensure that our shareholders have an appropriate share in 
the company’s success. Our dividend policy is oriented toward the 
company’s profitability.

strategy

Symrise’s corporate strategy is based on the three pillars of 
growth, efficiency and portfolio. It incorporates aspects of sus
tainability at all levels in order to enhance the company’s value 
over the long term and minimize risks. In this way, we are mak
ing sustainability an integral part of our business model and 
turning it into a clear competitive advantage. The goal is a com
pletely integrated corporate strategy.

 Growth: We strengthen our cooperation with our strategic 
customers around the world and expand our business in the 
emerging markets. We make sure that we remain the inno
vation leaders in our core competences. This ensures our con
tinued growth.

Firmenich

OtherIFF

Givaudan

Symrise

AFF MARKET ShARE 2013  in % 
(Market volume approx. € 17.4 billion )

42 %

14 %
11 %

13 %

20 %

Source: Corporate data and internal estimates
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 Efficiency: We constantly work to improve our processes and 
concentrate on products with a high level of value creation. 
We work costconsciously in every division. This ensures our 
profitability.

 Portfolio: We enhance our product portfolio and tap into new 
markets and segments. We continue to expand our expertise 
in the areas of nutrition and care. This ensures our unique mar
ket position.

Symrise grows organically. When it makes sense, we engage in 
expansive acquisitions or enter into strategic partnerships for 
product development. At the same time, we want to ensure that 
Symrise remains capable of taking advantage of any growth 
 opportunities that arise without jeopardizing the company’s fi
nancial stability.

value - oriented ManaGeMent
Different variables are used within the framework of valueorient
ed company management. The EBITDA margin, for which we 
have defined an average target value of about 20 %, serves as an 
indicator of the company’s profitability. Increasing the value of 
the company is accounted for in the remuneration system for the 
Executive Board and selected managerial staff. In addition, we 
attach great importance to the company’s financial stability. Ex
amples of important key figures include cash flow from operat
ing activities and the ratio of net debt (including provisions for 
pensions and similar obligations) to EBITDA.

Management’s focus is guided by these financial control pa
rameters. Nonfinancial benchmarks currently remain of subordi
nate importance.

rese arCh and de velopMent
guidelines and foCal points

Our research and development (R & D) strategy aims to connect 
the individual components of product development, such as mar
ket and consumer research, R & D and creation, throughout the 
Group. All of our research activities are oriented toward the cus
tomer and the market. Through the close linkup of R & D with 
marketing and sales, purchasing and manufacturing, product 
development and quality assurance, we check early on to see 
whether new products and technologies can be implemented and 
if they are profitable. External cooperations and networks (open 
innovation) are increasingly bringing new methods and ideas 
to the development process. All R & D activities follow guidelines 
for environmental impact, sustainability, innovation and cost 
 efficiency.

The Scent & Care business division focuses its R & D strategy on 
six main points:

 Molecular innovations for use as fragrance and cosmetic 
 ingredients

 Functional materials for oral care products

 Bioactive ingredients for cosmetic applications

 Release systems for fragrances

 Masking unpleasant odors

 Sensory research and receptor biology

In the Flavor & Nutrition business division, the following areas 
are being reworked via six technology platforms:

 Developing natural flavors with authentic flavor profiles using 
modern biocatalysis methods

 Developing new technologies for the sustainable extraction of 
complex flavor systems 

 Optimizing the “farm to fork” concept for manufacturing im
proved onion and vanilla flavor systems, for example

 New tasteactive compounds for taste modulation in sweet 
 applications as well as for masking bitter notes, reducing as
tringency and improving mouthfeel

 Plant extracts with special flavoring properties such as 
 spiciness

 Natural materials for the areas “Health” and “Nutrition” 
with physiological functional properties as well as for optimiz
ing the flavor of ingredients with health benefits

 New technologies for the selective enrichment and release of 
aromatic compounds

 Formulation of products with healthpromoting characteristics 
and the simultaneous optimization of the sensory profile 
with special attention to ingredients relevant for health such 
as probiotics
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Unplanned impairment on capitalized development costs did not 
occur. The capitalization rate for research and development 
 activities amounted to 1.4 % in the 2013 fiscal year and therefore 
remained insignificant.

organization

On account of differing market and customer requirements, 
Symrise’s two business divisions pursue their own R & D activi
ties. At the same time, technologies, processes and findings 
are made available to both divisions in order to achieve synergies. 
The R & D resources in both business divisions are directly inte
grated into the organization. Symrise has several R & D centers 
worldwide, in order to optimally support the regional activities 
of both business divisions. The activities in Holzminden concen
trate in particular on fragrance and flavor research, the devel
opment of natural and synthetic production methods for fragrance 
and flavor ingredients, analytical chemistry, cosmetic ingredi
ents as well as the development of new, functional ingredients for 
the Consumer Health application area. We also have develop
ment and application technologies in Teterboro (USA), Singapore, 
Tokyo (Japan), Chennai (India), Paris (France) and São Paulo 
(Brazil).

In order to expand the network within the scientific community, 
Symrise representatives have participated in numerous scien
tific conferences and presented current research studies. These 
include the Irsee Natural Substances conference, the Inter
national Congress on Green Extraction of Natural Products in 
Avignon, the Biotrans event in Manchester and the Wartburg 
Symposium, one of the world’s most important flavor conferences. 
Symrise researchers helped organize the Flavor & Fragrance 
Symposium in Leipzig, the 2013 International Conference on Bio

encapsulation in Berlin and the Blankenese conference “Nutri
ent Sensing: From Brain to Gut” in Hamburg. Symrise was also 
involved in organizing the GDCH Flavour & Fragrance confer
ence in Leipzig and was also one of the main presenters with lec
tures on the modern synthesis of aromatic substances and fla
vors. We presented the topic of sustainability and fragrances at 
the Cleaning Products Europe Conference in Prague. The latest 
research results from phytochemistry, microalgae research, skin 
pigmentation, antiaging and receptor biology were also dis
cussed at the 22nd IFSCC (International Federation of Societies 
of Cosmetic Chemists) conference held by the French Associa
tion for Cosmetics and Fragrances in Rio de Janeiro as well as at 
the “9th International Meeting of China Dermatologist Associa
tion & National Congress of Cosmetic Dermatology.” The Christian 
Doppler Laboratory for Bioactive Aroma Compounds jointly 
founded by the Flavor & Nutrition division and the Christian Dopp
ler Research Association in Austria at the University of Vienna 
in 2009 was successfully reevaluated and will receive further 
funding for at least three years.

Symrise participates in numerous scientific research projects 
that are supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education 
and Research (BMBF), the NBank (Lower Saxony’s business 
 development bank) or other public and private funding institu
tions.

From the idea to the marketable product, the innovation process 
at Symrise is organized based on a uniform stage gate process 
with decision filters. The process is established across the com
pany. For every project, there is a business plan containing an 
exact project description, including the costs of the project and 
the resources used.

R & D COSTS in € million
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personnel and expenses

At Symrise, nearly 20 %, or 1,160, of our employees work in the 
R & D area worldwide. In the previous year, 1,131 employees 
worked in R & D. In the 2013 fiscal year, total R & D expenditure 
amounted to € 127 million (previous year: € 114 million), com
prising 6.9 % of sales (previous year: 6.6 %). Research expenses 
will remain at this level in the future in order to further in
crease Symrise’s innovative strength.

eMploYees
struCture of the WorkforCe

The number of employees at the Symrise Group, not including 
apprentices and trainees, increased in the 2013 fiscal year by 290 
individuals or 5.1 % to 5,959 as of December 31, 2013. Last year, 
5,669 people were employed by Symrise. The increase in the num
ber of employees in the Scent & Care division was particular
ly notable (+157 employees). This business division employees 
around 36 % of the Group’s total workforce. This increase is 
 primarily the result of the acquisition of Belmay and its 113 em
ployees. Nearly half of the Group’s employees work in the Fla
vor & Nutrition division. Here, the number of employees increased 
by 114 in 2013. About 15 % of the Group’s employees work in 
the Corporate Services and Corporate Center segments as well as 
in the separate subsidiaries Symotion and Tesium, which also 

occasionally provide services for third parties in such areas as 
technology, energy, safety, environmental issues and logistics. 
The number of apprentices and trainees remained mostly un
changed at 126 (previous year: 130 apprentices and trainees). 
They are trained in particular as chemical lab technicians and 
chemists, industrial clerks and business students (dual train
ing with a Bachelor of Business Administration degree) as well as 
industrial mechanics.

From a functional perspective, the majority (41 %) of the Symrise 
Group’s workforce is employed in the area of production and 
technology. This was also the area that experienced the greatest 
growth in personnel in 2013, adding 155 employees. 26 % of the 
workforce is employed in sales and marketing, while 20 % of em
ployees work in research and development.

Of the Group’s 5,959 employees, about 40 % work at sites in Ger
many, while the EAME region as a whole accounts for 53 % of the 
workforce. 21 % of our employees work in the Asia /Pacific re
gion, 15 % in Latin America and 11 % in North America. For 2013, 
the increase in employees was most prominent in Asia with 
11 %, followed by Latin America with an almost 8 % increase. The 
North American and EAME regions also experienced growth.

NuMBER OF EMPlOYEES BY BuSINESS DIVISION

 december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013 Change in %

Flavor & Nutrition 2,829 2,943 + 4

Scent & Care 1,990 2,147 + 8

Corporate functions and services 850 869 + 2

total (excluding trainees and apprentices) 5,669 5,959 + 5

Trainees and apprentices 130 126 -3

total 5,799 6,085 + 5

Basis: Full-time equivalents (FTE), not including temporary workers

NuMBER OF EMPlOYEES BY FuNCTION

  december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013 Change in %

Production and technology 2,276 2,431 + 7

Sales and marketing 1,476 1,561 + 6

Research and development 1,131 1,160 + 3

Administration 435 440 + 1

Service companies 351 367 + 5

total 5,669 5,959 + 5

Basis: Full-time equivalents (FTE), not including apprentices, trainees and temporary workers
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In terms of age range, employees between the ages of 30 and 49 
dominate the workforce at the Symrise Group, with a share of 
59 %. We regularly assess the demographic development of our 
workforce. Demographic development will be very steady over 
the next ten years. The natural reduction of the workforce due to 
retirement will be around 1 to 2 % per year until 2020.

Nearly half of the Symrise Group’s employees have been with 
the company for at least ten years – for German sites, this 
group accounts for over twothirds of the workforce. Our employ
ee turnover rate remained very low in Germany, totaling 1.1 % 
in 2013. Globally, the figure was 4.4 %, which represents a con
siderable improvement from the previous year (5.3 %).

personnel strategy

The strategic focuses for human resources in 2013 concentrated 
on personnel development and succession planning as well as 
enhancing the Symrise Academy profile. Our familyoriented HR 
policy was also further refined in Germany. 

The Symrise Academy was further expanded with the “Symrise 
Future Generation Leadership Development Program” in the 
area of “Leadership Training & Development” – one of the pillars 
of our fourpillar concept:

 Flavorist and Perfumer Academy
 Technical & Professional Training
 Sales Training 
 Leadership Training & Development

One of Symrise’s strengths is in the training and development of 
our technical personnel, particularly in the creative segment. 
The flavorist and perfumer schools train specialists who can be 
quickly and successfully employed. Next, the technical train
ing of our production employees is a core component of Symrise’s 
professional development program with training courses for 
chemical production specialists and process chemical technicians, 
or, more recently, as inventory specialists in logistics at Symo
tion. Our highperformance sales training for sales personnel is 
also being continued and further expanded.

NuMBER OF EMPlOYEES BY REGION

  december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013 Change in %

Germany 2,352 2,398 + 2

EAME not including Germany 757 786 + 4

North America 641 673 + 5

Asia/Pacific 1,113 1,235 + 11

Latin America 806 867 + 8

total 5,669 5,959 + 5

Basis: Full-time equivalents (FTE), not including apprentices, trainees and temporary workers
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Another element of our personnel strategy is the development of 
junior managers for key positions within the company. In 2013, 
we started a global program focusing on this issue in addition to 
regional initiatives.

Symrise pursues a very application and implementationoriented 
philosophy in its personnel development. Recent studies show 
that 70 % of workrelated learning takes place “on the job” by per
forming new tasks, taking on new challenges and working on 
projects. A further 20 % is learned in exchange with colleagues 
and superiors as well as through coaching and mentoring. The 
final 10 % is learned in structured seminars and training sessions. 
For this reason, Symrise is placing a primary focus on project 
work and learning in short to mediumterm foreign  deployments 
– these forms of knowledge transfer will be further expanded in 
the coming years.

Symrise has made considerable investments into the continu
ation and expansion of its training at its Holzminden site. Each 
year, we hire roughly 45 new apprentices in various occupa
tional training programs. This helps us prepare for the upcom
ing demographic change. The capacities in the training labora
tory for training chemicaltechnical personnel were expanded by 
an additional 12 training slots. In addition, we started a new 
 cooperation with the OstwestfalenLippe University of Applied 
Sciences in Lemgo. Two Symrise employees with chemical 
technical training experience have been studying there since 
the start of the 2013 winter semester in the field of “Life Sci
ence Technologies” and will receive a Bachelor of Science degree 
in Food Technology and Cosmetics and Detergent Technology 
 following the successful completion of six semesters. In order to 
gain new apprentices, we also participate in numerous career 
guidance measures at schools as well as fairs like the Idea Expo 
in Hanover or university recruitment fairs.

Another important component of the corporate culture at Symrise 
is our familyoriented HR policy. In certain personal situations, 
such as the birth and nursing of a new child or caring for other 
family members, we strive to allow our employees an optimal 
combination of these personal responsibilities with their workre
lated duties via various individual programs.

Additionally, Symrise initiated a crossdivisional and crossre
gional succession planning program in 2013. It consists of three 
elements: A direct emergency plan for the immediate filling of 
important key positions (such as in the case of sudden illness), 

succession planning (where candidates are qualified for par
ticular positions over a period of two to three years), and the de
velopment of career plans covering a period of three to five 
years – the Symrise Future Generation Leadership Development 
Program. With this tool, highly qualified succession candi dates 
are identified for key positions and focused development plans 
are defined.

personnel measures

Remuneration and Wage Agreements
Symrise uses the wage agreements applicable to the chemicals 
industry for its employees in Germany – both in terms of content 
and duration. In February 2014, a wage agreement was conclud
ed that establishes an increase of the tariff wages of 3.7 %. For the 
application of this increase at Symrise, we will take into account 
our pioneering site safeguard agreement, which will remain in 
effect through the year 2020, and provides for salary reductions 
of 0.7 percentage points compared to the industry tariff. As a re
sult, the tariff wages of our employees will be increased by 3 % 
by the wage agreement. The adjusted tariff wages will remain val
id until the end of March 2015. 

Flexible remuneration systems, which honor employees’ individ
ual contributions with variable salary components and at the 
same time take the company’s economic situation into account, 
are an important element of our modern remuneration policy. 
The remuneration systems are based on our salary range model, 
which was introduced at all of the major Symrise sites. The ad
vantages of this socalled job grade concept lie in its structured 
and comprehensible remuneration as well as its international 
comparability. This makes our company more attractive as an 
employer and contributes toward recruiting and retaining 
 employees. In addition, a separate global performance bonus plan 
ensuring that company targets are reached by means of a vari
able remuneration geared toward results and performance applies 
to about 70 managers with global or regional responsibilities: 
Employee performance should pay off at Symrise.

Measures to Safeguard Competitiveness
The company wage agreement between Symrise and IG BCE 
(Mining, Chemical and Energy Industrial Union) makes an 
 important contribution toward keeping the company competi
tive. At the beginning of 2012, the agreement was extended 
 until 2020. The essential elements of the agreement on the com
pany’s side are a site and employment guarantee as well as 
 investment commitments of around € 220 million for the German 
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sites until 2020. At the same time, the agreement forms the 
 basis for qualification measures and considerable cost savings 
through the retention of a working week of 40 hours and the 
gradual takeover of the IG BCE union wage rates with clearly de
fined reductions averaging about 1 % per year over the full du
ration until 2020. The implementation of qualification measures, 
which foster and enhance the innovative ability of our employ
ees, is an essential pillar of our personnel policy. With these con
cessions, the workforce is making a decisive contribution to in
ternationally competitive personnel costs at our German sites. A 
key element of the collective bargaining agreement is the re
turn of these competitivenessenhancing discounts to employees 
if Symrise loses its independence. In this case, the chemical in
dustry’s general wage agreement automatically comes into effect 
six months after Symrise is acquired by a third party. This does 
not affect the site guarantee and the waiver of terminations for 
business reasons through 2020.

Economic Report
GloBal eConoMiC and industrY- rel ated 
Conditions
differentiated effeCts on symrise

Symrise’s business development is influenced by various factors 
in the company’s environment. Regarding sales, the general eco
nomic development plays a big role. The submarkets in which 
we are active show different degrees of fluctuation depending on 
economic developments.

In our manufacturing, we make use of about 10,000 natural and 
synthetic raw materials. On account of various factors, including 
the development of the economy, oil prices and harvests, these 
raw materials can be subject to strong price fluctuations. Further
more, production can be affected by shortfalls in the supply of 
raw materials due to political unrest in supplier countries, among 
other things.

Symrise’s products are found in a number of application areas 
worldwide, including in the manufacture of food, in cosmetic and 
pharmaceutical end products and in household products. World
wide use of our products requires that we observe national and 
internationally valid consumer protection guidelines and legal 
regulations. These regulations are in constant flux due to new 
findings in research, development and production technology, a 
growing need for safety and steadily increasing health and en
vironmental awareness across the globe. We observe the regional 
and global development of these processes very carefully, en
suring that we can react quickly to changes in or tightening of 
regulations.

gloBal eConomiC Conditions

The international economic landscape showed mixed develop
ments over the course of 2013. More and more industrialized 
 nations showed positive development, while growth in some 
emerging markets remained below expectations. Overall, the 
global economy achieved modest growth of 3.0 % in 2013 ac
cording to estimates from the DIW Berlin, the German Institute 
for Economic Research (previous year: 3.1 %).

The economic upswing in the industrialized nations is mainly due 
to the recovery in private consumption which, in turn, is pri
marily supported by a gradual improvement to the employment 
markets and low inflation rates. Additionally, the USA answered 
some of the questions surrounding its future fiscal course and an
nounced that its monetary policy would remain expansionary. 
The growth rate in the USA increased from quarter to quarter and 
achieved an annualized value of 3.6 % in the fall of 2013. Mean
while, the eurozone seems to have moved beyond its low point and 
be on the road to recovery. In 2013, the economy in the eurozone 
still decreased slightly by 0.4 %. The German economy continued 
its recovery over the course of 2013. Thanks to the improving 
global economy, German exports regained momentum, which also 
encouraged greater investment activity. The purchasing power 

DEVElOPMENT OF GROSS DOMESTIC PRODuCT IN 2012/2013 in %
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of private households benefited from increasing employment, pos
itive wage developments and the ongoing low rate of price in
flation. For 2013, the German economy grew approximately 0.4 %.

Symrise generates nearly half of its sales in the developing and 
emerging markets. Economic growth accelerated particularly no
tably in China and India at the end of 2013. The Chinese gross 
domestic product expanded by 7.6 % in 2013, while the Indian 
GDP grew by 2.8 %. Most Eastern European countries also expe
rienced significant growth in the fall of 2013, which is mainly 
attributable to heightened foreign demand. The economic growth 
rates for Brazil and Mexico amounted to 3.3 % and 1.5 % respec
tively in 2013. 

The overall economic development – viewed as an isolated factor 
of influence – has different effects on the course of Symrise’s 
business:

 Economic fluctuations in the developed markets have very 
 little effect on the demand for end products containing 
 Symrise products if they cover basic needs – for example, in 
the nutrition, personal care or household segments.

 The demand for products in the “luxury segments” of Fine 
 Fragrances and Personal Care (about 10 to 15 % of our product 
portfolio) is significantly more dependent on the disposable 
income of private households.

 In the emerging markets, there is higher demand for products 
refined with flavorings and fragrances, in keeping with the 
dynamically increasing standard of living of the population.

 Symrise customer companies manage production and ware
housing so that as little capital as possible is tied up. Uncertain
ties about future sales development lead to ad justments, 
 including in the amount of products purchased from Symrise.

Symrise benefited from its favorable market position in the 
emerging markets as well as a broadly diversified customer 
portfolio in the 2013 fiscal year.

development of essential sales markets

The relevant market for the Symrise Group is growing at a long
term rate of 2 to 3 %. For 2013, the market volume amounted to 
€ 17.4 billion. The flavors and fragrances market segment as well 
as the market segment for aroma chemicals also showed a simi
lar development over the past fiscal year.

priCe development and availaBilit y of raW materials

Symrise uses about 10,000 different raw materials in produc
tion. Important examples are natural vanilla and citrus deriv
atives (juices, essential oils, etc.), citral and terpene deriva
tives and base chemicals derived from crude oil which are used 
in Symrise’s value chain as menthol intermediate products, 
 solvents as well as raw materials for sun protection filters and 
special aromatic substances. In general, however, individual 
raw materials comprise only a very small part of total require
ment. Procurement costs saw moderate to slight downturns for 
many raw materials in 2013. This was due to a drop in demand 
(e.g. on the European market) and the lower than expected 
growth in  demand from the emerging markets in 2013. With citral 
and terpene derivatives, which are used to manufacture fra
grances, the supply and therefore the cost situation has relaxed 
slightly in 2013. The same holds true for most base chemicals.

Overall, the prices for chemical raw materials decreased slightly 
over the course of the 2013 fiscal year. Natural raw materials 
 experienced significant price distortions due to the unsettled 
market environment and continued high level of volatility. To 
 increase supply security with base products, Symrise has for 
years pursued a strategy of longterm cooperation. Examples 
of this are the collaboration with LANXESS in the manufacture 
of synthetic menthols and a presence in Madagascar, the most 
important source country for bourbon vanilla, with backward 
integration, meaning the inclusion of local farmers.

general politiCal and regulatory Conditions

The Flavor & Nutrition business division’s products are primarily 
used in foods, beverages and pharmaceutical applications. New 
maximum limits for certain aromatic substances must be complied 
with in the EU starting in October 2014 at the latest. Symrise 
 already ensured in 2013 that it meets this new requirement. The 
company guarantees that all Symrise products meet these re
quirements and that corresponding documentation is made avail
able to customers. Furthermore, the EU Union List of aromatic 
compounds was published and also contains exact purity require
ments. Symrise began adjusting its data systems and inform
ing its customers of these changes before the list was published.

Symrise AG was successfully audited at its Holzminden site in 
2013 by US authorities as part of the Food and Drug Administra
tion’s (FDA) stricter auditing of companies in the food industry, 
including those based outside the USA.
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In the Scent & Care division, perfume oils and substances are 
mainly manufactured for use in the cosmetics industry and house
hold products. One key activity for Symrise in 2013 was regis
tering important products and raw materials in accor dance with 
the European chemicals directive REACH: Overall, files for 
more than 40 old materials (or phasein substances; EINECS) 
were submitted to the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) 
by the registration deadline of May 31, 2013. Symrise also regis
tered several newly developed materials (socalled non phase
in substances) and reworked some substances regis tered back in 
2010. That means that approximately 50 substances were 
 registered in 2013 and thus their continued use secured.

Along with REACH, the implementation of the new and revised 
IFRA (International Fragrance Association) quality and safety 
standards was another focus in 2013. These standards were 
promptly implemented by Symrise in order to ensure maximum 
safety for consumers using our fragrance products.

Corpor ate de velopMent
general statement on the Course of Business

The Symrise Group’s sales rose by 6 % to € 1,830 million in the 
2013 fiscal year. At local currency, the increase was 10 %. As 
in the previous year, the emerging markets’ share of total Group 
sales amounted to 48 %.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization on 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (EBITDA) 
at the Group level increased by 10 %, from € 339 million to € 373 
million. This corresponds to an EBITDA margin of 20.4 % (pre
vious year: 19.5 %).

Net income for 2013 increased by € 15 million to € 172 million. 
Earnings per share amounted to € 1.46 (2012: € 1.33). Given 
this positive development, Symrise AG’s Executive Board will, in 

consultation with the Supervisory Board, propose raising the 
dividend from € 0.65 to € 0.70 per share at the Annual General 
Meeting on May 14, 2014.

a Comparison Bet Ween the aCtual and foreCast 

Course of Business

At the start of 2013, we expressed our goal of posting sales 
growth at local currency in both divisions well beyond the aver
age market growth rate (2–3 %). 

Assuming that raw materials prices remained at the level of 
2012 and exchange rates did not change significantly from 2012, 
we anticipated an EBITDA margin of about 20 % for 2013.

Our debt, as measured in terms of the key figure net debt (in
cluding pension provisions and similar obligations) to EBITDA, 
should remain between 2.0 and 2.5 in the medium term.

With sales growth of 9.8 % at local currency, we exceeded our 
sales target by a considerable margin. Without the acquisition of 
Belmay, growth would have amounted to 7.7 %. The EBITDA 
 margin of 20.4 % was within the targeted range and net debt, at 
2.0 times EBITDA, was at the lower end of our target corridor.

result of operations

Group Sales
For 2013 as a whole, the Symrise Group generated sales of € 1,830 
million. This corresponds to an increase over the previous year 
of 6 %, or growth of 10 % at local currency.

Business divisions: Scent & Care was able to increase sales at 
 local currency by 13 % to € 960 million. Sales in the Flavor &  
 Nutrition business division reached € 870 million in the past 
 fiscal year, representing an increase at local currency of 6 % 
compared to the previous year.

AChIEVEMENT OF TARGETS IN 2013

 target at the Beginning of the Fiscal Year Figure achieved

Sales growth (at local currency)
 

notably above market growth(2–3 %) 9.8 %

EBITDA margin about 20.0 % 20.4 %

Net debt (incl. pension provisions and similar obligations)/EBITDA medium term 2.0 to 2.5 2.0
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Regions: Sales in the EAME region increased by 5 % (at local cur
rency: 7 %). The North America region developed very positive
ly in the 2013 fiscal year and achieved sales growth of 11 % com
pared to the previous year (at local currency: 14 %). Business 
in the Asia /Pacific region also developed positively, with a sales 
increase of 4 % (at local currency: 10 %). Sales in the Latin 

 America region increased by 2 % compared to the previous year 
(at local currency: 12 %).

Sales in emerging markets exceeded the previous year’s figures 
at local currency by 11 %. As in the previous year, the share of 
this group of countries in total sales was 48 % in the 2013 fiscal 
year.

Scent & Care Sales
In the 2013 fiscal year, the Scent & Care business division gener
ated sales of € 960 million. Sales were therefore up 9 % on 
the previous year’s level. At local currency, this corresponds to 
growth of 13 %.

All business units posted positive business developments in the 
year under review. The strongest growth was seen in the Fra
grances business unit, particularly due to the acquisition of the 
American company Belmay. However, the business units Oral 
Care and Aroma Molecules were not far behind, posting double

digit sales growth in part. The Life Essentials business unit gen
erated good singledigit growth, especially in the EAME region.

Regions: All regions were able to considerably increase their 
sales in 2013. Leading the way was North America, where our 
market share in the fine fragrances, personal care and air 
care segments significantly expanded due to the acquisition of 
the American company Belmay. The emerging markets of Asia, 
Latin America, Eastern Europe, Africa and the Gulf region also 
generated high, doubledigit growth rates. 

In the EAME region, sales at local currency increased by 10 %. 
Both in the developed markets of Western Europe as well as in 
the emerging markets of Eastern Europe, Africa and the Gulf 
 region, we managed to generate high single and even doubledigit 
growth rates. The Fragrances and Life Essentials business units 
posted particularly impressive growth. In the Life Essentials busi
ness unit, we brought multiple new and innovative products to 
the market and received numerous accolades for these over the 
past fiscal year. In the fourth quarter, for example, the multi
functional ingredient Symsave® H took the industry by storm, 
receiving the SEPAWA INNOVATION Award 2013, which was 
presented this year for the first time. SymSave® H unites antiox
idant, skinsoothing and preservationpromoting properties in 
a singular ingredient, which makes it an ideal component for skin 
and hair care formulas. 

SAlES BY REGION

€ million 2012 2013 Change in %
Change in %  

at local currency

EAME 785.4 828.3 5 7

North America 316.8 350.3 11 14

Asia/Pacific 404.5 419.6 4 10

Latin America 228.2 232.2 2 12

total 1,734.9 1,830.4 6 10
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Sales at local currency rose by 19 % in North America. The great
est growth was achieved in the Fragrances business unit, due 
especially to the acquisition of the Belmay Group’s business in 
March 2013. Growth rates for the Oral Care and Aroma Mole
cules business units were also high, reaching double digits in 
North America this past fiscal year. Here, we benefited from 
the additional production capacities for menthol added in the pre
vious year.

In the Asia /Pacific region, sales at local currency increased by 
14 %. All business units were able to considerably increase their 
sales from the previous year. The greatest growth impulses were 
seen in China, India, Indonesia and Japan. 

Sales in Latin America increased by 11 % at local currency. 
The Fragrances business unit achieved the greatest growth. Here, 
the acquisition of Belmay’s Brazilian activities from the previ
ous year continued to have a positive impact on performance. Fur
thermore, we were able to generate high levels of growth in 
the Aroma Molecules business unit and the Menthol application 
area.

Business units: The Fragrances business unit, which accounts 
for more than half of the Scent & Care division’s sales, posted dou
bledigit growth in 2013, primarily due to the acquisition of the 
Belmay Group’s business in March 2013. The Belmay Group, head
quartered in Yonkers, New York, was an established and re
nowned manufacturer of fragrance creations, particularly for the 
fine fragrances, cosmetics and air care application areas. Both 
Belmay’s product and customer portfolio optimally supplemented 
the existing activities of the Scent & Care division while simulta
neously strengthening our presence in North America. With this 
acquisition, Symrise has taken another strategically important 
step towards promoting sustainable growth in the fine fragrances, 
personal care and air care segments.

Symrise is one of the first fragrance companies in the industry 
to source CENSOcertified lavandin. In doing so, we secure a key 
natural raw material for fragrance creation while simultane
ously promoting sustainable cultivation methods for resistant la
vandins, as the plants are threatened by an aggressive microor
ganism. With this initiative, we support our longterm strategy for 
the sustainable procurement of key raw materials, such as va
nilla in Madagascar, for which we received the German Sustain
ability Award.

The Life Essentials business unit also generated solid, single
digit growth in 2013. In the Cosmetic Ingredients application 
area, we were once again honored for our development efforts 

over the past several years and also brought new products to 
the market in the fiscal year under review. Some of the highlights 
were:

 Best Ingredient Award in Silver from in-cosmetics 

 Innovation Zone 
SymHairTM Force 1631 strengthens hair with proven effec
tiveness and thus received the silver Innovation Zone Best In
gredient Award. 

 Three BSB Awards 
SymFit® nat 1750 was awarded first place in the “Natural 
Product – Most Innovative Raw Material” category, with its 
proven effectiveness in firming skin.  
Sym3D® took second place in the category “Innovative Raw 
Materials – Cosmetics Actives” for its twofold effects: It gives 
added volume to lips while also combating wrinkles and aging 
of the skin.  
SymBronze® 1659 also achieved second place in the “Innova
tive Raw Materials – Cosmetics Functionals” category. Sym
Bronze® 1659 is a biological selftanning ingredient, operating 
from the inside out and providing a natural tan without sun
shine. It also accelerates the tanning process when sunbathing 
and maintains tanned skin for a longer period of time.

Sales performance in the Aroma Molecules business unit was 
positive in the 2013 fiscal year and achieved doubledigit growth. 
A key growth driver was the Menthol application area, thanks 
in large part to the production capacity expansions performed in 
the previous year.

The Oral Care business unit likewise reported doubledigit 
sales growth. All regions contributed to the result with high sin
gledigit or doubledigit growth rates. 

Flavor & Nutrition Sales
In the 2013 fiscal year, Flavor & Nutrition generated sales of € 870 
million. Compared to the previous year, this corresponds to 
growth of 2 %; at local currency the increase was 6 %. Key growth 
drivers were the emerging markets and our good positioning 
with our strategic customers. All application areas contributed 
to sales growth. 

Regions: Compared to the previous year, Flavor & Nutrition 
 increased its sales considerably in every region in 2013. In the 
emerging markets of Asia, Latin America, Eastern Europe, 
 Africa and the Gulf region, the division achieved growth of 9 % 
at local currency. 



Group ManaGeMent report

– 20 –

Economic Report

In the EAME region, sales at local currency in the 2013 fiscal 
year were 5 % above the previous year. Significant growth was 
achieved in the emerging markets of Eastern Europe, Africa and 
the Gulf region. Sales development in Russia, Egypt, the UK, 
the United Arab Emirates and Turkey was particularly dynamic. 
The Savory and Sweet application areas generated the highest 
growth rates, especially with our strategic customers. In June, 
Symrise began operations at its new powder mixing plant and 
the modern raw materials warehouse connected to it. With the 
new facility, we have merged our production of flavored pow
dered mixtures at our Holzminden site. Now, instead of working 
at various locations, employees here produce flavors for powdered 
compositions used in sweets, soups, instant foods and seasoning 
mixes in a single place. This concentration of production substan
tially increases efficiency, capacity and product diversity. The 
new mixing plant includes a production space of 3,500 square 
meters and a warehouse capacity of 1,000 square meters. All 
processes, from raw material supply to shipping, are now located 
under one roof. 

In November, Symrise received the FIE Excellence Award in the 
sustainability initiative category at the specialist trade fair 
Food Ingredients Europe (FIE) for its sustainable sourcing of va
nilla in Madagascar. We had already won a sustainability award 
in 2012 for our vanilla activities in Madagascar. Since then, we 
have substantially developed our initiative there. We now work 
with over 5,000 farmers and promote the diversification of the lo
cal agriculture (by planting vetiver, for instance). These and 
 other measures serve to improve the overall living conditions of 
the farmers in a sustainable and lasting manner.

We saw encouraging sales developments in the North America 
region in the 2013 fiscal year. Sales increased by 6 % at local 
 currency compared to the previous year. The main drivers of 
growth were the Savory and Beverages application areas. Here, 
we realized a series of new orders with our strategically impor
tant customers. In the Sweet application area, we once again 
posted an important success in the vanilla segment. We launched 
a new food science research team at our site in Teter boro during 
the period under review. The team uses results from fundamental 
research to support the development of marketready products 
while also acting as an interface between the flavor development 
and application technology segments.

In the Asia /Pacific region, sales at local currency increased in 
the past fiscal year by 7 %. The division achieved solid growth 
rates in China, Indonesia, India, Thailand and Japan in particular. 
The application areas Savory and Sweet managed to notably 
 expand their business and achieve high singledigit growth. The 
Consumer Health application area increased sales considerably 
and achieved high doubledigit growth rates. In August, we suc
cessfully launched our discover chicken® initiative in Asia. As 
part of this, the Symrise flavor experts in the Business Unit Sa
vory carried out extensive research in a variety of regional 
Asian cuisines and preparation methods in order to be able to re
flect Asia’s culinary diversity in a palette of new flavors.

In the Latin America region, Flavor & Nutrition increased sales at 
local currency by 15 % and therefore achieved the best growth 
in the division. Venezuela, Brazil and Argentina contributed in 
particular to this result with strong sales performances. The 
positive business development in these countries was driven by 
strong growth with our strategic global and local customers. 
All application areas achieved high growth rates, with the Savory 
application area leading the way with a doubledigit increase in 
sales. Flavor & Nutrition employees from all regions and functions 
met at our Brazilian site in Granja Viana to discuss the strate
gic development of our NATURALLY CITRUS!® brand in Latin 
America. The multiday event resulted in important impulses 
and ideas for the citrus strategy in Latin America, which will be 
 further developed and implemented in the coming months.

Symrise Establishes Umbrella Brand think mint® for 

Fresh Taste and Cooling Care

Mint is regarded as a symbol of purity and fresh breath, while 
also generating cooling effects – in short, mint affects all senses. 
Mint gives sweets, chewing gum and oral care products their 
characteristically fresh notes. Consumers especially appreciate 
the interplay of cooling and freshening effects. In order to focus 
the global team’s knowhow in this area across multiple depart
ments, Symrise has pooled its expertise under the think mint® 
umbrella brand. The strategic platform bundles knowledge and 
application knowhow gained from around the world over the 
course of four decades. Our own source of raw materials also en
sures reliable quality at any time of the year. With think mint®, 
we combine our knowledge of oral care and sweets, creating real 
added value with new mint compositions and combinations. 
This allows our customers to position themselves with unique 
products on the market.
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Nature’s Best: Enhanced Vitality with Actiplants® Cherry 

Purevital

We launched our highly purified plant extract Actiplants® 
 Cherry Purevital in the second quarter. It is particularly well 
suited for nutritional supplements aimed at promoting regen
eration  after physical activity. The first cherry extract to come 
with a standardized anthocyanin content of at least 16 %, it has 
the highest levels of anthocyanins and polyphenols among com
parable products on the market. Thanks to the patentpending 
and gentle SymTrap™ procedure, this extract also contains an 
especially high level of secondary plant compounds. 

Development of Important Items in the Income Statement
In 2013, the cost of sales rose by € 25 million, or 2 %, to € 1,060 
million (2012: € 1,034 million). The disproportionately low rise in 
costs in view of the ratio to sales can be mainly attributed to a 
lower raw material cost ratio and lower levels of depreciation and 
amortization. Gross profit increased by 10 % and amounted to 
€ 771 million (2012: € 701 million). The gross margin was 42.1 %, 
1.7 percentage points higher than in the previous year (40.4 %). 
Selling and marketing expenses were up by 8 % compared to the 
previous year, amounting to € 290 million (2012: € 267 million). 
This corresponds to 15.8 % of Group sales (2012: 15.4 %). R & D ex-

penses increased by 12 % to € 127 million (2012: € 114 million). 

The R & D rate came in slightly above the previous year’s level at 
6.9 % (2012: 6.6 %). Administration expenses increased by the 
below  average rate of 5 % to € 85 million (previous year: € 81 mil
lion). Administration expenses as a share of Group sales im
proved again from 4.7 % in 2012 to 4.6 % in the reporting year.

Earnings Situation
Group: Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization on property, plant and equipment and intangible 

assets (EBITDA) rose in 2013 by 10 % to € 373 million (2012: 
€ 339 million). Compared to the previous year, the improved gross 
margin in particular had a positive effect on earnings. The 
 EBITDA margin amounted to 20.4 % in 2013 compared to 19.5 % 
in the previous year.

Scent & Care: For the 2013 fiscal year as a whole, Scent & Care 
achieved EBITDA of € 194.5 million. It was thus 21 % higher than 
in the previous year. The EBITDA margin therefore amounted 
to 20.3 %, compared to 18.2 % in 2012. 

Flavor & Nutrition: EBITDA in the Flavor & Nutrition division 
in 2013 was slightly higher than the previous year’s level (2012: 
€ 178 million), reaching € 179 million. The EBITDA margin 
amounted to 20.5 %, compared to 20.9 % in the previous year.

INCOME STATEMENT IN SuMMARY

€ million 2012 2013 Change in %

Sales 1,734.9 1,830.4 6

Cost of sales – 1,034.4 – 1,059.5 2

Gross profit 700.6 770.8 10

Gross margin in % 40.4 42.1  

Other operating income 15.7 16.1 2

Selling and marketing expenses – 267.3 – 290.0 8

Research and development expenses – 113.8 – 127.0 12

Administration expenses – 80.8 – 85.0 5

Other operating expenses – 1.8 – 1.8 – 1

income from operations/eBit 252.6 283.1 12

OVERVIEW OF EARNINGS

€ million 2012 2013 Change in %
Change in %  

at local currency

eBitda 338.9 373.1 10.1 12.8

EBITDA margin in % 19.5 20.4   

eBit 252.6 283.1 12.1 14.8

EBIT margin in % 14.6 15.5   
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Financial result: The financial result in 2013 of € –37.3 million 
represents an improvement of € 2.8 million compared to 2012. 
The main factor here was a low interest expense for pension obli
gations (€ –3.0 million). The interest result improved by € 3.5 
million, from € –37.3 million to € –33.8 million. Compared to the 
previous year, there were no significant changes to the financ
ing structure. A loan from the European Investment Bank (EIB) 
was the only item added to the existing financial instruments 
and its interest expenses flowed into the interest  result for ten 
months. On the other hand, the promissory note loan amounting 
to € 27.5 million was repaid in April 2013.

Taxes: In the 2013 fiscal year, tax expenses amounted to € 73.5 
million (2012: € 55.0 million). The tax rate for the reporting year 
was thus higher than that of the previous year (25.9 %) at 29.9 %. 
An adequate provision for risk was made, as in previous years. 

Net income and earnings per share: The net income in 2013 
 totaled € 172 million, € 15 million, or 9 %, higher than in the pre
vious year (2012: € 157 million). Earnings per share therefore 
improved by € 0.13 to € 1.46 (2012: € 1.33) while the number of 
shares remained unchanged.

Dividend proposal for 2013: The Executive Board and Supervi
sory Board of Symrise AG will propose the distribution of a div
idend of € 0.70 per share for the 2013 fiscal year at the Annual 
General Meeting on May 14, 2014. Symrise views the dividend 
payment as being part of its corporate responsibility to continual
ly achieve high yields for its shareholders and to enable share
holders to participate in the company’s success by means of an 
appropriate dividend. 

finanCial position

Financial Management
Main features and objectives: The Symrise Group’s financial 
management pursues the aim of guaranteeing that the compa
ny’s financial needs are covered at all times, of optimizing the 
financial structure and of limiting financial risks insofar as 
 possible. Consistent, central management and the continuous 
monitoring of financial needs support these objectives.

In accordance with the Treasury department’s guidelines, the 
 financing of the Symrise Group is managed centrally. The finan
cial needs of Group subsidiaries are ensured by means of inter
nal Group financing within the framework of a cash pool, among 
other things. The surplus liquidity of individual European Group 
units is put into a central account, so that liquidity deficits of oth
er Group units can be offset without external financing and in

ternal financial capital can be used efficiently. If external credit 
lines are needed, they are safeguarded by guarantees from Sym
rise AG. The Group’s financial liabilities are unsecured and con
nected to credit agreements (covenants) that are reviewed every 
quarter. The Group maintains good business relationships with 
its consortium banks and thus avoids becoming too dependent on 
individual institutes.

The Symrise Group safeguards against risks resulting from 
 variable interest on financial liabilities by means of interest rate 
hedges, if need be. Here, the principle applies that interest de
rivatives can only be concluded on the basis of underlying trans
actions. 

Symrise does business in different currencies and is thus ex
posed to currency risks. Exchange rate risks occur when products 
are sold in different currency zones than the ones in which the 
raw materials and production costs accrue. Within the framework 
of its global strategy, Symrise manufactures a large proportion 
of its products in the currency zones in which they are sold in or
der to achieve a natural hedge against exchange rate fluctua
tions. In addition, Symrise has implemented a risk management 
system, which, based on cash flow planning, identifies open 
 currency positions. These are hedged against fluctuations on a 
casebycase basis.

With an equity ratio of 43 % as of December 31, 2013, Symrise 
has a solid foundation for driving future business development 
forward in a sustained manner.

Financing structure: The Symrise Group covers its financial 
needs from its strong cash flow from operating activities and via 
longterm financing. These continue to consist of the follow
ing elements: publicly listed bond, US private placement and a re
volving credit facility as well as a KfW loan from the KfW’s 
 en ergy efficiency program. Additionally, the Group signed a loan 
agreement with the European Investment Bank in the first 
 quarter of 2013 that will provide earmarked funds for research 
purposes. This loan has already been paid out in part, with the 
 remaining funds available for use if needed until March 8, 2014. 

Due to the strong cash flow from operating activities, Symrise 
managed to refrain from taking on any net debt, despite the fi
nancing of its acquisition of Belmay. 

Symrise fulfilled all of the contractual obligations resulting from 
loans (covenants) in the 2013 fiscal year.
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In addition to the credit line mentioned (revolving credit facility 
totaling € 300 million), bilateral credit lines with the Commerz
bank AG for € 12.5 million and the Deutsche Bank AG in Singa
pore for USD 5.0 million exist and are intended to cover short
term payment requirements. The interest rates agreed on are at 
the accepted market rate.

In addition, the pension provisions are used for financing.

Cash Flow and Liquidity Analysis

OVERVIEW OF CASh FlOW

€ million 2012 2013

Cash flow from operating activities 219.5 274.8

Cash flow from investing activities – 86.4 – 145.8

Cash flow from financing activities – 132.2 – 99.8

Liquid funds (Dec. 31) 117.4 135.3

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to € 274.8 million 
in 2013, € 55.3 million, or more than 25 %, higher than in the pre
vious year (€ 219.5 million). An improved operating result was 
primarily responsible for this outcome. The cash flow rate relative 
to sales thus was about 15 %.

Cash outflow from investing activities increased by € 59.4 
 million to € –145.8 million and primarily consisted of replacement 
and expansion investments as well as the acquisition of the 
American Belmay Group and shares in the Swedish company 
Probi AB.

The cash outflow from financing activities totaled € –99.8 
 million, below the previous year’s level. It primarily comprises 
the dividends paid out to shareholders in 2013 amounting to 
€ 76.8 million and net interest payments to financial institutes 
totaling € 22.3 million (previous year: € 20.4 million). All pay
ment obligations were fulfilled in the fiscal year. There were no 
shortfalls in liquidity during the year nor are any expected in 
the foreseeable future. The company has sufficient credit lines 
available, e.g. in the form of a revolving credit facility totaling 
€ 300 million that will remain available until November 2015. 
Only 10 % of this facility has been utilized thus far.

Investments and Acquisitions
The Symrise Group invested € 143 million in intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment in the 2013 fiscal year, after 
spending € 70 million in the previous year. 

Around € 81 million was spent on intangible assets (2012: € 19 
million). This mainly consisted of the acquisition of the Ameri
can company Belmay and investments in software, primarily SAP 
applications, as well as patents and material registrations ac
cording to the European chemicals directive. Investments in prop
erty, plant and equipment amounted to € 62 million (previous 
year: € 52 million). These mainly concerned investments in capac
ity expansions as well as the completion of a new research 
 building at the Holzminden site. In March 2013, we assumed con
trol of the activities of the American Belmay Group headquar
tered in Yonkers, New York. Belmay was an established and re
nowned manufacturer of fragrance creations, particularly for 
the fine fragrances, cosmetics and air care application areas. Both 
Belmay’s product and customer portfolio optimally supplement
ed the existing activities of the Scent & Care division while simul
taneously strengthening our presence in North America.

The most significant investment plan in the Scent & Care division 
is the expansion of chemical production in the Life Essentials 
business unit amounting to € 15 million. In the Flavor & Nutrition 
division, the capacity expansion of the extraction and distilla
tion facilities represents the largest project at € 9 million. Both 
are funded through operating cash flow.

net assets

Select Balance Sheet Items
Total assets as of December 31, 2013, increased compared to the 
previous year by € 60 million to € 2,210 million (December 31, 
2012: € 2,150 million1). This was mainly due to a growthrelated 
increase in inventories and a rise in trade receivables towards 
the end of the year.

Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment amounted 
to € 1,252 million as of the reporting date for 2013 and there
fore remained nearly on par with the previous year (December 31, 
2012: € 1,243 million). The item accounts for 57 % of our assets. 
Intangible assets include goodwill acquired through business 
mergers amounting to € 491 million (December 31, 2012: € 491 
million), as well as formulas, production knowhow, trademarks, 
software, patents and other rights amounting to € 321 million 
(December 31, 2012: € 314 million). Property, plant and equipment 
at the end of 2013 amounted to € 440 million (previous year’s 
 reporting date: € 438 million). In the reporting date comparison 
2012/2013, inventories rose by € 21 million, or 6 %, to € 369 
 million (December 31, 2012: € 348 million). The increase in in
ventories was primarily driven by the substantial rise in sales, 

1  The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 
Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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which also led to higher trade receivables as of the reporting 
date. The ratio of working capital to sales decreased by one 
 percentage point to 30 %. The Symrise Group’s liquidity increased 
over the course of the year by € 18 million to € 135 million as 
of December 31. The item other current assets and receivables 
closed 2013 at the same level as in the previous year (€ 36 mil
lion). Non-current financial assets mainly contain balances on 
a fiduciary account in connection with the processing of the 
 acquisition performed in 2013 in addition to holdings and non
current financial assets. Due to exceeding the 20 % threshold 
in  February 2013, our stake in the Swedish company Probi AB 
was reclassified from the item noncurrent financial assets to 
 investments in associates.

In terms of equity and liability, current liabilities decreased by 
€ 37 million, or 10 %, to € 328 million (December 31, 2012: € 365 

million) primarily due to reduced utilization of a revolving cred
it facility. Non-current liabilities rose by € 25 million. This in
cludes non-current borrowings, which amounted to € 507 mil
lion at the end of 2013, higher than in the previous year (€ 450 
million). In contrast, provisions for pensions and similar obli-

gations decreased by 10 % to € 332 million (December 31, 2012: 
€ 367 million1). This decrease was due to the higher interest 
rates for discounting pension obligations compared to the previ
ous year. 

The Symrise Group’s equity climbed by 8 % to € 951 million as 
of December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012: € 879 million1). A divi
dend of € 77 million was paid out in the 2013 fiscal year for the 
year 2012. As of the 2013 reporting date, the equity ratio was 43 % 
(December 31, 2012: 41 %1).

OVERVIEW OF ThE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAl POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013, in € million  
(Change compared to previous year’s reporting date 1, in %)

  2.500

  2.000

  1.500

  1.000

  500

  0

assets equitY and liaBilities

  Cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits
  Trade receivables
  Inventories
  Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
  Other assets

  Current liabilities
  Non-current loans
   Pension provisions and similar obligations
  Other non-current liabilities
  Deferred tax liabilities
  Equity

2,210 2,210

328 (–10 %)
135 (15 %)

507 (13 %)

322 (6 %)

332 (-9 %)

369 (6 %)

24 (27 %)

1,252 (1 %)

68 (–4 %)

951 (8 %)

133 (-5 %)

1) The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Net Debt

€ million 2012 2013

Net debt (incl. pension provisions and 
similar obligations) (Dec. 31) 1 808.0 744.8

EBITDA 338.9 373.1

Net debt (incl. pension provisions and 
similar obligations)/EBITDA (Dec. 31) 1 2.4 2.0

1)  The previous year’s figures have been adjusted as a result of changes to accounting policies 
(see note 2.2).

Net debt (including provisions for pensions and similar obliga
tions) decreased to € 744.8 million as of the 2013 reporting date, 
primarily due to higher cash balances and lower pension provi
sions. The ratio of net debt (including pension provisions and sim
ilar obligations) to EBITDA was 2.0 as of the reporting date 
 December 31, 2013, and thus remains within the targeted corri
dor of 2.0 to 2.5.

One of Symrise’s fundamental principles is to maintain a strong 
capital base in order to retain the confidence of customers, in
vestors and creditors and to be able to drive the future business 
development forward in a sustained manner. We focus on a capi
tal structure that allows us to cover our future potential financing 
needs at reasonable conditions by way of the capital markets. 
This provides us with a guaranteed high level of independence, 
security and financial flexibility. 

In 2013, our financing structure changed thanks to the full repay
ment of the promissory note loan amounting to € 27.5 million 
and reducing the balance of the revolving credit facility by € 28 
million. This resulted in a reduction in current financial liabili
ties. On the other hand, noncurrent funds totaling USD 90 mil
lion were taken out with the European Investment Bank.

Significant obligations not reflected on the balance sheet exist 
in the form of obligations for the purchase of goods amounting to 
€ 138.3 million (2012: € 76.4 million) and obligations regarding 
the purchase of property, plant and equipment amounting to € 16.0 
million (2012: € 6.8 million). Symrise AG signed a service con
tract, effective February 1, 2006, for outsourcing internal IT with 
a term of ten years with Atos Origin GmbH. The remaining total 
obligations towards Atos amount to € 33.8 million (2012: € 51.2 
million).

sustainaBilit Y
For Symrise, business success and responsibility for the environ
ment, employees and society are inextricably linked. Symrise’s 
corporate strategy therefore incorporates aspects of sustainabili
ty at all levels in order to enhance the company’s value over the 
long term and minimize risks. Symrise’s entrepreneurial activi
ty involves the interests of many different stakeholder groups. 
Through an active dialogue with these stakeholders, we discuss 
their expectations and requirements and involve them at every 
stage of value creation in order to develop successful solutions. 
This allows us to create value for all of our stakeholders.

The Symrise set of values forms the foundation of how we think 
and act and also determines our corporate culture. “Because we 
care” is the guiding principle of Symrise’s commitment to a ho
listic understanding of its entrepreneurial activity. We view sus
tainability as an integral part of our business model and turn it 
into a clear competitive advantage. Our goal is a completely inte
grated corporate strategy. The integration of economic, ecolog
ical and social goals and strategies is making good progress at 
Symrise, but it is not yet completely finished. 

The successive, strategic integration of sustainability into our 
core processes is managed by a global, crossbusiness team – the 

CAPITAl STRuCTuRE

€ million

2012 2013

 
in % of balance  

sheet total  
in % of balance  

sheet total Change in %

Equity 879.3 41 951.1 43 8

 Current liabilities 364.8 17 328.1 15 – 10

 Non-current liabilities 906.1 42 931.3 42 3

Liabilities 1,270.9 59 1,259.4 57 – 1

Balance sheet total 2,150.2 100 2,210.4 100 3
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Symrise Sustainability Board. It consists of senior management 
representatives and ensures both the development and imple
mentation of issues relevant for sustainability across the entire 
extended value chain as well as the consideration of the inter
ests of key stakeholders. Implementation of the sustainability tar
gets set by the Sustainability Board lies with the business di
visions. For this reason, the Executive Board and Sustainability 
Board appointed global ambassadors to be responsible for the 
 coordination of sustainability efforts in the Flavor & Nutrition and 
Scent & Care divisions. Together with representatives from the 
Corporate Compliance and Corporate Communications depart
ments, they manage the Group’s sustainability strategy, while 
direct responsibility for the strategy lies with the Chief Executive 
Officer of Symrise AG. 

The sustainability reporting conforms to the requirements of 
the application level A of the Global Reporting Initiative™ (GRI) 
and fulfills the G3 guidelines. Symrise once again received ex
ternal recognition of its sustainability efforts in 2013, receiving 
a “Green Company” certification from DQS, a leading auditor 
of corporate processes. With this certification, DQS sees Symrise 
as a company that minimizes its impact on the environment 
with regard to its products, services and environmental standards 
in a way that differentiates it from competitors. Independent 
DQS auditors closely examined the company’s internal processes. 
The result: Production, sales, research and development all 
 demonstrated environmentally conscious operations. In this way, 
Symrise fulfills the international requirements of the Global 
Conformance Program for environmental management. In Novem
ber 2013, Symrise also received the FIE Excellence Award in 
the category “Sustainability Initiative of the Year.” It is awarded 
as part of Food Ingredients Europe (FIE), the industry’s largest 
trade fair in Europe. The sustainable vanilla commitment in Mad
agascar was recognized.

Opportunities and Risk Report
prinCiples
The Symrise Group’s business activities offer a range of oppor
tunities and, at the same time, are continually exposed to a num
ber of risks. Opportunities relate to future developments or 
events that could lead to business performance exceeding the 
company’s set forecasts or goals. Accordingly, risks relate to 
 future developments or events that could lead to business perfor
mance that does not meet the company’s forecasts or goals. 
 Seizing opportunities as well as recognizing and avoiding risks 
are of key importance for the development of the company. In 
taking advantage of opportunities, it is important that an accept

able risk  profile is maintained. By means of appropriate guide
lines, we ensure that risk assessments are taken into account in 
the Executive Board’s decisionmaking processes from the very 
beginning. Symrise has guidelines that regulate the various risk 
management processes and provide employees with a foun
dation for dealing with risks. Every six months, all Group com
panies are instructed to verify the risks identified in their risk 
 reporting and to make assessments and adjustments using the 
stipulated  countermeasures. The effectiveness of implemented 
measures is checked as part of internal corporate audits. To 
 minimize the  financial effects of remaining risks, we acquire 
 insurance if this is deemed economically sensible.

opportunities ManaGeMent
The Symrise corporate culture attaches importance to entrepre
neurial thinking and acting. We value a high degree of responsi
bility in our employees. Therefore, in addition to the Executive 
Board, we encourage all Symrise employees, regardless of their 
area and scope of responsibility, to continuously seek and take 
advantage of opportunities. Group companies are urged to iden
tify opportunities on an operative level which, for example, 
arise within the framework of an operational activity or due to 
improved market conditions, and to realize these opportunities 
with the aim of achieving results that go beyond the scope of plan
ning. Strategic opportunities are recorded in the business divi
sions and in the Corporate Center. They are evaluated and mea
sures are taken to exploit them. Symrise’s Executive Board is 
also responsible for discussing strategic opportunities on a regu
lar basis.

opportunit Y report
Opportunities for Symrise arise from various factors. Our 
 employees submit suggestions within the scope of ideas manage
ment, which includes TPM (Total Productive Maintenance), en
abling work processes and procedures to be improved. Operative 
opportunities can also arise from our employees’ further train
ing measures. We see the opportunity to generate additional or
ders through knowhow transfer between the two divisions. An 
example of this is a Groupwide project database in which all ac
tivities are documented and tracked. As a result, points of con
tact can be created easily and advantages from synergies clearly 
recognized.

The consolidation of Integrated Management System’s organiza
tional units with Corporate Audit also helps to identify optimi
zation potential and thereby leads to the continuous improvement 
of our processes.
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The risk management system that was established across the 
Symrise Group a few years ago is currently being expanded into 
a risk and opportunities management system. This will result 
in the opportunities already being observed and integrated into 
strategic actions in the various segments of the Group being 
 organizationally consolidated with the company’s risks. The ex
ploitation of and reporting on opportunities benefits the net
work of officers within the Group that have already been report
ing the risks in their segments for years as part of the risk man
agement system.

Developments in the company’s business environment that 
are particularly attributable to social and economic changes open 
up numerous strategic opportunities. In developed nations, 
there is a trend toward healthier and more conscious nutrition, 
due, among other things, to the increasing age of society. Peo
ple’s personal care requirements are also constantly growing. As 
a basic principle, a company has to continually provide its cus
tomers with innovative products in order to be competitive. Ac
cordingly, Symrise has positioned itself with new business 
units and application areas, such as Life Essentials and Consumer 
Health. Intensive market research and comprehensive R & D 
 activities are the basis for our own developments which we can 
offer to our customers, enabling them to improve their products 
or introduce new products. In emerging and developing countries, 
there is a mounting demand for products containing Symrise 
 flavorings and fragrances. To take advantage of these opportu
nities, we are continuously expanding our activities in these 
countries.

Similar to earnings, the cost side of the Symrise Group’s sub
sidiaries also shows potential opportunities via savings that the 
companies already recognize but have yet to materialize in the 
Group’s budgets and plans. Further cost advantages could arise 
from the consolidation of markets and products. Additionally, 
the further optimization of manufacturing, storage and delivery 
methods could also result in cost savings.

In individual cases where the respective risks are more than 
 fully compensated for, some established measures for controlling 
risk can also lead to possible earnings not currently provided 
for in the budget due to commercial prudence. Even measures 
against the risk of losing business can contain opportunities. 
The business plans for the various Symrise Group companies re
flect the possibility of losing business with key customers. The 
business plans also contain approaches for compensating for such 

losses. If the losses do not occur, the approach is an opportu
nity since business beyond the planned volumes could arise from 
these methods.

Strategic opportunities also arise from acquisitions. Through 
 collaboration with Probi AB, attractive new application areas 
could be developed. To strategically broaden our expertise, 
we are continually looking for suitable target companies. In ad
dition, we see opportunities arising from cooperative ventures 
with universities and companies. Bundling expertise can speed 
up product development and generate innovative products.

risk ManaGeMent
The risk management system at Symrise is based on the frame
work of generally recognized standards (ISO 31000) and ex
tends across all Group companies and business units. The coor
dination of risk assessment occurs at the level of the Corporate 
Center within the Corporate Compliance department. Risk reports 
are drawn up for the individual companies and are then com
piled into a current overview of the risk situation at the Group 
level. This Group risk report is passed on to the Executive 
Board and Supervisory Board twice a year. There, potential risks 
are identified and classified according to their effect on profits 
(net method) as well as the probability of their occurrence. A me
dium risk is present if it has a probability of occurrence between 
25 to 49 % and an effect on profits that falls below the EBITDA 
margin, as based on sales of 10 to 20 % of the affected company. 
In addition, the identified risks are classified according the type 
of risk as well as the business unit and business activity. The 
risk types are divided into sales and market risks, everyday busi
ness risks and financial risks.

Under the category of sales and market risks, we group risks 
 relating to product portfolio expectations, the sourcing situation 
and political stability.

Purchasing risks as well as, for example, risks connected with 
investments, production, innovation and IT are classified under 
everyday business risks. Environmental risks are also included 
here.

Financial risks include currency risks, value adjustments for in
tangible assets and similar risks.

In addition, appropriate control mechanisms and the employees 
responsible for them are listed. As a result, the risk report also 
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forms the basis for managing risks as well as for examination by 
the Group’s Corporate Audit. Additionally, the risk assessment 
is compared with the company’s strategy and the goals it derived 
from that strategy. The Executive Board informs the Supervi
sory Board or the audit committee of the Supervisory Board and 
decides on additional measures for handling the risks. Report
ing thresholds for risks are oriented toward the financial effects 
on Group companies as well as the probability of the risk occur
ring. If a risk exceeds a certain reporting threshold, the Execu
tive Board is informed immediately. These are risks that appear 
suddenly and have a medium to high probability of negatively 
impacting a Group company’s earnings by at least € 5 million 
or its annual sales by at least 20 %. Similarly, a “hazard alert” is 
declared if a legal risk or compliance risk is discovered that was 
not previously contained in the regular risk reports submitted to 
Symrise AG’s Executive Board.

risk report
Business environment and industry risks (loW 

risks)

Increasingly fierce competition can be observed in our industry. 
In the consumer goods industry, we believe that a further consol
idation of the companies that buy Symrise products is possible. 
As a result, there is the risk that Symrise could lose customers 
and thus market shares. We react to this with increased mar
keting of our innovations and products in the Life Essentials and 
Consumer Health business units, which have added benefits 
compared to competitors’ products. Risks resulting from consoli
dations at the level of our suppliers exist inasmuch as the loss 
of a supplier’s business can have a negative impact on our rela
tions with customers.

Symrise is exposed to political risks in the form of trade embar
goes in certain countries from which we obtain our raw materi
als and to which we export our products. We can partially com
pensate for obstacles to trade by turning to other regions. In 
 certain countries, we continually observe the possible risk of po
litically related suspension of payment due to a debt morato
rium. A dialogue with banks and customers serves to limit this 
risk. In export countries, we counter risks arising for politi
cal reasons through corresponding finance control on the part 
of Symrise, so that a loss of receivables can be avoided. We ob
serve political unrest in countries and regions in which Symrise 
operates very closely, particularly to protect the safety of our 
staff. Nevertheless, a temporary loss of production and thus sales 
can occur in unfavorable cases.

Corporate strategiC risks (loW to medium risks)

As with every company, Symrise’s corporate strategy is inherent
ly connected with risks. Negative consequences for the compa
ny’s development can result from inaccurate assessments regard
ing growth, profitability, supply security of raw materials and 
the product portfolio. The breakdown of raw material deliveries, 
particularly the loss of exclusive suppliers or a reduction of raw 
material supplies stemming from natural catastrophes, represent 
a high risk. In the case of a lack of ability to market new prod
ucts, the development expenditure is not offset by adequate in
come. Intensive market research is carried out to guarantee that 
our products remain marketable. Acquisitions made by Symrise 
are also liable to risks. In the course of the integration process, 
there is the threat of business interruptions or a loss of knowledge 
and resources due to employees leaving the company. We coun
ter these risks by means of a clearly defined integration process.

The company’s strategic risks also include possible removal from 
one of our customer’s core lists and the danger of not being put 
on such a list contrary to our expectations. We counter this risk 
by maintaining close contact with our customers. Further cen
tral factors for remaining or being included on core lists are pric
ing, delivery reliability and product quality. In these areas, we 
continually strive to be among the best companies in the industry.

eConomiC performanCe risks (medium risks 

overall)

Product risks: Symrise’s fragrances and flavorings are normally 
processed in products that end customers  consume as food or 
apply to their skin. Therefore, there is a fundamental risk that our 
products can have a negative effect on consumers’ health. To 
minimize this risk, our products are continually tested as part of 
our quality management on the basis of scientific research as 
well as on international standards and internal safety regulations.

Changes in a customer’s technology can result in a situation 
where individual products can no longer be offered to this cus
tomer. Symrise has a diversified customer portfolio to reduce 
this risk. Patent violations by competitors also pose a risk to our 
products. We counter this by means of adequate patent manage
ment.
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Procurement risks: The purchase of raw materials, intermedi
ate products, manufacturing plants and services is continuously 
exposed to the risk of unplanned price development, fluctuating 
quality or insufficient availability. While purchase prices can rise, 
particularly due to more expensive raw materials or unfavorable 
exchange rates, the availability of goods and services can also par
tially depend on legal regulations. Our main suppliers are tied 
to longterm basic agreements. Procurement alternatives are also 
developed, in part together with important suppliers, to mini
mize the risk of not meeting the latest technological, market or 
legal requirements. Furthermore, Symrise continually examines 
the creditworthiness of its suppliers. All suppliers are informed 
about the Symrise Code of Conduct. Symrise expects that the 
high ethical requirements it has imposed upon itself, which are 
aimed at increasing business success while taking available re
sources, employees and society into account, will be respected.

We regularly assess risks regarding product safety, health, occu
pational safety and the environment as well as the integrity of 
our main suppliers based on internationally recognized stan
dards. The number of suppliers that are evaluated as part of this 
risk profile is continually being expanded. If a high risk is iden
tified, supplier audits are performed and the business relationship 
is terminated if necessary.

Operating risks: Technical disturbances can interrupt the 
Group’s continuous operations and lead to a loss of income and 
corresponding return. The causes can lie in the safety of equip
ment and processes, in fire safety, in the quality and safety of 
materials and in their correct classification. In addition, in
creasing demands and new countryspecific labor regulations 
and environmental regulations as well as natural catastro
phes can lead to interruptions in operations. We reduce such 
risks through maintenance, investments, insurances and oc
cupational health and safety measures as well as through corre
sponding guidelines, instructions and training courses. Chang
es in countryspecific environmental regulations can result in 
fines or the temporary closure of production sites. For this 
 reason, we continuously observe regulatory developments in the 
countries in which we operate.

Interruptions in operations can also arise due to errors in the 
course of operations, for example due to foreign bodies that are 
contained in raw materials or that are introduced into interme
diate or end products during processing, as well as due to inci
dents resulting from the usage of work equipment. Symrise 
 minimizes these kinds of risks through appropriate guidelines 

(for example, foreign body policy), procedures (Total Productive 
Maintenance), training courses, emergency plans, alternative pro
duction sites, an exchange of best practices and continuous im
provements to operational processes.

finanCial risks (loW risks overall)

Credit risk: There is the risk of financial loss to Symrise if a cus
tomer or contract partner fails to meet its financial obligations. 
To minimize this risk, the creditworthiness of new customers is 
analyzed. In addition, every year both the creditworthiness and 
the supply conditions of all customers are examined. Apart from 
this method of risk prevention, Symrise introduced an impair
ment procedure for receivables. This allowance consists of an in
dividual depreciation and amortization and a general cost com
ponent. Symrise tries to limit the risk of nonpayment due to bank 
boycott by engaging in continuous dialogue with banks and 
 customers. Symrise manages financial crises in export countries 
with corresponding financial control.

Liquidity risk: The liquidity risk describes the danger that 
Symrise is not in a position to fulfill financial obligations to third 
parties. In the case of a deterioration in business development, 
there is the additional risk of not fulfilling obligations for existing 
credit approvals (covenants). Symrise carries out continuous li
quidity planning in order to recognize liquidity shortfalls early 
on. Parallel to this, the company possesses sufficient credit 
lines to cover payment claims. The company’s de velopment is con
tinuously monitored; corresponding emergency plans to avoid 
 liquidity problems exist. With these plans, we  ensure that we have 
sufficient means to fulfill our payment obligations as they be
come due, even under difficult conditions. We do not currently see 
a refinancing risk.

Interest and currency risks: Currency risks exist in economic 
areas where Symrise sells its products on a foreigncurrency 
 basis (US dollars, for example) but when at least some of these 
products were produced in a different currency area (the euro
zone, for example). Symrise buys many of its raw materials in 
euros. A fluctuation in the value of the US dollar can thus re
sult in corresponding changes to our material prices. Symrise 
counters this risk by negotiating corridors in its contracts, 
 outside of which prices can be adjusted. The remaining currency 
risk was reduced in 2013 through forward contracts. As of the 
reporting date, there are forward contracts with a nominal volume 
of USD 7.5 million (Dec. 31, 2012: USD 9.0 million) for hedging 
€ /USD, forward contracts with a nominal volume of USD 6.0 mil
lion (Dec. 31, 2012: USD 0 million) for hedging USD/JPY as 
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well as forward contracts with a nominal volume of USD 3.1 mil
lion (Dec. 31, 2012: USD 0 million) for hedging USD/INR. In 
 order to avoid fluctuations in income due to changes in valuation, 
the currency transactions were classified as cash flow hedges 
in terms of hedge accounting. These transactions effectively re
duced our currency risk.

Interest risks arise because rising interest rates can increase in
terest expenditure contrary to planning and thus have an ad
verse effect on the Group’s result of operations. Symrise signifi
cantly reduced this risk within the framework of refinancing; 
approximately 89 % of the liabilities were taken up with fixed in
terest rates, utilizing the favorable interest rate environment. 
Due to the repayment of liabilities with variable interest rates, the 
ratio is now 94 %. Symrise counters the remaining risk stem
ming from changing interest rates by means of contracted inter
est hedges.

Tax risk: Symrise is also exposed to tax risk. Due to structural 
changes at our worldwide sites, the local financial authorities 
have in some cases not been able to examine certain income tax
related matters to date and subsequently provide an overall 
 assessment. In some cases, we have made provisions for these 
risks in preparation for additional tax obligations. On the whole, 
we have made all necessary provisions to prepare for known tax 
risks.

personnel risks (loW risks)

Symrise counters personnel risks, which arise fundamentally 
from a fluctuation of personnel in key positions, by means of 
suitable continuing education and programs promoting junior 
employees as well as targeted succession planning.

Personnel risks are generally summed up in employees’ poten
tial to leave the company and the corresponding loss of compe
tence as well as possible noncompliance with company guide
lines, legal requirements or agreements made with employee 
representatives. Compliance with local laws and company guide
lines is ensured via internal audits. Further, Symrise allows 
 external auditors to check compliance with these requirements, 
which are based on international standards, at regular intervals. 
With our initial training for new employees and regular further 
training sessions, we ensure that every employee observes our 
corporate guidelines such as the Code of Conduct. Our career de

velopment opportunities and regular succession planning help 
us avoid the loss of key personnel. Additionally, our close contact 
with employee representatives prevents unnecessary work stop
pages.

legal risks (loW to medium risks)

Currently, Symrise considers legal risks to be relatively minor. 
These risks typically result from the areas of labor law, prod
uct liability, warranty claims and intellectual property. To coun
ter these risks in an appropriate way and early on, we analyze 
potential risks comprehensively by incorporating our legal depart
ment and, if necessary, by engaging external specialists. Despite 
these measures, the outcome of current or future legal proceed
ings cannot be predicted with certainty. At present, only a 
few Group companies are affected by ongoing legal proceedings. 
Therefore, we will only make reference to one type of legal 
 pro cedure here: In the USA, Symrise Inc., along with many other 
companies, has been accused of selling flavors which, when 
 industrially processed, can release harmful vapors if safety in
structions are not adhered to. In none of these proceedings has 
a concrete monetary claim been made so far. We believe that we 
can rebut these legal accusations. We do not expect the results 
of the individual proceedings to have a significant effect on the 
Group’s results.

ComplianCe risks (loW risks)

Symrise has been operating an Integrity Hotline that allows em
ployees to anonymously report employee misconduct to the 
 Compliance Office via telephone or over the internet. All incom
ing reports are evaluated. When necessary, measures are taken 
which, in the most serious cases, can result in a termination of 
employment.

it risks (loW risks)

IT risks basically arise from potential interruptions in the ex
change and processing of information, which can lead to an in
terruption of operational processes. Symrise maintains a num
ber of IT and telecommunications systems whose data and pro
grams are saved and further developed in different storage me
dia. Established protective measures are continuously updated 
and extended to guarantee the security of IT processes and data. 
Despite these protective measures, there is still a remaining risk, 
however, that attacks on our data network from authorities or 
other third parties go unnoticed.
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over all assessMent oF opportunit Y and 
risk situation
In our estimation and in comparison to other sectors of industry 
and companies, Symrise’s business model has an aboveaverage 
potential for opportunities thanks to increasing private con
sumption and wealth across the globe. Our products serve to ful
fill various basic human needs and desires, such as “health” and 
“youthful appearance,” that exist in every part of the world. The 
dynamic growth and high profitability of Symrise show that we 
have successfully taken advantage of these opportunities. We will 
continue to follow this strategy in the future.

Based on the information available to us, we see no risk that could 
pose a threat to the continued existence of the Symrise Group 
and both its business divisions. Since the existing risk reporting 
and the Integrated Management System were supplemented by 
a system of integrated internal controls and effectiveness checks, 
we expect to continue to meet all requirements in the future 
business environment and in view of changing legal regulations.

Essential Features of the Accounting-Related 
Internal Control and Risk Management System

Main Fe atures and oBjeCtives
In accordance with the German Accounting Law Modernization 
Act, capital marketoriented corporations are obliged to describe 
the essential features of their internal accountingrelated control 
and management system in the management report section of the 
annual report.

The accountingrelated internal control system (ICS) guarantees 
proper and reliable financial reporting. By means of the account
ingrelated opportunity and risk management system, mea
sures are taken to identify and evaluate risks in order to ensure 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements in accor
dance with the regulations. The system consists of a documenta
tion of possible risks, the accompanying processes as well as 
the control of these processes, and of the examination of these 
processes and controls. The documentation of opportunities is 
currently in development. To guarantee that the ICS is effective, 
the Groupwide control mechanisms are analyzed at the level of 
the indi vidual companies and the Group. The internal auditing 
department examines how effectively those responsible adhered 
to the planned control mechanisms at both the decentralized and 

centralized level. The efficiency of the ICS can be limited by 
 unforeseen changes in the control environment, criminal activi
ties or human error.

To define existing control processes in the company and to ex
pand them where necessary, Symrise has launched a project 
to support documentation and analysis within the scope of self
assessment measures in the Group’s business units and com
panies. The principles for the accountingrelated internal control 
system and the risk management system define requirements, 
document the process landscape and business processes, and reg
ulate controls to be carried out. Building on a basic training 
course for employees, experiences are regularly exchanged so 
that controls can continually be adapted to changing risks.

orGaniz ation and proCess
The ICS in the Symrise Group comprises both centralized and 
decentralized areas of the company and is geared to ISO 31000 
and based on the COSO II framework. Based on reports issued 
by subsidiaries, an aggregate Group risk report is presented to the 
Executive Board. The Executive Board discusses the efficacy of 
the ICS with the Supervisory Board or with the Auditing Commit
tee of the Supervisory Board, as appropriate.

The ICS is monitored regularly with respect to the uptodate
ness of documentation, the suitability and functionality of con
trols, and any weaknesses in the control system are identified 
and evaluated.

 Accounting-related risk management: Using a riskoriented 
approach, the companies and processes which are essential 
for accounting are first of all identified. On the basis of the re
sults, specific minimum requirements and objectives are de
fined to counteract the risks of financial reporting. The result 
is a centralized risk catalog which relates to financial report
ing and which is simultaneously the basis of work for employ
ees involved in financial reporting.

 Accounting-related internal control system: First, existing 
control activities in the essential companies are documented 
and updated. The controls defined by the accountingrelated 
ICS should guarantee adherence to Group accounting guide
lines, the accounting guidelines of the individual companies 
as well as the procedures and schedules of the individual ac
counting processes. The control mechanisms are regularly 
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 analyzed for their effectiveness in preventing risks through the 
use of random sampling by Corporate Audit, among other 
things. Whenever weaknesses have been documented, effects 
or potential risks for the consolidated financial statements are 
subsequently evaluated. In another step, the individual risks 
are consolidated at the company level. The risks and their cor
responding effects on financial reporting are reported to the 
Executive Board. These reports form the basis for reporting 
visavis the Supervisory Board’s Auditing Committee. If con
trol weaknesses are determined, measures for improvement 
are developed. The efficacy of the new control methods is then 
analyzed in the next examination cycle.

Subsequent Report
No major changes in the economic environment or our industry 
situation occurred after the conclusion of the fiscal year. On Jan
uary 10, Symrise increased its holdings in the Swedish company 
Probi AB from 29.91 % to 30.03 % and therefore holds 2,812,505 
shares. All shareholders of the company, which specializes in 
probiotics, were presented with a mandatory public offer at the 
price of 40.10 Swedish kronor in accordance with the legally re
quired minimum. This is the highest stock price at which Symrise 
has purchased Probi shares in the past six months.

Beyond this, the Symrise Group has no other events of signifi
cance to report.

General Statement on the Company’s 
Economic Situation
The Executive Board regards the Symrise Group’s economic situ
ation as positive. In 2013, we were again able to substantially 
 increase our sales and net income. The company’s financing is 
ensured for the medium term. Its financial stability is sufficient 
in every way. Pending the passing of the resolution at the Annu

al General Meeting, Symrise AG shareholders will participate 
in the company’s success by receiving a higher dividend than in 
the previous year.

Outlook
Future Gener al Conditions
The outlook for international economic development in 2014 and 
2015 is positive. According to the forecast from the DIW Berlin, 
the global economy should improve its growth from 3.0 % in 2013 
to 3.8 % in the current year and 4.1 % in 2015. Risks still exist in 
the form of a possible renewed crisis in the eurozone and in capi
tal market turbulences potentially resulting should the USA 
 assume a less expansionary monetary policy. Private consump
tion will be an essential driver of the international economy in 
2014 and 2015. Symrise’s sales performance should benefit from 
these developments.

The AFF market relevant for Symrise reached a volume of € 17.4 
billion in 2013. Of this amount – according to the current esti
mates by IAL Consultants – the submarket for flavorings and fra
grances accounts for about € 13.4 billion, while – according to 
our own estimates – the submarket for aroma chemicals and cos
metic ingredients accounts for about € 4.0 billion. Our longterm 
estimate is for an annual, average growth rate of about 2 to 3 % for 
the submarkets for flavorings and fragrances. Particularly the 
markets in Latin America and Asia could see aboveaverage per
formance.

For the 2014 fiscal year, we also expect a high degree of volatili
ty for raw material costs, as in the previous year. The fluctua
tions observed in individual markets point to very different de
velopments depending on the raw materials segment. Based on 
estimates for each raw materials segment, Symrise has selected 
different contract periods or spot sourcing in order to optimize 
costs and predictability. This is accompanied by an optimization 
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of the raw materials portfolio. Particularly high volatility is ex
pected in 2014 in the areas of sugar, spices and special crude oil 
derivatives. In addition, the situation with citral and terpene de
rivatives remains tense due to increasing demand in the emerg
ing markets, which results in shortages and therefore rising 
prices. In the areas of citrus and menthols, Symrise’s good posi
tioning with our backward integration is working.

Starting January 1, 2014, for example, the general tariff preferenc
es for certain raw material imports from India will no longer 
 apply, since the threshold values for the import volumes have in 
some cases been considerably exceeded. This will result in a 
substantial increase to the import duties within the European 
Community. This represents a cost factor with corresponding 
 influence on raw material prices.

We anticipate that energy costs will continue to rise in the 2014 
fiscal year. The reasons for this are political developments in the 
countries of the main oil suppliers. Germany in particular will 
see energy costs rise as a result of the increase to the renewable 
energy levy. Symrise is countering this development in Germa
ny by obtaining energy early on from the primary energy sourc
es. At the same time, the focus of projects is on the use of ener
gyefficient equipment and optimization measures at existing fa
cilities.

Future Corpor ate de velopMent
For 2014, Symrise is reaffirming its growth and profitability 
goals. The Group remains confident that it will continue to grow 
at a faster pace than the relevant market for fragrances and 
 flavors. According to our own estimates and corporate data, the 
AFF market is expected to grow by 2 to 3 % worldwide for the 
current year. Both divisions – Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutri
tion –  continue to expect sales growth at local currency to be 
 notably above the market rate despite divergent developments 
in 2013. 

We will continue our strict cost management and keep the focus 
on highmargin business to further increase our earnings. This 
includes initiatives such as consistent price management, portfo
lio optimization and the development of innovative products and 
technologies. Assuming that raw materials prices remain at the 
level of 2013 and exchange rates do not change significantly 
from 2013, we once again anticipate an EBITDA margin of about 
20 % for 2014 in both business divisions.

The ratio of net debt (including provisions for pensions and sim
ilar obligations) to EBITDA is expected to remain within the tar
geted corridor of 2.0 to 2.5 in 2014.

We will continue our attractive dividend policy and give our 
shareholders an appropriate share in the company’s success.

Gener al stateMent on the CoMpanY ’s 
e xpeCted de velopMent
The Executive Board at Symrise AG sees the company as being 
optimally positioned to continue developing in core segments 
and in growth regions. We view the achievement of our set targets 
as confirmation of our proven strategy. These successes motivate 
us for the upcoming year. The three pillars of our strategy remain 
unchanged. They stand for the continued improvement of our 
competitive position and the sustainable expansion of our busi
ness.

 Growth: We strengthen our cooperation with our customers 
around the world and expand our business in the emerging 
markets. 

 Efficiency: We constantly work to improve our processes 
and concentrate on products with a high level of value creation. 
We work costconsciously in every division. 

 Portfolio: We tap into new markets and market segments. To 
achieve this, we continue to expand our expertise in the areas 
of nutrition and care. 

Above all, we want to sustain our organic growth. Where it is 
sensible and creates added value, we will make acquisitions or 
forge strategic alliances to ensure ourselves access to new tech
nologies, new markets and customers and ensure that we can ob
tain scarce raw materials.

Remuneration Report
reMuner ation oF the e xeCutive Board
Pursuant to the Appropriateness of Executive Board Remunera
tion Act (VorstAG) and according to Sec. 1 (3) of the rules of pro
cedure of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG, the full Supervi
sory Board meeting advises and determines the remuneration 
system for the Executive Board and regularly monitors its imple
mentation. It does this upon request of the Personnel Committee. 
The current remuneration system was last approved by a majori
ty of the shareholders at the 2013 Annual General Meeting. It 
fulfills all of the recommendations of the German Corporate Gov
ernance Code in its version from May 13, 2013.

The system and amount of the Executive Board’s remuneration is 
regularly reviewed by the Supervisory Board.
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appropriateness of exeCutive Board remuneration

The appropriateness of the remuneration depends upon the re
sponsibilities and personal achievements of the individual Exec
utive Board member as well as the economic situation and 
 market environment of the company as a whole. The Supervisory 
Board is of the opinion that remuneration for Executive Board 
members should be appropriate and that their set targets should 
be ambitious.

The average remuneration of an Executive Board member, con
sisting of the fixed remuneration, an annual variable component 
and a longterm variable component, corresponds to approxi
mately 23 times the average remuneration of Symrise employees 
in Germany and around 24 times that of Symrise employees 
worldwide.

For the variable remuneration, the goals and criteria for assessing 
target attainment are in general more ambitious for Executive 
Board members than those applied to other managers. For in
stance, the bonus payment is completely voided if less than 
85 % of the set target is achieved (threshold). For managers, this 
threshold is set at 60 %.

In addition, Executive Board members generally have to supply 
their pension from their own wages in the form of deferred com
pensation. An employer topup is not offered to Executive Board 
members.

The remuneration of the members of the Executive Board com
prises a fixed annual salary (fixed remuneration) and fringe ben
efits, an annual variable component, a longterm remuneration 
program (Long Term Incentive Plan /LTIP) and a company pen
sion in the form of deferred compensation.

fixed remuneration and fringe Benefits

All Executive Board members receive their annual fixed re
muneration in equal monthly payments. Fringe benefits include 
nonmonetary benefits, primarily the use of a company car.

annual variaBle remuneration

The annual variable remuneration is comprised of an annual bo
nus that is dependent upon the attainment of certain financial 
targets (EBITDA, EPS) as well as a qualitative corporate goal. The 
annual variable remuneration is limited by a cap and can only 
reach a maximum of 150 % of the individual’s fixed remuneration. 
If the threshold of 85 % for a specific target is not attained, the 
entire variable component for that target is not paid out. In doing 
so, we deviate from the general minimum threshold of 60 % to 
further highlight the importance of performance for Executive 
Board members.

The targets for the annual variable remuneration were set by the 
Supervisory Board at the beginning of the 2013 calendar year. 
The annual variable remuneration for the 2013 calendar year 
will be paid out in the following year (2014) on the basis of the 
approved annual financial statements for 2013.

long term inCentive plan

The longterm remuneration program (Long Term Incentive Plan / 
LTIP) is a variable, cash remuneration based on the longterm 
success of the company and is dependent upon the at tainment of 
the targets subsequently listed over a period of three years.

Regarding the incentive plans for 2011–2013, 2012–2014 and 
2013–2015, performance is measured via a sharebased index com
posed of listed companies in the fragrance and flavor industry 
as well as supplier companies in the food and cosmetics industry. 
The key indicator for measuring performance is the share price 
development plus dividends or other payments. Symrise’s devel
opment compared to the companies in the index is represented 
in the form of a percentile ranking. In order to ensure the best 
possible objectivity, the composition of the index and the deter
mination of the percentile rank is performed by an external con
sulting firm (Obermatt, Zurich). In LTIP 2011–2013, the increase 
of the company’s value is also measured by the remainder of the 
capitalized earnings value above the minimum rate of return on 
invested capital. The latter is measured using the Symrise Value 
Added (SYVA) figure.

For the 2011–2013 LTIP, a bonus will only be paid if Symrise per
forms better than 40 % of the index companies (40th percentile 
rank) or achieves a minimum SYVA of 113. If this threshold is not 
met, the bonus is forgone without replacement or substitution. 
100 % target attainment would correspond to a 53rd percentile 
rank or a SYVA of 141.

For the 2012–2014 and 2013–2015 LTIPs, a bonus will only be 
paid if Symrise performs better than 50 % of the index companies 
(50th percentile rank). If this threshold is not met, the bonus is 
forgone without replacement or substitution. The target is consid
ered fully attained at the 60th percentile rank.

If the Symrise share performs better than all of the companies 
represented in the index, meaning that Symrise has a 100th per
centile rank for each of the three years, this would be reward
ed with a doubling of the 100 % target attainment bonus. In this 
sense, there is a cap of 200 %.

For Dr. Bertram, a Long Term Incentive bonus of € 600,000 
would be awarded for 100 % attainment of targets. The bonuses 
would amount to € 343,000 each for Mr. Daub, Mr. Gliewe and 
Mr. Hirsch.
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For the LTIP programs 2011–2013, 2012–2014 and 2013–2015, 
provisions were formed as of the reporting date amounting to 
€ 934,115 (previous year: € 580,592) (2013 expense: € 353,523) 
for Dr. Bertram, € 558,171 (previous year: € 347,446) (2013 
 expense: € 210,725) for Mr. Daub, € 512,723 (previous year: 
€ 318,222) (2013 expense: € 194,501) for Mr. Gliewe and € 539,146 
(previous year: € 335,213) (2013 expense: € 203,934) for 
Mr. Hirsch. 

The remuneration for the Executive Board members Dr. Heinz
Jürgen Bertram, Hans Holger Gliewe and Bernd Hirsch was 
most recently adjusted by resolution of the Supervisory Board 
on December 7, 2011. There were no changes made to the remu
neration in 2013. Dr. HeinzJürgen Bertram receives a fixed re
muneration of € 600,000 as well as an annual bonus – for 100 % 
target attainment – of € 515,000. For Achim Daub, Hans Holger 
Gliewe and Bernd Hirsch, the fixed remuneration amounts to 
€ 400,000 and the annual bonus – for 100 % target attainment – 
is also set at € 400,000.

The full amounts are presented individually in the overview 
below.

pensions

Companyfinanced pensions are no longer granted by Symrise 
as part of new Executive Board member contracts. However, all 
members of the Executive Board have the possibility of accumu
lating deferred compensation benefits by converting their salaries. 
In 2013, Dr. HeinzJürgen Bertram, Hans Holger Gliewe and 
 Bernd Hirsch made use of this option. There is no employer top
up similar to the regulations applied to employees and manag
ers not covered by wage agreements in connection with this “de
ferred compensation” arrangement.

Due to actuarial computations, there were allocations to pro
visions from converted salaries as well as interest expenses for 
Dr. Bertram amounting to € 41,276 (previous year: € 236,500) 
as well as € 58,427 (previous year: € 109,492) for Mr. Gliewe and 
€ 56,526 (previous year: € 158,822) for Mr. Hirsch in 2013.

An additional pension commitment exists for Dr. HeinzJürgen 
Bertram and Hans Holger Gliewe due to their prior employment 
contracts preceding their appointment to the Executive Board. 
This pension commitment was also offered to all other employees 
of the former Haarmann & Reimer GmbH. For these benefit obli
gations, the addition to the provision for Dr. Bertram amounted to 

€

Fixed components performance-based components

total  
remuneration 

pursuant to  
section 314 (1) 

no. 6a) hGB

Multi-year  
variable remu-

neration with 
long-term 

share-based  
incentives**** totalsalary

supplementary 
payments*

annual  
variable 

 remuneration 
without 

 long-term 
 incentives**

Multi-year  
variable remu-

neration with 
long-term non-

share-based  
incentives***

dr. heinz-jürgen Bertram        

2013 600,000 9,078 520,408 595,989 1,725,475 0 1,725,475

2012 600,000 14,388 516,030 0 1,130,418 692,068 1,822,486

        

achim daub        

2013 400,000 4,621 410,280 365,043 1,179,944 0 1,179,944

2012 400,000 5,046 393,280 0 798,326 527,510 1,325,836

        

hans holger Gliewe        

2013 400,000 10,232 343,800 319,280 1,073,312 0 1,073,312

2012 400,000 9,331 401,120 0 810,451 461,379 1,271,830

        

Bernd hirsch        

2013 400,000 10,062 400,400 345,887 1,156,349 0 1,156,349

2012 400,000 10,050 405,600 0 815,650 395,248 1,210,898

* Supplementary payments include non-monetary benefits, for example from the use of a company car and payments for group insurance, for all Executive Board members.
**  Annual variable remuneration includes bonus provisions for the current year and bonus payments from the previous year to the extent that these differ from the amount of the previous year.
*** Multi-year variable remuneration contains the provisions from Dec. 31, 2013 for the LTIP program 2011–2013.
**** Multi-year variable remuneration contain the payments made in 2013 from the last share-based LTIP program 2010–2012 expiring on Dec. 31, 2012.
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€ –3,711 (previous year: € 145,809) while € –13,210 (previous 
year: € 185,967) was added to the provision for Mr. Gliewe.

The pension provisions made for individual Board members are 
presented in the table below.

Change of Control

The employment contracts that form the basis for all of the cur
rent Executive Board appointments include identical commit
ments for payments in case of an early termination of the Execu
tive Board position resulting from a change of control.

In the case of a change of control and an early recall by the Su
pervisory Board, all Executive Board members are to receive com
pensation for the remaining terms of their contracts with sever
ance equal to at least three years’ pay. The overall limit of pay
ments to be made is set at 150 % of the severance cap for all 
 Executive Board members according to the provisions of the Ger
man Corporate Governance Code of May 13, 2013 – in other 
words a maximum of three year’s remuneration including sup
plementary payments.

Furthermore, all of the Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP) contain 
a special clause for the case of a change of control. If a member 
of the Executive Board is recalled as part of a change of control, 
this Executive Board member would be paid all of the ongoing 
LTIP bonuses not yet due at the level of 100 % target attainment.

early termination and expiration of employment 

ContraCts

For the premature cancellation of the appointment of an Execu
tive Board member, the Executive Board member in question is 
only entitled to continued payment of his or her fixed salary for 
the duration of the employment contract. An entitlement to bonus 
payments for the fiscal year concerned does not exist.

Due to his employment with the company since August 1, 1980, 
Hans Holger Gliewe has the exclusive agreement that, in the case 

of a termination of his Executive Board contract due to reasons 
that he is not responsible for, his previous employment contract 
with the company would be renewed.

A postemployment prohibition of competition clause of twelve 
months was agreed upon with the Executive Board members. 
By way of compensation, the member concerned shall receive 50 % 
of his or her fixed remuneration for these twelve months.

The members of the Executive Board do not receive any special 
remuneration upon expiration of their contracts and do not receive 
any severance pay.

d & o insuranCe

While observing all legal requirements, Symrise AG took out a 
professional indemnity insurance (D & O insurance) for the mem
bers of the Executive Board with an appropriate deductible pur
suant to Sec. 93 (2) sentence 3 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act.

reMuner ation oF the supervisorY Board
remuneration of the supervisory Board

The members of the Supervisory Board will receive an annual 
 remuneration of € 60,000 for the 2013 fiscal year for the first 
time. The chairman of the Supervisory Board receives an ad
ditional annual remuneration of € 60,000. The Vice Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board and the Chairman of the Auditing 
Committee both shall receive an additional annual remunera
tion of € 30,000 respectively.

Furthermore, the members of the Supervisory Board shall receive 
a stipend of € 1,000 for their personal participation in Supervi
sory Board sessions and those of its committees. This is, howev
er, limited to a maximum of € 1,500 per calendar day. Super
visory Board members whose inclusion on the Board comprised 
only part of a fiscal year are to receive onetwelfth of their re
muneration for every commenced month of their service. This also 
applies to members of Supervisory Board committees.

€
allocation of pension provisions  

from pension commitments
of which employer contributions  

via salary conversion
total present value of  

pension provision

Dr. Heinz-Jürgen Bertram 37,565 56,588 1,135,748

 2012 382,309 56,516 1,098,183

Achim Daub 0 0 0

 2012 0 0 0

Hans Holger Gliewe 45,217 51,588 815,995

 2012 295,459 51,516 770,778

Bernd Hirsch 56,526 49,500 323,837

 2012 158,822 49,500 267,311
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Remuneration shall be paid upon the completion of the Annual 
General Meeting, which is formally responsible for discharging 
the members of the Supervisory Board for the respective fiscal 
year for which remuneration is due. 

The company shall reimburse Supervisory Board members of 
reasonable expenses upon presentation of receipts. Valueadded 
tax is to be reimbursed by the company insofar as the members 
of the Supervisory Board are authorized to separately invoice the 
company for valueadded tax and exercise this right. A break
down of the total remuneration for each Supervisory Board mem
ber is shown in the table below.

d & o insuranCe

In conformity with the German Corporate Governance Code, a 
professional indemnity insurance (D & O insurance) with an 
 appropriate deductible was also taken out for the members of the 
Supervisory Board.

Disclosures Required in Accordance 
with Section 315 Paragraph 4 of the German 
Commercial Code (HGB)

 The share capital of Symrise AG remains unchanged at 
€ 118,173,300 and is divided into noparvalue bearer shares 
with a nominal value of € 1. The associated rights and duties 
are set forth in the relevant provisions of the German Stock 
Corporation Act. There are no different types of shares with 
different rights and obligations. Nor do any special rights or 
rights of control exist for any shareholders.

 Sun Life Financial Inc., Toronto, Canada, informed us on be
half of its subsidiaries in December 2013 that its share in 
Symrise AG has exceeded the 10 % threshold at 10.0009 %. 

 The appointment and removal of members of the Executive 
Board is based on Sections 84 and 85 of the Stock Corpora
tion Act. Amendments to the articles of incorporation are based 
on Sections 133 and 179 of the Stock Corporation Act.

 The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of 
the Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital of the 
company until May 17, 2016, by up to € 23 million through 
one or more issuances of new, noparvalue bearer shares 
against contribution in cash and /or in kind. The new shares 
may be underwritten by one or more financial institutions 
 determined by the Executive Board, in order for such shares 
to be offered to the shareholders (indirect subscription right). 
The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent of the 
Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription rights of ex
isting shareholders in the following instances:

a) in the event of a capital increase against contribution in 
kind, if the capital is increased in order to acquire business
es, business units or participating interests in businesses, 
or in order to grant shares to employees of the company or 
its affiliates in compliance with applicable law;

b) for the purpose of issuing a maximum number of 1,000,000 
new shares to employees of the company and affiliated com
panies, within the constraints imposed by law;

€ remuneration stipends
total remuneration as of 

december 31, 2013
total remuneration as of 

december 31, 2012

Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman) 120,000 6,000 126,000 132,006

Regina Hufnagel (Vice Chairwoman from July 1, 2013) 75,000 8,000 83,000 58,100

Dr. Michael Becker 90,000 10,000 100,000 66,100

Harald Feist (from July 1, 2013) 30,000 3,000 33,000 0

Horst-Otto Gerberding 60,000 7,000 67,000 58,100

Dr. Peter Grafoner 60,000 8,000 68,000 60,100

Francesco Grioli 60,000 10,500 70,500 58,600

Karl-Heinz Huchthausen (Vice Chairman until June 30, 2013) 45,000 5,500 50,500 87,900

Christiane Jarke 60,000 7,000 67,000 55,600

Gerd Lösing 60,000 6,000 66,000 51,600

Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer 60,000 5,000 65,000 55,294

Dr. Winfried Steeger (from May 15, 2012) 60,000 10,000 70,000 32,819

Helmut Tacke 60,000 7,000 67,000 51,600

Dr. Hans-Heinrich Gürtler (until May 15, 2012) 0 0 0 21,413

 840,000 93,000 933,000 789,232
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c) insofar as this is necessary in order to grant holders of war
rants and convertible bonds issued by the company or its 
subsidiaries a right to subscribe for new shares to the extent 
that they would be entitled to such a right when exercising 
the warrants or options or when meeting obligations arising 
from the warrants or options;

d) to exclude fractional amounts from the subscription rights;

e) in the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, 
if, at the time of the final determination of the issue price by 
the Executive Board, the issue price of the new shares is 
not significantly lower – within the meaning of Sec. 203 (1) 
and (2) and Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act – than the market price of shares already 
traded on the stock exchange of the same type and with 
the same attributes and the aggregate amount of the new 
shares for which subscription rights are excluded does 
not exceed 10 % of the share capital either at the time this 
authorization comes into force or at the time this authori
zation is exercised. This restriction is to include shares which 
were or will be sold or issued without subscription rights 
during the period of validity of this authorization, up to the 
time of its exercise, by reason of other authorizations in di
rect or corresponding application of Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 
of the Stock Corporation Act.

 The Executive Board is authorized, subject to the consent 
of the Supervisory Board, to determine the further particu
lars of the capital increase and its implementation includ
ing the scope of the shareholder rights and the conditions 
for the issuing of shares.

 The Annual General Meeting from May 14, 2013, authorized 
the Executive Board, with the consent of the Supervisory 
Board, to issue option bearer bonds and /or convertible bearer 
bonds or combinations of these instruments, once or several 
times and with or without term restrictions, up until May 13, 
2018, for a total nominal amount of up to € 1,000,000,000.00. 
These can also be issued simultaneously in various tranches. 
The Executive Board is also authorized to grant the bond
holders option or conversion rights in respect of up to a total of 
23,000,000 nopar value bearer shares of the company rep
resenting up to € 23,000,000.00 of the share capital in accor
dance with the specific conditions for the bond.

 To fulfill the subscription rights granted, the company’s 
share capital has been conditionally increased by up 
to € 23,000,000.00 through the issue of up to 23,000,000 
new nopar value bearer shares. The conditional capital 

 increase shall only be implemented to the extent that the 
 holders of convertible bonds issued for cash or of warrants 
from option bonds  issued for cash by the company or a Group 
company up until May 13, 2018, on the basis of the autho
rization granted to the Executive Board by the Annual Gen
eral Meeting on May 14, 2013, exercise their conversion 
or  option rights, or fulfill their obligations for exercising the 
option /conversion rights, or the company exercises its right 
to grant bondholders shares in the company in full or partial 
settlement of the cash amount that has become due, and as 
long as no other forms of settlement are used (conditional cap
ital). The new shares shall participate in the profits from the 
start of the fiscal year in which they are issued.

 The Executive Board is authorized, with the consent of the Su
pervisory Board, to determine the further details regarding 
the implementation of the conditional capital increase. The Su
pervisory Board is authorized to amend Section 4 (6) of the 
 articles of incorporation in accordance with the corresponding 
utilization of the conditional capital. The same applies if the 
authorization to issue convertible/option bonds is not exercised 
after the end of the authorization period and if the conditional 
capital is not utilized after the expiry of all conversion and op
tion periods.

 Furthermore, the Executive Board is authorized to purchase 
treasury shares amounting up to 10 % of the current share 
capital until May 10, 2015. The purchased shares together with 
other treasury shares that are held by the company or are 
 attributed to it according to section 71 a et seq. of the Stock Cor
poration Act may not at any time exceed 10 % of the share 
capital. The authorization cannot be used for the trade of trea
sury shares.

a) For one or more purposes, the authorization may be in
voked by the company, or by third parties for the account 
of the company, in one total amount or in a number of par
tial amounts either singly or on several separate occasions.

b) The Executive Board has the choice of making the acquisi
tion either through the stock exchange or in the form of a 
published purchase offer, or respectively, in the form of a 
published request for tender of such an offer.

 aa) If the acquisition of shares is made through the stock ex
change, the consideration per share paid by the company 
(excluding ancillary acquisition costs) may not exceed or 
undercut the opening auction price quoted on the Xetra 
dealing system (or a comparable replacement system) on 
the day of the stock exchange dealing by more than 5 %.
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 bb) If the acquisition is made in the form of a published 
 purchase offer, or in the form of a published request for ten
der of a purchase offer, the purchase price offered per share, 
or the limits of the purchase price spread per share (exclud
ing ancillary acquisition costs), may not exceed or undercut 
the average closing price quoted on the Xetra dealing system 
(or a comparable replacement system) on the last three 
stock exchange dealing days before the date of publication 
of the offer, or respectively, the date of publication of a 
 request for tender of a purchase offer, by more than 10 %. If, 
following publication of the purchase offer, or respectively, 
following publication for tender of a purchase offer, signifi
cant fluctuations occur in the applicable reference price, 
then an adjustment may be made to the offer, or respectively, 
to the request for tender of such an offer. In such circum
stances, reference will be made to the average price of the 
last three stock exchange dealing dates before publication 
of any potential adjustment. The purchase offer, or respec
tively, the request for tender of such an offer, may include 
further conditions. In as much as the offer is oversubscribed, 
or respectively, in the case of a request for tender of an of
fer, inasmuch as not all equivalent offers can be accepted, 
then acceptance must occur on a quota basis. Preferential 
 acceptance of small quantities of up to 100 shares on offer 
is permissible.

c) The Executive Board is authorized to use company shares 
that are acquired on the basis of this authorization for all 
permitted legal purposes, but especially for the following 
purposes:

 aa)The shares may be redeemed without the necessity for 
the redemption or its execution to be authorized by a further 
resolution of a general meeting of shareholders. In a simpli
fied procedure, they may be redeemed without a formal re
duction in capital by adjustment of the proportional amount 
applicable to the remaining noparvalue shares making up 
the company’s share capital. The redemption may be limited 
to only a portion of the shares acquired. The authorization 
for redemption of shares may be invoked repeatedly. If the 
redemption is performed using the simplified procedure, then 
the Executive Board is authorized to adjust the number of 
noparvalue shares contained in the company’s articles of 
incorporation.

 bb) The shares may also be sold by means other than through 
the stock exchange or an offer to the shareholders if the 
shares are disposed of against payment in cash at a price 
that is not significantly less than the quoted stock exchange 
price at the time of disposal for shares of the same type.

 cc) The shares may be sold in consideration for contributions 
in kind, particularly in connection with the acquisition of 
other entities, parts of entities or investments in entities as 
well as in connection with business mergers.

d) The authorizations listed under paragraph c) subpara
graphs aa) to cc) above, also cover the disposition of compa
ny shares that are acquired pursuant to Section 71 d sen
tence 5 of the Stock Corporation Act.

e) The authorizations listed under c) above, may be made 
use of singly or repeatedly, wholly or partly, individually or 
jointly; the authorizations under c) subparagraphs bb) 
and cc) may also be made use of by entities dependent on 
the company, or by entities which are owned in the major
ity by the company, or for their account, or for the account of 
third parties acting on behalf of the company.

f) Shareholder subscription rights in respect of this treasury 
stock are excluded to the extent that these shares are dis
posed of in accordance with the aforementioned authoriza
tion contained in paragraph c) subparagraphs bb) and cc).

g) The Supervisory Board may prescribe that measures taken 
by the Executive Board based on this resolution by the an
nual general meeting of the shareholders may only be exe
cuted with its permission.

 The employment contracts for the members of the Executive 
Board at Symrise AG contain a change of control clause. The 
clause provides that Executive Board members, who are recalled 
without serious cause or mutually agree to resign from their 
Executive Board positions after a change of control, but before 
the end of their contract term, are entitled to compensation 
for the time remaining on their employment contracts, or at 
least severance pay amounting to three years’ worth of re
muneration. Severance and compensation cannot exceed the 
overall limit of 150 % of the severance cap according to the 
provisions of the current version of the German Corporate Gov
ernance Code from May 13, 2013. 

No further disclosure requirements exist pursuant to Section 
315 paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).

Corporate Governance Statement
The Corporate Governance Statement has been made available 
on Symrise AG’s website at www.symrise.com/investors/ 

corporate-governance/corporate-governance-statement-and-

corporate-governance-report.
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Consolidated Income Statement – January 1 to December 31, 2013

t€
 

notes
 

2012
 

2013

Sales 4 1,734,934 1,830,386

Cost of sales 5 – 1,034,379 – 1,059,548

Gross profit   700,555 770,838

    

Other operating income 6 15,745 16,065

Selling and marketing expenses 8 – 267,307 – 289,964

Research and development expenses 9 – 113,780 – 126,995

Administration expenses 10 – 80,760 – 85,028

Other operating expenses   – 1,815 – 1,789

income from operations/eBit   252,638 283,127

    

Financial income   2,572 1,522

Financial expenses   – 42,671 – 38,795

Financial result 11 – 40,099 – 37,273

    

income before income taxes   212,539 245,854

Income taxes 12 – 55,047 – 73,519

    

net income   157,492 172,335

earnings per share (€) 
– diluted and basic 14 1.33 1.46



– 43 –

Consolidated FinanCial statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

t€ notes
2012  

(adjusted) 2013

net income  157,492 172,335

    

items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Exchange rate differences resulting from the translation of foreign operations 2.5   

Exchange rate differences that occurred during the fiscal year  – 5,772 – 49,208

Losses from net investments  – 1,318 – 6,553

Reclassification to consolidated income statement  – 3,243 – 1,681

Exchange rate differences from non-current assets held for sale (IFRS 5)  28 47

Financial assets available for sale    

Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  – 1,263 – 41

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges) 38   

Income recorded during the fiscal year  136 51

Reclassification to consolidated income statement  752 – 14

Income taxes payable on these components  657 1,948

    

items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans 36 – 87,111 44,712

Income taxes payable on these components 12 22,744 – 13,955

    

other comprehensive income  – 74,390 – 24,694

total comprehensive income  83,102 147,641

The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes.
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t€ notes
January 1, 2012  

(adjusted)
december 31, 2012 

(adjusted) december 31, 2013

ASSETS     

     

Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 15 118,608 117,445 135,343

Trade receivables 16 290,271 302,206 321,547

Inventories 17 313,011 347,841 368,567

Other assets and receivables 18 58,781 35,694 36,246

Financial assets 19 11,673 4,098 2,324

Current tax assets  9,445 15,576 8,341

  801,789 822,860 872,368

     

non-current assets     

Deferred tax assets 20  40,258 59,100 46,192

Other assets and receivables 21 3,660 8,276 7,107

Financial assets 22 7,186 16,887 15,112

Investments in associates 23 0 0 15,082

Investment property 24 0 0 2,583

Intangible assets 25 834,269 805,000 812,356

Property, plant and equipment 26 431,451 438,117 439,622

  1,316,824 1,327,380 1,338,054

     

total assets  2,118,613 2,150,240 2,210,422

The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes.
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t€ notes
January 1, 2012  

(adjusted)
december 31, 2012 

(adjusted) december 31, 2013

LIABILITIES     

     

Current liabilities     

Trade payables 28 118.237 133.113 150.799

Borrowings 33 138,365 108,864 40,999

Other liabilities 29 104,058 78,213 75,921

Other provisions 30 3,527 4,184 5,048

Financial liabilities 31 2,018 2,765 4,003

Current tax liabilities 32 41,910 37,612 51,332

  408,115 364,751 328,102

     

non-current liabilities     

Borrowings 33 461,833 450,066 506,741

Other liabilities 34 6,009 2,564 2,211

Other provisions 35 13,845 16,155 14,538

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 36 286,306 366,505 332,400

Financial liabilities 37 0 0 6,968

Deferred tax liabilities 20 73,032 70,891 68,399

  841,025 906,181 931,257

     

total liaBilities  1,249,140 1,270,932 1,259,359

     

eQuitY 38    

Share capital  118,173 118,173 118,173

Capital reserve  970,911 970,911 970,911

Revaluation reserve  2,808 2,808 2,735

Fair value reserve  – 15 – 900 – 12

Cash flow hedge reserve  – 534 112 133

Reserve for remeasurements (pensions)  – 46,933 – 111,300 – 80,543

Cumulative translation differences  – 5,408 – 15,192 – 70,553

Accumulated profit/deficit  – 169,529 – 85,304 10,219

total eQuitY  869,473 879,308 951,063

      

liaBilities and eQuitY  2,118,613 2,150,240 2,210,422

The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

t€
 

notes
 

2012 
 

2013

net income  157,492 172,335

Result from investments in associates 11 0 – 40

Income tax expense 12 55,047 73,519

Interest result 11 37,311 33,805

sub-total   249,850 279,619

    

Amortization, depreciation and impairment losses on non-current assets 25, 26 86,215 90,010

Change in provisions for pensions  – 20,380 1,186

Decrease in other non-current provisions and liabilities  – 4,545 – 3,770

Change in non-current assets  – 4,733 356

Change in fair value of investment property  0 – 1,673

Transfer of exchange differences from the currency reserve to the income statement  – 3,243 – 1,681

Unrealized foreign exchange losses  4,373 13,879

Other non-cash items  – 429 – 1,205

sub-total  57,258 97,102

Cash flow before working capital changes  307,108 376,721

    

Change in trade receivables or other assets that are not attributable to investing  
or financing activities  15,849 – 39,822

Increase in inventories  – 37,912 – 31,533

Change in trade payables or other liabilities that are not attributable to investing  
or financing activities  – 1,154 24,273

Income taxes paid  – 64,388 – 54,855

Cash flow from operating activities  219,503 274,784

    

Payments for business combinations and subsequent contingent consideration  
for the purchase of subsidiaries  – 8,823 – 67,059

Payments for investing in intangible assets  – 15,846 – 12,117

Payments for investing in property, plant and equipment  – 51,597 – 57,999

Payments for investing in non-current financial assets   – 11,237 – 8,149

Payments for investments in associates  0 – 4,220

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets   1,144 3,772

Cash flow from investing activities   – 86,359 – 145,772

    

Proceeds from bank borrowings  104,145 247,773

Redemption of bank borrowings  – 142,679 – 248,604

Interest paid  – 21,468 – 22,742

Interest received  1,038 476

Dividends paid 38 – 73,267 – 76,813

Dividends received  0 151

Cash flow from financing activities   – 132,231 – 99,759

    

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   913 29,253

Effects of changes in exchange rates   – 2,076 – 11,355

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1  118,608 117,445

Cash and cash equivalents as of december 31 15 117,445 135,343

The consolidated statement of cash flows is explained in note 40.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2012 
t€

share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

revaluation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
(currency 

hedges)

reserve for 
remeasure-

ments 
( pensions)

Cumulative 
translation 
differences

accumu-
lated 

 deficit
total 

equity

as of January 1, 2012 118,173 970,911 2,808 – 15 – 534 0 – 5,408 – 219,200 866,735

Change of disclosure  
due to IAS 19 revised 0 0 0 0 0 – 46,933 0 46,933 0

Retrospective application  
of IAS 19 revised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,738 2,738

as of January 1, 2012 (adjusted) 118,173 970,911 2,808 – 15 – 534 – 46,933 – 5,408 – 169,529 869,473

Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 157,492 157,492

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 – 885 646 – 64,367 – 9,784 0 – 74,390

total comprehensive income 0 0 0 – 885 646 – 64,367 – 9,784 157,492 83,102

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 73,267 – 73,267

as of december 31, 2012 
(adjusted) 118,173 970,911 2,808 – 900 112 – 111,300 – 15,192 – 85,304 879,308

The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies in the notes.

2013 
t€

share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

revaluation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
(currency 

hedges)

reserve for 
remeasure-

ments 
( pensions)

Cumulative 
translation 
differences

accumu-
lated 

 profit/ 
deficit

total 
equity

as of January 1, 2013 (adjusted) 118,173 970,911 2,808 – 900 112 – 111,300 – 15,192 – 85,304 879,308

Net income 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 172,335 172,335

Other comprehensive income 0 0 – 73 – 38 21 30,757 – 55,361 0 – 24,694

total comprehensive income 0 0 – 73 – 38 21 30,757 – 55,361 172,335 147,641

Reclassification from financial 
instruments (available for sale) 
to investments in associates 0 0 0 926 0 0 0 1 927

Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 – 76,813 – 76,813

as of december 31, 2013 118,173 970,911 2,735 – 12 133 – 80,543 – 70,553 10,219 951,063

Equity developments are explained in note 38.
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1.  Gener al inFormation
Symrise Aktiengesellschaft (Symrise AG), a stock corporation under German law, principally produces, markets and 
sells flavors, fragrances, aroma chemicals and cosmetic ingredients. It is the parent company of the Symrise Group with 
its registered office at Muehlenfeldstrasse 1, 37603 Holzminden, Germany.

The shares of Symrise AG are authorized for trading on the stock exchange in the regulated market of the Frankfurt 
 Securities Exchange and are listed in the Prime Standard segment of the MDAX.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management report of Symrise AG (hereinafter also referred to 
as “Symrise,” “the Symrise Group” or “we”) for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, were, by resolution of the 
 Executive Board, submitted to the Supervisory Board’s Auditing Committee for review on February 20, 2014, and sub
sequently approved for publication.

The consolidated financial statements and the Group management report of Symrise AG have been prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), 
London, as well as the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) as 
 adopted by the European Union and the supplementary commercial law provisions of Section 315a (1) of the German 
HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch” or Commercial Code] that were valid at the balance sheet reporting date.

The following explanations include those disclosures and comments that are to be provided as notes in accordance with 
IFRS in addition to the information contained in the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of 
 comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of cash flows and 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. They thus represent an essential component of these consolidated 
 financial statements.

For the purposes of a clearer presentation, some reporting lines included in the consolidated statement of financial 
 position and the consolidated income statement group together individual items; supplementary information relating to 
such items is separately presented in the notes. The consolidated income  statement has been prepared using the cost 
of sales method.

2.  aCCountinG poliCies
2.1 Basis of preparation of the Financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are generally prepared on the basis of the historical cost, with the exception of 
derivative financial instruments and investment property that are measured at fair value and recognized with effect 
on profit or loss, as well as financial assets available for sale, which are measured at fair value with no effect on profit 
or loss. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros and amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand euros (T€); 
in this process, rounding differences may arise. Deviations from this method are explicitly indicated. The individual 
 financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation were prepared at the reporting date of the consol
idated financial statements.
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2.2 Changes to accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are generally consistent with those applied in the previous year. The classification of 
investment property was used for the first time in 2013 (see note 2.5 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies).

In addition, the following new or revised standards and interpretations were mandatory for application from January 1, 
2013: 

 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income”: This amendment changed the 
presentation of other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive income. The items of other comprehen
sive income that are later reclassified in the income statement, known as recycling, are now to be presented sepa
rately from the items of other comprehensive income that will never be reclassified. As long as the items are recognized 
gross, meaning without balancing effects from taxes, the taxes are then no longer to be recognized in one total, but 
rather designated to the two groups of items. The Symrise Group has fulfilled the amended disclosure requirements 
and comparative information was accordingly adjusted. 

 IAS 19 revised 2011 “Employee Benefits”: In addition to comprehensive disclosure requirements for employee bene
fits, the revision particularly results in the following changes:

 The recognition of remeasurements (previously actuarial gains and losses) from pension obligations is now only per
mitted directly in other comprehensive income according to the revised version of IAS 19. In anticipation of the revised 
reporting standard for pensions, Symrise switched from the corridor method to the immediate recognition of changes 
to actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income at the end of 2012, so no changes result from the applica
tion of the revised IAS 19 standard. The actuarial gains and losses posted in the last annual financial statements in 
the accumulated deficit are now reported in a separate item within equity as of the 2013 fiscal year – the reserve for 
remeasurements (pensions). 

 Additionally, the expected income from plan assets was previously determined based on the subjective expectations 
of management regarding the value development of the investment portfolio. In applying the revised version of IAS 19, 
only a standard typified rate on plan assets, amounting to the current discount rate of the pension obligations, is per
mitted. This results in only minor changes to the financial expenses for the years 2012 and 2013. The values from the 
previous year were therefore not adjusted to reflect these changes.

 Changes to the benefit levels with a retrospective effect on pension entitlements already earned resulting from plan 
amendments are no longer to be allocated beyond the period until entitlements become vested, but rather allocated di
rectly in profit or loss during the year of the plan adjustment. The statement of financial position as of January 1, 2012, 
was accordingly restated retrospectively. The effects on the consolidated income statements for 2012 and 2013 
are of limited significance. The values from the previous year were therefore not adjusted to reflect these changes.
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The effects on the items in the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash 
flows from the previous year resulting from IAS 19 revised are listed below:

ADjuSTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF jANuARy 1, 2012

t€ published reclassification

Gains from plan 
amendments 

not yet 
recognized deferred taxes adjusted

assets       

Deferred tax assets 41,934 0 0 – 1,676 40,258

      

total assets 2,120,289 0 0 – 1,676 2,118,613

      

liaBilities      

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 290,720 0 – 4,414 0 286,306

      

eQuitY      

Reserve for remeasurements (pensions) 0 – 46,933 0 0 – 46,933

Cumulative translation differences – 5,408 0 0 0 – 5,408

Accumulated deficit – 219,200 46,933 4,414 – 1,676 – 169,529

      

total liaBilities and eQuitY 2,120,289 0 0 – 1,676 2,118,613

 
ADjuSTED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2012 

t€ published reclassification

Gains from plan 
amendments 

not yet 
recognized deferred taxes

Currency 
translation 

effects adjusted

assets        

Deferred tax assets 60,744 0 0 – 1,676 32 59,100

       

total assets 2,151,884 0 0 – 1,676 32 2,150,240

       

liaBilities       

Provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations 370,834 0 – 4,414 0 85 366,505

       

eQuitY       

Reserve for remeasurements 
(pensions) 0 – 111,300 0 0 0 – 111,300

Cumulative translation differences – 15,139 0 0 0 – 53 – 15,192

Accumulated deficit – 199,342 111,300 4,414 – 1,676 0 – 85,304

       

total liaBilities and eQuitY 2,151,884 0 0 – 1,676 32 2,150,240
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 Since the income statement for 2012 was not adjusted, due to insignificant changes, there was therefore no change to 
the diluted or basic earnings per share for 2012. Other comprehensive income for 2012 was lowered by T€ 53 due to 
higher losses from the translation of foreign operations. No adjustments were necessary for the statement of cash flows.

 Further, the definition of termination benefits was changed and impacted the reporting of stepup amounts promised 
as part of partial retirement agreements. Previously, the stepup amounts were classified as termination benefits and 
therefore provisions for the full amount were established with the signing of a partial retirement agreement. Due to 
the change in definition for termination benefits, stepup amounts no longer meet the requirements for being classified 
as termination benefits under IAS 19 revised. Instead, they relate to other longterm employee benefits that accrue 
gradually over employees’ corresponding length of service in a company. The effects of these changes are of limited 
significance for the Symrise Group.

 If IAS 19 had not been revised, it would have resulted in the following: As of December 31, 2013, the provisions for 
pensions and similar obligations would have been T€ 2,848 higher and the accumulated profit would have been corre
spondingly lower (excluding the counteracting effect from deferred taxes).

 IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”: Fair value measurements in financial statements according to IFRS are uniformly 
regulated with this standard. All fair value measurements required by other standards are to be made according to 
the uniform guidelines set out in IFRS 13 with the exception of IAS 17 and IFRS 2, which will continue to have their 
own regulations. Fair value is defined as the “exit price” according to IFRS 13, meaning the price that would have 
been attained through the sale of an asset or the price that would have been paid in order to transfer a liability. As with 
current fair value measurements of financial assets, a threetier hierarchical system will be implemented with tiers 
based on independently ob servable market prices. The effects of the new fair value measurements are of limited signif
icance for the Symrise Group. 

 Amendments to IFRS 7 “Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”: The changes to 
IFRS 7 – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – first became mandatory in the 2013 fiscal year. The 
changes to the disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 require disclosures on all financial instruments offset in accordance 
with IAS 32. Further, it requires disclosures on all financial instruments reported that are subject to global settle
ment agreement or similar agreements, even if they are not offset according to IAS 32. The effects of these changes 
are of limited significance for the Symrise Group.

 “Improvements to IFRS 2009–2011”: As part of the Annual Improvement Project, revisions were made to five stan
dards. The adjustment to the formulations of individual IFRS are meant to enhance the clarity of the existing regula
tions. Other changes affect accounting, recognition, measurement and disclosures in the notes. The standards af
fected are IAS 1, IAS 16, IAS 32, IAS 34 and IFRS 1. The revisions had no significant impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.

 Amendments to IAS 12 “Recovery of Underlying Assets”: With this revision, IAS 12 now specifies that, in the 
case of investment property, a reversal of the temporary differences through sale (in contrast to its continued use) is 
to constantly be assumed. No changes for the Symrise Group resulted from this new requirement.
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 IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine”: This interpretation affects the reporting of 
stripping costs in the surface mining industry and has no influence on the Symrise Group.

The Amendment to IAS 36 “Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets” is a consequential amend
ment from IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and becomes mandatory for the first time in fiscal years commencing on or 
after January 1, 2014. With IFRS 13, a new required disclosure on the goodwill impairment test according to IAS 36 
was introduced: The recoverable amount of the cashgenerating units is to be disclosed, independent of whether or not 
impairment took place. Since this note was introduced unintentionally, it was removed with this amendment from May 
2013. On the other hand, additional disclosures result from this amendment if impairment is performed and the recover
able amount was based on a fair value calculation. We are applying this amendment in advance, meaning that it was 
 already applied to our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013. The disclosures required by IFRS 13 
can therefore be omitted in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013.

Further, there are additional new standards and revisions to standards and interpretations that are to be applied in fiscal 
years commencing on or subsequent to January 1, 2014. These were not applied in this report. The effects of this on 
 Symrise’s consolidated financial statements are currently being assessed. Symrise is currently not planning to apply 
new or modified standards and interpretations before they become mandatory.

 IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” creates a uniform basis for the definition of a parentsubsidiaryrela
tionship and the precise definition of the scope of consolidation. In this regard, the new standard replaces the previ
ously relevant regulations in IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and SIC 12 “Consolidation 

– Special Purpose Entities.” IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” regulates the reporting of cases where a company has 
joint control over a joint venture or a joint operation. In this context, IAS 28 “Investments in Associates” was accord
ingly modified so that companies are required to measure their interests in joint ventures and associated companies 
 according to the equity method. IFRS 12 “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities” summarizes the disclosure 
 requirements for the interests of a company towards subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associated companies and 
structured companies into a comprehensive standard. 

 The Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 “Transition Guidance” contain a clarification and additional 
simplifications for the transition to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12. As a result, adjusted comparative information is only 
required for the previous comparative periods. Further, the requirement on disclosures of comparative information 
for periods that began prior to the initial application of IFRS 12 is negated in connection with notes on nonconsolidat
ed structured entities. 

 IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and the revisions to IAS 27 and IAS 28 as well as those to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 
are to become mandatory in fiscal years that start on or after January 1, 2014.

 Amendments to IAS 32 “Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” clarify which requirements exist 
for offsetting financial instruments. In the amendment, the meaning of the current legal right to offsetting is ex
plained and clarifies which methods with gross settlement as net settlement can be considered in accordance with 
the standard. The change to IAS 32 is to become mandatory in fiscal years that start on or after January 1, 2014.
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 According to the Amendment to IAS 39 “Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting” deriva
tives remain designated as hedging instruments in ongoing hedging relationships despite a novation of a hedging 
 instrument to a central counterparty as a result of legal requirements under certain circumstances. The revisions are 
to become mandatory in fiscal years that start on or after January 1, 2014.

 IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” will replace the recognition and measurement of financial instruments according 
to IAS 39. Financial assets will only be classified and measured in two groups: at amortized cost and at fair value. The 
group of financial assets measured at amortized cost consists of such financial assets that only have claim to inter
est and redemption payments at scheduled intervals and that are also held within the framework of a business model 
whose goal is to retain assets. All other financial assets belong to the group measured at fair value. Under certain 
 circumstances, financial assets from the first category can, as was also previously possible, be designated in the fair 
value category (socalled fair value option).

 Changes in value for financial assets in the fair value category are generally to be recognized in profit or loss. Certain 
equity instruments can however retain this accounting option and recognize value changes in other comprehensive 
income. Dividend rights from these assets must however be recognized in profit or loss.

 The regulations on financial liabilities are generally adopted from IAS 39. 

 The initial application of IFRS 9 has yet to be determined, but is not expected to come into effect before January 1, 2017.

 IFRS 9 “Hedge Accounting” and “Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39”: The goal of the new hedge account
ing model under IFRS 9 is to achieve a closer link between the risk management system and the financial reporting. 
The types of hedging relationships that continue to be permissible are “cash flow hedge accounting,” “fair value 
hedge accounting” and the “hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation.” The scope for underlying and hedging 
transactions was respectively expanded. Particularly groups of underlying transactions, so far as the underlying 
transactions individually qualify for a designation, as well as net positions and zero net positions are designatable as 
a result. Generally, every financial instrument is suitable as a hedging instrument if it can be measured at fair value. 
Exceptions here are liabilities for which the fair value option has been exercised as well as equity instruments under 
the FVOCI option (fair value through other comprehensive income) according to the regulations of phase I. 

 Under IFRS 9, the range of 80 % to 125 % required by IAS 39 as part of the effectiveness assessment is waived so that 
a retrospective effectiveness assessment is no longer needed. The prospective effectiveness assessment continues to be 
required as is the recognition of any kind of ineffectiveness. A termination of a hedging relationship is only possible 
if the requirements that have been defined for this have been fulfilled. This means that if the goals of risk management 
have not changed, the hedging relationships must continue. Regarding the risk management strategy, the effects of 
risk management on future cash flows as well as the effects of hedge accounting on the financial statements are to be 
reported in expanded disclosures in the notes.

 Additionally, the recognition of own default risks for financial liabilities under FVO (fair value option) in other compre
hensive income is now isolated, meaning it is possible to forgo application of the remaining requirements of IFRS 9.



– 54 –

Consolidated FinanCial statements

Notes

 The initial application of the new requirements on hedge accounting follows the requirements for the initial application 
of IFRS 9. Hedging relationships are not to be terminated due to the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 insofar as the 
 requirements and qualitative characteristics are still fulfilled. The existing regulations according to IAS 39 are option
ally applicable under IFRS 9 as well.

 The revisions to the Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 “Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures” 
allow the waiving of adjusted previous year figures with the initial application of IFRS 9. Originally, this simplification 
was only possible with an early application of IFRS 9 before January 1, 2012. The simplification results in additional 
disclosures in the notes according to IFRS 7 during the transition period. The initial application date for these revisions, 
as with the requirements of IFRS 9, is still undecided, but is not expected to take effect before January 1, 2017.

 The Amendments to IAS 19 “Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions” clarifies the regulations that relate 
to the classification of employee contributions or contributions from third parties to service periods, when the contribu
tions are linked to the service period. Further, simplifications are provided when the contributions are independent 
from the number of service years completed. The revisions are to become mandatory, subject to their yet to be complet
ed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or after July 1, 2014.

 IFRIC 21 “Levies” is an interpretation on IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. It primarily 
clarifies the question of when a present obligation requires the creation of a provision or liability as a result of levies 
imposed by the government. Not covered in the interpretation’s scope of application are particularly penalties and levies 
that result from contracts under public law or fall under the regulatory scope of another IFRS, such as IAS 12 Income 
Taxes. According to IFRIC 21, a liability item is to be created for levies if the event that triggers the levy  liability occurs. 
This triggering event that predicates the obligation is, on the other hand, found in the wording of the underlying norm. 
Its formulation is in this respect the determining factor for accounting purposes. The revisions are to become manda
tory, subject to their yet to be completed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or after January 1, 2014.

 “Improvements to IFRS 2010–2012”: As part of the Annual Improvement Project, revisions were made to seven stan
dards. The adjustment to the formulations of individual IFRS are meant to enhance the clarity of the existing regula
tions. Further, there are revisions with impacts on disclosures in the notes. The standards affected are IFRS 2, IFRS 3, 
IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 24 and IAS 38. The revisions are to become mandatory, subject to their yet to be com
pleted adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or after July 1, 2014, as will the revision to IFRS 2 on share
based payment in fiscal years commencing on or subsequent to July 1, 2014.

 “Improvements to IFRS 2011–2013”: As part of the Annual Improvement Project, revisions were made to four stan
dards. The adjustment to the formulations of individual IFRS are meant to enhance the clarity of the existing 
 regulations. The standards affected are IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13 and IAS 40. The revisions are to become mandatory, 
subject to their yet to be completed adoption into EU law, in fiscal years that start on or after July 1, 2014.
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2.3 Key Judgments and estimates as well as sources of estimation uncertainty
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS makes it necessary for the Executive Board 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions which influence the application of accounting policies, the amounts at 
which assets and liabilities are recognized, how contingent liabilities are disclosed at the balance sheet reporting date 
as well as income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Our judgments, estimates and assumptions are based on historical information and planning data as well as informa
tion on economic conditions in the industries and regions where we and our customers actively operate. Changes to these 
factors could adversely impact our estimates. Our estimates, and the assumptions they are based on, are regularly re
viewed. Although we believe our estimates on future developments to be reasonable in consideration of the underlying 
uncertainties, actual results can vary from the estimates we provide.

Any changes in values that result from such a review are recognized in the reporting period in which the change is made 
and any other future reporting periods that are impacted. 

In the following sections we list the accounting policies applied most often and affected by judgments, estimates and 
 assumptions, and which can substantially impact the figures presented in the report. Recognizing these uncertainties is 
necessary for a clear assessment of the net assets, financial position and results of operations:

Assessing impAirment of goodwill , other intAngible Assets, propert y, plAnt And equipment, 

And determining the useful life

At least once a year, the Group reviews whether goodwill is impaired. This requires an estimate of the recoverable 
amounts of the cashgenerating units to which the goodwill is allocated. In order to estimate the recoverable amount, 
the Symrise Group has to estimate expected future cash flows deriving from these cashgenerating units and also 
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of these cash flows. To do this, certain assump
tions and estimates are applied to future cash flows that are of a complex nature and are associated with considerable 
 discretionary judgments and assumptions regarding future developments. These can be influenced by a number of fac
tors, for example through changes to our internal forecasts and the estimate of the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC). Due to these factors, actual cash flows and values can widely vary from the forecast future cash flows and val
ues that were determined by means of the discounted cash flow. Although we believe that our assumptions and esti
mates made in the past were reasonable, differing assumptions and estimates could substantially impact our net assets, 
financial position and results of operations. Additionally, the results of the impairment tests for goodwill are influenced 
by the allocation of this goodwill to cashgenerating units. If indications exist for the impairment of another intangible 
asset or property, plant and equipment, the recoverable amount calculated based on estimates is to be contrasted with 
the carrying amount, similar to the impairment test for goodwill. Further information can be found in note 2.5.

All of our intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment (excluding land) have a limited use
ful life. That is why the acquisition cost is to be systematically allocated over the respective useful life of intangible 
 assets and property, plant and equipment. Discretionary judgments are required for the determination of the useful life 
for an intangible asset or property, plant and equipment since Symrise estimates the period in which the asset will 
 likely provide economic value. The amortization period affects the expenses for scheduled amortizations recognized in 
the individual periods. Further information can be found in note 2.5.
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recognition of intAngible Assets generAted internAlly through development Activities

Intangible assets generated internally through developments are capitalized according to the accounting principles pre
sented in note 2.5. The decision as to whether an internally generated intangible asset is to be reported as an intangible 
asset on the balance sheet is connected with considerable judgments. Particularly the decision as to whether the activities 
are to be considered research or development activities and whether the conditions for classification as an intangible 
 asset have been met. This requires assumptions regarding market conditions, customer demand and other future devel
opments. The decision as to whether the intangible asset can be used or sold is the task of management, which must 
make the decision based on assumptions on the size of future cash flows from assets, the applicable interest rates and 
the period of inflow from expected future cash flows.

recognition of current income tA xes And deferred tA xes

Due to the international nature of Symrise’s business activities, sales are generated in numerous countries outside of 
Germany and are therefore subject to the tax laws of the particular country’s legal system. Our ordinary business also 
consists of transactions where the final tax effects are uncertain, for example regarding transfer prices and cost alloca
tion contracts between Symrise companies. Furthermore, the income taxes paid by Symrise are inherently the object 
of ongoing audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities. For this reason, discretionary judgments are needed to deter
mine our global income tax provisions. We have estimated the development of uncertain taxation assessments based 
on current tax laws and our interpretations of them. These judgments can have substantial impacts on our income tax 
expenses, income tax provisions and our profit after taxes.

Every year, we assess whether the tax loss carried forward can be used and offset with future taxable gains in a rea
sonable period. Whenever this is not possible, deferred tax assets are diminished. This requires that we make esti
mates, judgments and assumptions about the tax gains of every Group company. In determining our ability to use our 
deferred tax assets, we consider all available information including taxable income generated in the past and forecast 
taxable income in the periods in which the deferred tax assets will likely be realized. In determining future taxable in
come, the expected market conditions as well as other facts and circumstances are considered. Every negative change 
to these underlying facts or our estimates and assumptions can result in a reduction to the balance of our deferred tax 
assets. 

pensions And other post- employment benefits

The expenses deriving from defined benefit pension plans and the obligation to provide additional postemployment health
care benefits are determined on the basis of actuarial calculations. The actuarial valuation is made on the basis of as
sumptions pertaining to discount rates, future wage and salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases 
and is therefore associated with significant judgmental decisions. 

The discounting factors are to be based on the yields that could be obtained at the balance sheet reporting date for high
quality corporate bonds with a corresponding term and currency designation. If such yield information is not available, 
the discounting factors are based on market yields for government bonds. 

As a result of the fluctuating market and economic situation, the actual developments may differ from the assumptions 
used, which may result in significant impacts on the pension and other postemployment benefit obligations. Due to the 
longterm nature of such plans, these estimates are subject to great uncertainty.
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meAsurement of trAde receivAbles

Determining the likelihood of collecting receivables involves making estimates and judgments that are based on the 
 financial standing of the respective customer, current economic developments and the analysis of historical debt losses 
on a portfolio basis. These factors are subject to considerable changes. This applies to both individual receivables as 
well as the entire portfolio. In this manner, we must judge whether the occurrence of a debt loss is probable and wheth
er the amount of such a loss can be reliably estimated. The determination of general individual value adjustments for 
the remaining receivables on the basis of previous debt losses is associated with significant discretionary judgments 
since the past is not necessarily representative of future developments. Changes to our estimates in relation to the value 
adjustments on receivables can have considerable impacts on the assets and expenses recognized in our consolidated fi
nancial statements. Beyond this, consolidated earnings could also be negatively influenced if actual debt losses are no
tably greater than those estimated.

recognition of provisions for litigAtion And long -term remunerAtion plAns

The determination of provisions is associated with estimates to a substantial degree. Symrise is confronted with legal 
action in various jurisdictions and regulatory suits. These suits can lead to criminal or civil sanctions, fines or disgorge
ments for Symrise. We monitor the status of every case at least once every quarter and determine the potential finan
cial and business risk associated with such cases. In determining whether a provision is necessary, and if so, how large 
it should be, or whether a declaration of a contingent liability is necessary requires significant judgments. Due to the 
uncertainty relating to these cases, the provisions are based on the bestpossible information that is available at the time.

Symrise guarantees longterm remuneration programs with cash compensation. In estimating the fair value of our share 
based programs, we rely on certain assumptions that are in part related to the expected volatility of a future stock in
dex composed of comparable companies in the fragrance and flavor industry as well as suppliers and companies in the 
food and cosmetics industry. Furthermore, the amount of the final payout for these remuneration programs depends on 
the price of Symrise stock in comparison to this stock index as of the set target date. These assumptions can impact the 
determination of the fair value and therefore the amount and distribution of our expenses for longterm remuneration 
programs. Changes to these factors could have a considerable influence on the fair value estimates made according to 
the option price model and future payments.

Assumptions And estimAtes regArding other items on the stAtement of finAnciAl position

Assumptions and estimates are also necessary for the measurement of other contingent liabilities, other provisions and 
derivatives. 

The assumptions and their corresponding estimates are explained in note 2.5. In individual cases, the actual values 
can vary from the assumptions and estimates made, meaning that significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of the 
affected assets or liabilities need to be made. 

Changes to estimates are recognized with effect on profit or loss in accordance with IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and Errors” at the time they become known.
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2.4  scope of Consolidation and principles determining the inclusion of subsidiaries and associated Companies
scope of consolidAtion

In addition to Symrise AG as parent company, the scope of consolidation includes all domestic and foreign companies that 
Symrise AG directly or indirectly controls or where it has significant influence over their activities. Subsidiary compa
nies are those companies in which Symrise AG holds the majority of voting rights and over which it exercises influence 
over business and financial policies in order to benefit from their activities and therefore possesses the opportunity for 
control. Associated companies are companies over which Symrise AG exercises significant influence over business and 
financial policies but which are not subsidiary companies or joint ventures.

In the fiscal year, the scope of consolidation developed as follows:

  January 1, 2013 additions disposals december 31, 2013

Fully consolidated subsidiaries     

Domestic 11 0 0 11

Foreign 44 1 1 44

Companies accounted for using the equity method     

Foreign 1 1 0 2

total 56 2 1 57

An addition was made to the fully consolidated companies due to the completed founding of a whollyowned subsidiary 
in the USA, Symrise US LLC, on August 1, 2013. The previously fully consolidated Thamasarb Co. Ltd., Thailand, was liq
uidated on October 14, 2013, and is therefore classified as a disposal.

With the purchase of additional shares in Probi AB, Sweden, Symrise exceeded the 20 % threshold, meaning that the 
company is to be reported as an associated company as of February 8, 2013.

As there has been no great change in the scope of the consolidation in comparison to the previous year, comparability 
against the net assets, financial position and results of operations from the previous year’s consolidated financial state
ments has not been notably affected.

principles determining the inclusion of subsidiAries And AssociAted compAnies

Full Consolidation
All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements and fully consolidated. Additionally, the financial 
statements of the parent company and those of its subsidiaries are prepared as of the balance sheet reporting date using 
uniform accounting policies. Adjustments are made to compensate for any differences in recognition and measurement 
deriving from local accounting policies. 

All internal balances, transactions and unrealized gains deriving from internal transactions are eliminated. Unrealized 
losses deriving from internal transactions are also eliminated unless Group costs cannot be recovered in the future. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, i.e. from the date on which a controlling influence is 
gained by Symrise AG. Inclusion in the consolidated financial statements ceases on the date when the parent company’s 
controlling influence ends. 
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Assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities deriving from business combinations are generally recognized at their fair 
values at the time of acquisition. In circumstances where the acquisition costs relating to the business combination 
 exceed the proportionate share of newly measured net assets of the acquired object, the amount of such difference is 
recognized as goodwill. The expenses and income of any subsidiary companies that are acquired are included in the 
consolidated income statement from the point in time at which the subsidiary is acquired.

The Equity Method of Accounting
Investments in associates are included according to the equity method and initially recognized with the acquisition costs 
including transaction costs. 

After the date of acquisition, the share in the result of the associated company is recognized in the consolidated income 
statement. The share of any changes to equity which do not impact profit or loss is recognized directly in other com
prehensive income under Group equity. Any accumulated changes that occur after the date of acquisition accordingly 
increase or decrease the carrying amount of the investment in the associated company. 

Goodwill arising from the initial consolidation is disclosed in the carrying amount of the investment in the associated 
company and not amortized at a scheduled rate. If the corresponding indicators arise, the carrying amounts for associates 
recognized according to the equity method are subjected to an impairment test.

Profits and losses deriving from transactions between the Symrise Group and the associated company are eliminated 
in proportion to the investment share. If the financial statements for an associate are not available in time, the carrying 
amount of the investment in the associate is updated according to the best possible estimate. 

We did not separately disclose our investment Therapeutic Peptides Inc., USA, due to a lack of significance. 

2.5 summary of significant accounting policies
foreign currency trAnslAtion

The subsidiaries of Symrise AG maintain their accounting records in the respective functional currency. The functional 
currency is the currency that is predominantly used or generated as cash. As the Group companies conduct their busi
ness independently for financial, commercial and organizational purposes, in most cases the functional currency is the 
local currency. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the euro are translated 
into euros at the rates applicable at the respective period closing date, irrespective of whether they have been hedged or 
not. Expenses and income are translated at the average rate for the period. Any translation differences deriving from 
this process are disclosed by the Symrise Group in Group equity as “cumulative translation differences” with no impact 
on the income statement.

Insofar as the settlement of a monetary item representing an outstanding account receivable from or account payable to 
a foreign business operation is neither planned nor probable in the foreseeable future, such an item represents part of 
the net investment in this foreign business operation. Any translation differences resulting from such items are recog
nized in equity as “cumulative translation differences” with no impact on the income statement and reclassified within 
equity from other comprehensive income to the income statement at the time of the disposal or redemption of the net in
vestment.

Equity components are translated at the historical rates of exchange effective at the time they were treated as an addition 
from a Group perspective. Any translation differences resulting from this process are recognized in equity as “cumu
lative translation differences” with no impact on the income statement. When Group companies are removed from the 
scope of consolidation or interest is reduced through sale, capital reduction or liquidation, the “cumulative translation 
differences,” which had been recognized in other comprehensive income with no impact on the income statement up to 
this point, will now be proportionately reclassified in profit or loss in the same period. 
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Transactions designated in foreign currencies are translated by us into the respective functional currency of our sub
sidiary companies at the rate of exchange that is valid on the day of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities that 
are designated in foreign currencies are measured using the rate of exchange on the reporting date. Any foreign cur
rency translation impacts resulting from operational activities are recorded within cost of sales, whereas any impacts 
resulting from financing activities are recorded within the financial result. 

The following table shows the changes in exchange rates against the euro for the most important currencies relevant to 
the Symrise Group:

Closing rate = € 1 average rate = € 1

Country Currencies   december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013 2012 2013

UK British Pound GBP 0.816 0.833 0.811 0.850

USA US Dollar USD 1.319 1.377 1.285 1.328

Mexico Mexican Peso MXN 17.206 18.027 16.902 16.952

Brazil Brazilian Real BRL 2.700 3.252 2.507 2.867

Singapore Singapore Dollar SGD 1.611 1.739 1.606 1.661

China Chinese Renminbi CNY 8.215 8.334 8.108 8.165

Accounting prActices in countries with hyperinflAtion

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary econo
my are adjusted for the change in purchasing power arising from the inflation before conversion to euros and before 
consolidation. Nonmonetary balance sheet items, which are measured as acquisition costs or amortized cost, as well as 
those amounts reported in the income statement, are adjusted according to a general price index from the time of their 
initial recognition in the financial statements. Monetary items are not adjusted. All components of equity are corrected 
from the time of their allocation according to a general price index. An adjustment of the previous year’s figures from 
the consolidated financial statements is not required pursuant to IAS 21.42 (b). In these cases, all balance sheet items and 
those amounts reported in the income statement are recalculated based on the exchange rate on the reporting date.

recognition of sAles revenue

Revenue from the sale of merchandise and products is shown at the fair value of the amount received or expected to be 
received less any returns, trade discounts and rebates. Sales revenue is recognized when the significant rewards and 
risks deriving from ownership of the merchandise or products sold have been transferred to the buyer and the amount 
of revenue realized can be reliably measured. Sales revenue deriving from services rendered is recognized as soon as the 
service is performed. No sales revenue is recognized if significant risk exists relating to the receipt of return service 
or a possible return of the goods. The transfer of rewards and risks to the buyer is determined in accordance with INCO

TERMS (International Commercial Terms).

government grAnts

Government grants are only recorded when reasonable certainty exists that the conditions attached to them will be 
 complied with and that the grants will be received. Grants are recognized as other operating income in the period in 
which the expenses occur for which the grant is meant to compensate.
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leAses

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor assigns to the lessee the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time in 
return for a payment or series of payments. Leases are classified as either finance or operating leases. Leasing transac
tions that substantially transfer all rewards and risks incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee are classi
fied as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Where Symrise is the lessee in a finance lease, the leased asset is capitalized in the statement of financial position at the 
lower of the fair value or present value of the minimum lease payments at the beginning of the lease term and simulta
neously recognized under financial liabilities. The minimum lease payments essentially comprise financing costs and 
the principal portion of the remaining obligation which is determined according to the effective interest method. The 
leased asset is depreciated by the straightline method over its assumed useful life or the term of the lease, whichever is 
shorter. The Symrise Group has no notable finance leases to report.

Payments made for operating leases are recognized as expenditure in the consolidated income statement on a straight
line basis over the term of the lease agreement. 

Where Symrise is the lessor in an operating lease, the assets involved in the lease agreement are reported in the state
ment of financial position according to the characteristics of these assets. Income from lease agreements is recognized as 
income on a straightline basis over the term of the lease agreement. Costs including depreciation that are incurred in 
connection with lease income are recognized as expenses. The depreciation policies for leased objects requiring depre
ciation and amortization correspond with the normal policies for depreciation.

income tA xes

Income taxes comprise both current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are recognized in the consolidated income state
ment unless they are related to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income in equity with no effect on the 
income statement. 

Current taxes are taxes that are expected to be payable on taxable profits of the current fiscal year, measured using 
the tax rate applicable to the year reported. Additionally, any adjustments to tax expenses for previous years that may 
arise, for example, as a result of audits, are also included here.

Deferred taxes are recognized by applying the socalled liability method to all temporary differences existing at the bal
ance sheet reporting date between the amounts recognized for assets, or liabilities, in the consolidated statement of 
 financial position and the amounts used for taxation purposes as required by IAS 12. No deferred taxes were recognized 
for the following temporary differences:

 the initial recognition of goodwill

 the initial recognition of an asset or a liability relating to a transaction that does not constitute a business combination 
and which affects neither the commercial accounting result nor the taxable result.

The effects of changes in tax rates on deferred taxes is recognized in the income statement, or in equity under other 
comprehensive income, in the reporting period in which the legislative procedures for the tax changes are largely com
pleted. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxes receivable and 
payable and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on a company. Deferred tax assets are recog
nized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future against which deductible tempo
rary differences, unutilized tax loss carry forwards or unutilized tax credits can be offset. 
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Deferred taxes are recognized for all taxable temporary differences involving holdings in subsidiaries (socalled out
side basis differences) except for the amount for which Symrise is able to manage the chronological course of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and if it is likely that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

eArnings per shAre

The Symrise Group reports the basic earnings per share for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the profit attributable to the holders of the parent company’s ordinary shares by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the fiscal year.

Since no option or conversion rights exist for any potential shares to be issued, diluted earnings correspond to basic 
earnings and are therefore not listed separately.

investment propert y

Investment property is property that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and not used for business or held 
for sale as part of normal business activities. These items are initially recognized at their costs including transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, investment property is measured using the fair value model. Value differences resulting 
from remeasurements are recognized in profit or loss (other operating income or expenses). 

business combinAtions And goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. This comprises the recording of identifiable assets 
(including intangible assets that were not previously recognized) and liabilities (including contingent liabilities, but 
not giving consideration to any future restructuring measures) of the acquired business operations at their fair values. 

Goodwill deriving from a business combination represents the excess fair value of the consideration transferred at the 
acquisition date of the business combination over the Group’s share in the fair values of the identifiable assets and lia
bilities acquired. The goodwill is not subject to a scheduled amortization. At least one impairment test is performed each 
year to determine whether impairment is needed. Any acquired goodwill is allocated at the acquisition date to cash 
generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies deriving from the business combination. Ancillary acqui
sition costs incurred are recognized with an effect on profit or loss.

borrowing costs

In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs are included in the costs of an asset as far as the requirements for qualifying 
noncurrent assets are met, meaning assets for which a substantial period of time is  required to prepare them for their 
 intended use or sale. Borrowing costs also include any supplementary costs incurred from the borrowing of funds in 
 addition to interest.

other intAngible Assets

Intangible assets are measured at cost for the purpose of initial recognition. The cost of an intangible asset acquired 
during a business combination corresponds to its fair value at the time of the acquisition. Internally generated intangible 
assets are recognized as assets at cost. Generation costs of an internally generated intangible asset comprise all direct
ly attributable costs that are needed to design, manufacture and process the asset so that it is ready for use according to 
the purposes management intended. 
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For intangible assets, it must be determined whether they have a definite or indefinite useful life. Intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives are not subject to any scheduled amortizations but are rather subject to an annual impairment 
test. As of the reporting date, the Symrise Group holds no intangible assets with an indefinite useful life apart from 
goodwill. For intangible assets with a definite useful life, the costs are amortized in the consolidated income statement 
on a straightline basis over the term of their useful lives: 

intangible assets useful life

Software 3 to 10 years

Recipes 7 to 20 years

Trademarks 6 to 15 years

Customer base 6 to 15 years

Patents and other rights 5 to 20 years

The useful lives and amortization methods for intangible assets are reviewed annually for suitability and prospectively 
adjusted if necessary. In addition, the carrying amounts of capitalized development costs are tested for impairment 
once per year if the asset is not yet in use or more frequently if indications for impairment arise during the course of 
the year.

Intangible assets with a definite useful life are recognized at cost minus cumulative amortizations and cumulative 
 impairments. 

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of intangible assets are recognized at the time of disposal as the differ
ence between the proceeds from disposal and the carrying amounts of the intangible assets in the consolidated income 
statement.

reseArch And development costs

Costs for research activities, i.e. activities that are conducted in order to gain new scientific or chemical knowledge, 
are recognized as expenses at their full amount. For accounting purposes, research activities are defined as costs in con
nection with ongoing or planned examinations that should deliver new scientific or technical findings or insights. 

Development expenses are defined as costs in connection with the application of research results or specialist knowl
edge towards production and production processes as well as services and goods before commercial production or appli
cation. The costs for development activities are capitalized when certain precise requirements are fulfilled: Capitaliza
tion is always necessary if the development costs can be reliably determined and the product is both technically and fi
nancially feasible and if financial benefits that would cover the corresponding development costs are likely. In addition, 
Symrise must have the intention as well as sufficient resources to complete the development process and to use or sell the 
asset generated. Since internal development projects are often subject to government approval procedures and other 
 unforeseeable circumstances, the conditions for capitalizing the costs incurred before the asset is approved are usually 
not met.

propert y, plAnt And equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at cost less accumulated scheduled depreciation and impairment losses. 
If the costs of components for property, plant and equipment are significant (in comparison to the total costs), then these 
components are recognized by Symrise as separate items and they are separately depreciated. 
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Depreciation is charged on a straightline basis in the consolidated income statement based on the following useful lives:

property, plant and equipment useful life

Buildings 20 to 50 years

Plants and machinery 3 to 12 years

Equipment 3 to 20 years

Land is not depreciated at a scheduled rate. Depreciation of leasehold improvements is determined based on their useful 
lives or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. In determining the depreciation period applied, any lease extension 
options are considered if their exercise is probable.

Gains and losses deriving from the disposal of property, plant and equipment are recognized at the time of disposal 
as the difference between the proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the asset in the consolidated income 
statement.

finAnciAl instruments

General Information
A financial instrument is a contract which simultaneously gives rise to a financial asset for one company and to a finan
cial liability or an equity instrument for the other company.

Financial assets particularly include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans receivable and equity instruments 
for another company as well as derivative financial instruments with a positive market value. 

Financial assets are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position if Symrise has a contractual right to 
receive cash or other financial assets from another party. This means that normal market purchases or sales of finan
cial assets, i.e. purchases or sales for which delivery of the financial asset must be made within the period stipulated by 
conventions or the market in which trading takes place, are accounted for on the date of trading. Financial assets are 
initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Transaction costs arising in connection with the acquisition of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are immediately recognized in the income statement. Noninterest
bearing receivables or receivables subject to lower interest rates are initially recognized at the present value of the ex
pected future cash flows. 

Income and expenses as well as gains and losses from financial assets contain impairments and reversals, interest income 
and expenses and dividends as well as gains and losses from the disposal of such assets. Dividend income is recognized 
when earned. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. With the disposal of an asset, neither divi
dends nor interest income are included in the calculation of the net gain or loss.

Financial liabilities generally give rise to a claim for a return of cash or another form of financial asset. These comprise 
nonderivative liabilities and the negative fair values of derivative financial instruments. Nonderivative liabilities par
ticularly comprise bank borrowings, liabilities towards institutional and private investors, trade payables and, to a lesser 
extent, liabilities from financing leases. 
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Nonderivative liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position if Symrise has a contractual 
obligation to transfer cash or other financial assets to another party. Nonderivative financial liabilities are initially 
 recognized at the fair value of the return service received or at the value of the cash received minus transaction costs 
incurred, if applicable. 

Financial instruments are classified based on their nature, into the categories “loans and receivables (LaR),” “financial 
asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss (aFVtPL),” “financial assets held to maturity (HtM),” 
“ financial assets available for sale (AfS)” and “financial liabilities measured at amortized costs (FLAC).” In principle, 
Symrise does not take ad vantage of the option to classify financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss (the fair value option) upon initial recognition. 

The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities is made in accordance with the category to which they 
have been assigned: at amortized cost, at fair value recognized in other comprehensive income or in profit or loss. 

Financial assets are derecognized if the contractual rights regarding payments from financial assets no longer exist or 
the financial assets are transferred with all of their fundamental risks and rewards. Financial liabilities are derecognized 
if the contractual obligations are settled, eliminated or expired.

Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are recognized at their fair value and are initially recorded at the time when the contract 
for the derivative financial instrument is entered into. Instruments that are not to be used for hedging purposes are 
classified by the company as “held for trading.” Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and recognized 
as financial assets or as financial liabilities. The fair value of traded derivative financial instruments corresponds to 
their market value. If no market values exist, the present value is determined using recognized financial models. Deriv
ative financial instruments are neither held nor issued for speculative purposes. 

Cash Flow Hedge
Symrise employs derivative financial instruments to hedge the currency risk from its operative business and its financ
ing activities.

When hedging operating activities, selected future cash flows from trade payables and receivables already recognized 
in the statement of financial position as well as selected future cash flows from highly probable planned transactions 
are hedged against currency risk through forward contracts. The hedging of currency risk occurs on a rolling basis over 
a period of about six months up to a maximum hedging ratio of 50 % of the open currency items of a company.

Insofar as the strict requirements of IAS 39 for the application of cash flow hedge accounting are fulfilled, the cumulative 
measurement gains/losses will be initially recognized with no effect on net income in the cash flow hedge reserve and 
then reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the hedged underlying transaction influences the net result for 
the period. 

Measurement gains/losses from the derivative financial instrument will be reclassified to sales or cost of sales depend
ing on the underlying transaction (trade payables or receivables in foreign currency). There they will be balanced with 
the actual currency gains and losses from operating business.
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Measurement gains/losses are recognized in the financial result insofar as currency risk hedges are used to hedge 
 financing activities.

Cash flow hedges reduce volatility from exchange rate effects. The requirements resulting from IAS 39 for application 
of hedge accounting are met by Symrise as follows: When hedging measures are begun, both the relationship between 
the hedging instrument employed and the hedged item as well as the objective and strategy surrounding the hedge are 
documented. This includes both the concrete allocation of the hedging instrument to the expected foreign currency receiv
able/liability as well as the estimation of the degree of effectiveness of the hedging instrument implemented. The effec
tiveness of existing hedging measures is continuously monitored using the cumulative dollar offset method. When hedge 
relationships become ineffective, they are immediately reversed through profit or loss.

Even if some forward contracts are not presented as cash flow hedge accounting, these also represent a hedge from a fi
nancial point of view. In such cases, the measurement effects of the derivative financial instrument immediately bal
ance out with the effects from the measurement of the foreign currency receivable or liability within the cost of sales.

Trade Receivables and Other Receivables
Trade receivables and other receivables are measured, where applicable by applying the effective interest method, with 
their market value at the date they arose minus any impairment amount. 

Other noncurrent receivables are measured by applying the effective interest method at amortized cost. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amor
tized cost.

Financial Assets Available for Sale
Financial assets available for sale are nonderivative financial instruments that were designated as available for sale or 
cannot be classified in any other valuation category.

Financial assets available for sale are recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. After their 
initial recognition, they are recognized at their fair value if it is directly ascertainable based on market data. Otherwise 
the measurement occurs at amortized cost. Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income 
taking into account deferred taxes. The reclassification of changes in valuation not recognized in profit or loss in the 
net result for the period occurs at the time of disposal. If the fair value of financial assets available for sale falls signifi
cantly or over a longer period of time below amortized cost, the impairment expense is immediately recognized through 
profit or loss. If the reasons for the impairment cease to exist, the reversal for the impairment is recognized in the sub
sequent periods. 

Financial assets available for sale are recognized as either current or noncurrent assets according to management’s plans 
regarding the sale.
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Assets held for sAle

“Assets held for sale” consist of noncurrent assets and disposal groups of a company, which are classified as “held for sale” 
in accordance with IFRS 5. These are recognized at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value minus cost of 
sale. Insofar as liabilities relating to the respective disposal groups are identified, then these are also classified as “held 
for sale.”

inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. The costs include the cost of procuring the invento
ries, manufacturing or conversion costs and other costs incurred to bring the inventories to their existing location and 
condition. Net realizable value is determined as the estimated sales value minus any estimated costs of completion and 
any necessary selling and marketing expenses.

Raw materials are valued using the weighted average procurement cost. Finished goods and work in progress are valued 
using the cost of direct materials, direct labor as well as other direct costs and a reasonable proportion of manufac
turing and material overheads, based on normal capacity utilization of production facilities, excluding borrowing costs.

pensions And other post- employment benefits

The companies within the Group have various pension schemes set up in accordance with the regulations and 
 practices of the countries in which they operate. Additionally, agreements exist to provide additional postemploy
ment healthcare benefits.

Defined Contribution Plans
A defined contribution plan is a plan under the terms of which a company pays fixed contributions to other entities until 
the termination of the employment relationship and has no further legal or constructive obligation to pay additional 
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in 
the consolidated income statement as they become due.

Defined Benefit Plans
Defined benefit plans comprise all pension plans other than defined contribution plans. Claims relating to defined bene
fit plans are calculated separately for each plan with the actuarially calculated present value of the earned benefit enti
tlement. This is done by estimating the future pension benefit amount that employees have become entitled to in return 
for their service in current and prior periods; the amount of this pension benefit is discounted to determine its present 
value (defined benefit obligation, DBO). The discount rate is determined as the yield at the reporting date on highquality 
corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate to the payment terms of the Group’s obligations and that 
are denominated in the same currency as the pension benefits are expected to be paid. The computation is performed 
annually by an actuary using the projected unit credit method. If claim entitlements are covered by plan assets, the fair 
value of these assets is offset with the present value. The net amount is recognized as either a pension liability or asset.

Changes to the present value of defined benefit obligations due to performance are designated as service costs. This item 
is comprised of current and past service costs as well as gains/losses from settlements and is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss in the operating result. Expenses from interest accrued on pension provisions as well as the income from 
plan assets based on the discount rate are recognized in the financial result.
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Remeasurements of net debt from defined benefit plans contain actuarial gains and losses from the change in present 
value of the defined benefit obligation as well as the return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest. 
They are immediately recognized in other comprehensive income with no impact on profit or loss and disclosed in equity 
in the reserve for remeasurements (pensions).

provisions

A provision is recognized when it is more likely than not that a present legal or constructive obligation due to a past 
event exists, which makes the outflow of resources with financial benefits probable, and a reliable estimate of the size 
of the obligation is possible. 

The size of the provision is regularly adjusted if new knowledge becomes available or new conditions arise. Noncurrent 
provisions are recognized at the present value of the expected obligation amounts as of the reporting date. The discount 
rates are regularly adjusted to current market interest rates.

Allocations to provisions are generally recognized through profit or loss in the respective expense category of the affected 
functions. A positive or negative difference that resulted from the fulfillment of the obligation is recognized at its 
 carrying amount under the corresponding functional expense. Where positive differences from outside the period under 
review are concerned, these are recognized under other operating income.

impAirment

Trade Receivables
The following factors are considered in analyzing the impairment of trade receivables:

 Initially, the financial situation of the individual customers is considered and impairments for individual customer 
balances are booked if it is probable that the contractually agreed receivable will not be paid.

 Following this, impairments for trade receivables based on homogeneous receivable classes are formed that corre
spond to the associated risk of loss, past receivable losses as well as general market conditions such as trade embargoes 
and natural catastrophes. We create a general bad debt allowance for impairment considerations for a portfolio of re
ceivables when we are of the opinion that the age of the receivables represents an indicator that it is probable that a loss 
has occurred or that we will not collect some or all of the amounts due.

Objective evidence of impairment is identified on the basis of the following triggers:

 substantial financial difficulties of the debtor;

 breach of contract;

 concessions to the customer, for economic or legal reasons relating to their financial difficulty;

 insolvency or a major restructuring of the debtor is likely;

 observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the expected future cash flows from a group of fi
nancial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the indi
vidual financial assets in the group (general bad debt allowance).
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If, in subsequent periods, the reasons for impairment no longer exist, a reversal will be recognized through profit or 
loss. If a receivable that is already impaired becomes classified as unrecoverable, it will be derecognized accordingly as 
a result.

Impairments of trade receivables are partially performed by applying value adjustment accounts. The decision as to 
whether a default is covered by a value adjustment account or through a direct reduction of the receivable depends on 
the degree of reliability with which the risk situation can be assessed. Impairments are recognized under selling and 
marketing expenses. Due to differing operative segments and differing regional conditions, this decision is made by the 
individual portfolio managers. 

Other Financial Assets
Financial assets are measured at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impair
ment. An impairment loss is recorded for financial assets if objective indications exist that one or more events have had 
a negative influence on future cash flows deriving from the asset.

An impairment loss for financial assets recognized at amortized cost is determined as the difference between its car
rying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
An impairment loss for financial assets held as available for sale is determined by the fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for possible impairment on an individual basis. All other financial as
sets are collected in groups that share similar default risk profiles and then measured. 

Gains and losses deriving from the measurement of financial assets that are classified as available for sale are generally 
recognized in other comprehensive income. As far as an indication of an impairment for assets classified as available 
for sale exists, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value 
minus impairment losses previously established for the financial asset being considered – is removed from other com
prehensive income and recognized in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses for equity instruments clas
sified as available for sale once recognized in the consolidated income statement are not retrospectively recognized in 
profit or loss, but in other comprehensive income with no effect on profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognized 
in other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated income statement at the time of disposal. 

Non-financial Assets
At each balance sheet reporting date, the Group assesses whether indications exist that a nonfinancial asset is impaired. 
The carrying amount of the asset is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of the asset is not covered by its recoverable amount. If such indications exist, or if a test for impair
ment of an asset needs to be made, an estimate of the recoverable amount is made. The recoverable amount of an asset 
is the higher of the fair value of the asset or cashgenerating unit minus any costs to sell it and its value in use. The re
coverable amount must be determined for each individual asset unless the asset itself does not generate any cash in
flows that are largely independent of those generated by other assets or groups of assets. If the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and an impairment loss is recorded and 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. In order to determine the value in use, estimated future cash flows deriv
ing from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pretax discounting factor. 

Impairment losses are recorded in the expense categories that reflect the function of the impaired asset.
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At each closing date, a review is made to check whether any indications exist that any impairment loss recognized in 
an earlier reporting period is no longer required, or could be reduced. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated. Any previously recognized impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s recoverable amount now 
exceeds its carrying amount as a result of a change in its estimated value since the time when the impairment loss was 
originally recognized. The reversal of the impairment loss must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds the amor
tized cost of the asset which would have resulted if no impairment loss had been recognized in previous years. Such re
versals are to be recognized directly in the net result for the period. Following the reversal of an impairment loss, the 
scheduled amortization or depreciation for future periods is adjusted as necessary in order to systematically spread the 
adjusted carrying amount of the asset minus any expected future residual value over its remaining useful life.

Goodwill
In accordance with IAS 36, goodwill is tested for impairment at least once per year. If events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that an impairment loss may need to be recognized, then a test is carried out more frequently.

For impairment tests, goodwill is to be allocated to the cashgenerating unit within the Group that is intended to benefit 
from the synergies of the business combination. Every unit with goodwill allocated to it represents the lowest level 
within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and is no larger than a business seg
ment as defined by IFRS 8.

Any impairment loss is ascertained by determining the recoverable amount attributable to the cashgenerating unit 
to which the goodwill relates. The recoverable amount of a cashgenerating unit is the higher of the fair value minus any 
costs to sell it and its value in use. If the recoverable amount attributable to the cashgenerating unit is less than its 
 carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. Impairment losses on goodwill may not be reversed in future peri
ods. Symrise carries out its annual impairment test for goodwill on September 30.

Within the Symrise Group, the two segments Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition have been defined as cashgenerating 
units, whereby as of September 30, 2013, goodwill has been allocated in the amount of € 191.8 million (December 31, 
2012: € 163.1 million) to the segment Scent & Care and in the amount of € 356.3 million (December 31, 2012: € 335.2 mil
lion) to the segment Flavor & Nutrition. The recoverable amount is represented by the fair value less costs to sell and 
was determined as the present value of future cash flows. The future cash flows were derived from the Symrise Group’s 
planning information. The calculation of the present value of estimated future cash flows is mainly based on assump
tions relating to future selling prices, or respectively sales volumes and costs while taking into account any changed eco
nomic circumstances. In applying value in use, the cashgenerating unit is measured as currently used. Net cash 
 inflows outside of the planning period are determined on the basis of longterm business expectations using individual 
growth rates derived from the respective market information.
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The planning information is based on a detailed planning horizon for the fiscal years 2014 to 2017. A growth rate of 0.5 % 
was assumed for the measurement of perpetual annuity. The cash flows determined in this manner were discounted 
with an identical weighted aftertax capital cost factor of 7.76 % (2012: 7.46 %), since the peer groups used for the determi
nation are identically structured. There were no indications of impairment for the fiscal year. The cost of equity and 
debt was weighted with a capital structure based on a group of similar companies. Capital market data and data from 
similar companies were used in determining the cost of equity and debt.

In performing the impairment test, Symrise carried out sensitivity analyses. For this purpose, the discounting factor 
was increased by 1.0 percentage point while planned sales revenue growth was reduced to 0.5 %. These variations in the 
measurement parameters would also not have resulted in any required impairment of capitalized goodwill.

determining fAir vAlue

Many accounting policies require that a fair value is determined for financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities. 
The fair values for measurement purposes have been determined using the methods described below. Further infor
mation regarding the assumptions used to determine fair value is contained in the notes specific to the particular asset 
or liability.

Financial Instruments – General Principles
The classification of measurement techniques used to determine the fair value of the input factors is performed in three 
levels in accordance with the threetiered fair value hierarchy pursuant to IFRS 13:

 Input factors at Level 1 are (nonadjusted) prices quoted for identical assets or liabilities in active markets accessible 
to the company as of the date of measurement.

 Input factors at Level 2 are, in contrast to the market price quotations from Level 1, those that are directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability.

 Input factors at Level 3 are input factors that are not observable for assets or liabilities.

Property, Plant and Equipment
The fair value for items of property, plant and equipment recognized as a result of a business combination is based on 
market values. The market value for real estate is based on the estimated value at which the real estate could be sold 
on the day of measurement under the presumption that this would represent a business transaction between a willing 
buyer and a willing seller under the terms of which both parties operate knowledgeably, prudently and without com
pulsion and the transaction is preceded by adequate marketing activities. The market values of plant, equipment, fixtures 
and fittings are based on quoted prices for similar items.

Intangible Assets
The fair value of recipes recognized as a result of a business combination is based on the discounted estimated royalty 
payments that were avoided as a result of the recipe becoming owned or is based on the discounted cash flows that are 
expected to derive from use of the recipe. The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows 
that are expected to derive from the use and possible sale of the assets.
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Investment Property
The fair value for investment property is determined by an independent, qualified valuer using recognized measurement 
techniques, insofar as it is necessary. If prices from recent market transactions with comparable property are available, 
these transactions are used as references for determining the fair value.

3.  seGment inFormation
description of segments where reporting is required

For internal reporting purposes, we present our business activities in a number of different ways, mainly based on seg
ments and geographical regions. Based on this reporting information, the Executive Board, which carries as Chief Oper
ating Decision Maker responsibility for the success of the various segments and the allocation of resources, assesses 
the business activities from a number of angles. Operational segments are divided into business divisions. With the busi
ness divisions Scent & Care and Flavor & Nutrition, we have two segments, organized according to our products, for 
which mandatory reporting is required. 

scent & cAre

The Scent & Care segment develops, produces and sells fragrances, cosmetic ingredients, aroma molecules and mint 
aromas and also develops specific application processes for such substances. The products and application processes 
that are developed by Symrise in the Scent & Care segment are used by customers in the manufacture of perfumes, per
sonal care products, cosmetic products, dental care products, cleaning products and detergents.

flAvor & nutrition

The Flavor & Nutrition segment develops, produces and sells flavors that are used by customers in the production of food 
products (savory and sweet food products as well as dairy products) and beverages. Symrise works with a modular 
 concept which allows them to offer customers both individual aroma components and complete product solutions for end
consumers.

The segment reporting by region is aligned to the location of assets. Sales to customers are reported in the geographical 
region in which the customer is located. Countries are grouped together for internal managerial accounting and re
porting purposes into the regions EAME (Europe, Africa, Middle East), North America, Asia/Pacific and Latin America.

meAsurement criteriA for the segments

Internal control and reporting in the Symrise Group is based on the accounting principles according to IFRS shown in 
note 2.

Transactions are only conducted between the two segments to a limited extent. These are transacted at market prices 
and have not been separately disclosed for materiality reasons. External sales represent the sales of the two segments 
with third parties and thus in their sum are equal to the consolidated sales of the Symrise Group.
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The income and expenditure of the Symrise Group’s central units and functions are completely included in the two seg
ments Flavor & Nutrition and Scent & Care based on performancerelated, or utilizationrelated, criteria. The result 
related determining factor for the management of the segments is the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (EBITDA). The depreciation and amortization 
charges that can be directly attributed to each segment are included in the determination of the segment contribution. 
The financial result is not included as the segments are mainly centrally financed. This is the reason why financial 
 income and expenses are disclosed below at Group level and combined together in the form of the financial result. Taxes 
are treated in a similar manner so that net income after tax is reported combined to give the consolidated net income. 

The capital investment made by a segment comprises all expenditure incurred during the reporting period for the pur
pose of acquiring property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

segment Assets/liAbilities

The Executive Board, which is the chief operating decision maker, does not receive all information with respect to seg
ment assets and liabilities. The allocation of goodwill to segments is disclosed in note 25.

segment results

2012 
t€ scent & Care Flavor & nutrition segment total = Group total

External sales 882,803 852,131 1,734,934

Cost of sales – 547,457 – 486,922 – 1,034,379

Gross profit 335,346 365,209 700,555

Other operating income 8,148 7,597 15,745

Selling and marketing expenses – 126,061 – 141,246 – 267,307

Research and development expenses – 60,147 – 53,633 – 113,780

Administration expenses – 38,061 – 42,699 – 80,760

Other operating expenses – 550 – 1,265 – 1,815

income from operations/eBit 118,675 133,963 252,638

    

Amortization of intangible assets 24,455 18,615 43,070

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,077 25,208 43,285

Impairment reversals on property, plant and equipment – 140 0 – 140

eBitda 161,067 177,786 338,853

    

Financial result   – 40,099

income before income taxes   212,539

Income tax expense   – 55,047

net income   157,492

    

other segment information    

Capital investments    

 Intangible assets 13,576 5,036 18,612

 Property, plant and equipment 23,310 28,424 51,734
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2013 
t€ scent & Care Flavor & nutrition segment total = Group total

External sales 960,436 869,950 1,830,386

Cost of sales – 567,172 – 492,376 – 1,059,548

Gross profit 393,264 377,574 770,838

Other operating income 8,686 7,379 16,065

Selling and marketing expenses – 143,775 – 146,189 – 289,964

Research and development expenses – 69,092 – 57,903 – 126,995

Administration expenses – 39,938 – 45,090 – 85,028

Other operating expenses – 1,037 – 752 – 1,789

income from operations/eBit 148,108 135,019 283,127

    

Amortization of intangible assets 28,012 17,568 45,580

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,428 26,031 44,459

Impairment reversals on property, plant and equipment – 12 – 17 – 29

eBitda 194,536 178,601 373,137

    

Financial result   – 37,273

income before income taxes   245,854

Income tax expense   – 73,519

net income   172,335

    

other segment information    

Capital investments    

 Intangible assets 76,713 4,349 81,062

 Property, plant and equipment 25,346 36,450 61,796

There were no customers accounting for more than 10 % of Group sales either in the reporting year or previous year.

result by region

2012 
t€ eame1) north america asia/pacific latin america total

sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 785,408 316,813 404,500 228,213 1,734,934

 Domestic     204,096

 Foreign     1,530,838

      

other segment information      

non-current assets2)     1,251,393

 Domestic     685,679

 Foreign     565,714

      

Capital investments      

 Intangible assets 12,466 3,557 2,185 404 18,612

 Property, plant and equipment 31,110 3,405 8,351 8,868 51,734

1) Europe, Africa, Middle East 
2) Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets
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2013 
t€ eame1) north america asia/pacific latin america total

sales      

Sales by region (point of delivery) 828,298 350,322 419,572 232,194 1,830,386

 Domestic     211,925

 Foreign     1,618,461

      

other segment information      

non-current assets2)     1,276,750

 Domestic     740,880

 Foreign     535,870

      

Capital investments      

 Intangible assets 3,622 69,966 1,338 6,136 81,062

 Property, plant and equipment 35,102 7,301 11,758 7,635 61,796

1) Europe, Africa, Middle East 
2) Excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES ON ThE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

4.  sales
Sales revenue results primarily from the sale of products. Please refer to the segment reporting information that is pre
sented in note 3 for a presentation of sales by segment and region.

5.  Cost oF sales
The cost of sales mainly consists of expenses for raw materials as well as production costs. Amortizations for recipes 
and foreign currency effects are also included. Please refer to the segment reporting information that is presented in 
note 3 for a presentation of cost of sales by segment.

6.  other oper atinG inCome

t€ 2012 2013

Income from the reversal of impairments on receivables 562 2,436

Income from the reversal of provisions and other liabilities 4,905 1,934

Income from service units 1,699 1,859

Income from the transfer of exchange differences from the currency reserve 3,243 1,681

Income from the change in fair value of investment property 0 1,673

Gains from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 355 1,396

Income from government subsidies 1,521 1,056

Miscellaneous other income 3,460 4,030

total 15,745 16,065

Income from the reversal of impairments on receivables mainly results from incoming payments for receivables previ
ously impaired.
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Income from the reversal of provisions and other liabilities affects such obligations, where utilization is no longer 
 expected or where it is certain it will not be utilized. This mainly relates to insignificant individual items.

Income from service units results from services rendered by Group companies to third parties.

Income from the transfer of exchange differences from the currency reserve resulted from the capital reduction at a 
subsidiary in Singapore.

The details on investment property are listed in note 24.

Gains from the disposal of property, plant and equipment were mainly generated from the partial sale of property in 
Switzerland.

Government subsidies were mainly granted in France, China and Germany to promote research projects. 

The overall figure of the remaining other income comprises various individually insignificant cases that are not related 
to the sale of products.

7.  personnel e xpenses
The following personnel expenses are included in the consolidated income statement:

t€ 2012 2013

Wages and salaries – 297,584 – 318,993

Social security expenses – 56,206 – 61,652

Pension expenses (excluding interest expenses) 6,366 – 12,419

Termination benefits – 1,913 – 3,655

Multi-year performance-based remuneration – 3,336 – 1,136

total – 352,673 – 397,855

Social security expenses include social security contributions that the organization is required to make by law. These 
include defined contribution plan benefits of € 12.9 million (2012: € 12.2 million).

Pension expenses mainly consist of employer contributions to company supplementary benefits. The freeze of pension 
provisions in the USA on April 30, 2012, resulted in oneoff income amounting to € 12.5 million in the previous year. 
This led to negative pension expenses in connection with the resulting, reduced allocations to pension provisions. Inter
est deriving from pension provisions is disclosed as a component of the financial result as of December 31, 2013 (see 
note 11).
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Termination benefits were incurred as part of the reorganization of individual departments.

The multiyear performancebased remuneration affects the Executive Board and select employees. The annual bonuses 
and bonuses for other employees are recognized in wages and salaries.

The average number of employees employed within the Symrise Group was 5,914 (2012: 5,580).

Fte 2012 2013

Manufacturing and technology 2,234 2,411

Sales and marketing 1,464 1,546

Research and development 1,109 1,158

Administration 423 436

Service units 350 363

number of employees 5,580 5,914

Apprentices and trainees 118 116

total 5,698 6,030

8.  sellinG and marKe tinG e xpenses
Selling and marketing expenses mainly include expenses from the period for advertising and customer service as well 
as distribution and storage for finished products. Transport costs and expenses for commissions and licenses are also 
 included. Please refer to the segment reporting information that is presented in note 3 for a presentation of selling and 
marketing expenses by segment.

9.  rese arCh and de velopment e xpenses
In addition to the costs of Symrise’s own research departments, this item also includes costs for external research and 
development services and trial activities. Along with basic research, activities in this area include the development of 
products to generate sales revenue as well as new or improved processes to reduce the cost of sales. Such costs cannot 
be capitalized.

10.  administr ation e xpenses

t€ 2012 2013

Information technology – 26,726 – 28,190

Finance and controlling – 21,644 – 21,649

human resources – 11,291 – 11,970

Other administration expenses – 21,099 – 23,219

total – 80,760 – 85,028
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11.  F inanCial result

t€ 2012 2013

Interest income   

 from bank deposits 904 1,000

 other 1,430 157

interest income 2,334 1,157

Other financial income 238 325

Result from investments in associates 0 40

Financial income 2,572 1,522

   

Interest expenses   

 from bank loans – 3,876 – 3,321

 from other loans – 17,802 – 17,762

 other – 17,967 – 13,879

interest expenses – 39,645 – 34,962

Foreign currency gains/losses primarily from internal Group lending – 2,212 – 2,549

Other financial expenses – 814 – 1,284

Financial expenses – 42,671 – 38,795

    

Financial result – 40,099 – 37,273

 thereof interest result – 37,311 – 33,805

 thereof other financial result – 2,788 – 3,468

Interest for liabilities with a fixed interest rate such as the Eurobond or the US private placement are recognized under 
the interest expenses for other borrowings. Other interest expenses mainly comprise the compounding of pension pro
visions amounting to € 11.0 million (2012: € 14.1 million).

12.  inCome ta xes
Current taxes paid or owed in individual countries and deferred taxes are disclosed as income taxes.

t€ 2012 2013

Current tax expense – 53,197 – 76,666

Deferred tax expense/income   

 from losses carried forward – 8,347 – 14,550

 from temporary differences 6,497 17,697

total deferred tax expense/income – 1,850 3,147

income taxes – 55,047 – 73,519

Income tax expenses in the year under review increased by € 18.5 million to € 73.5 million, which is mainly due to 
the consolidated earnings before taxes being € 33.3 million higher. The tax rate for the reporting year amounted to 29.9 % 
(2012: 25.9 %).

The increase in current income tax expense from € 23.5 million to € 76.7 million primarily resulted from improved con
solidated net income and the creation of tax provisions related to ongoing tax audits. The change in deferred tax expenses 
mainly resulted from a revaluation of tax losses carried forward as well as temporary differences in Singapore relating 
to a development and expansion certificate granted, which reduces the tax rate to 5 %. Furthermore, deferred tax expenses 
were influenced through the valuation of foreign currency items as well as ongoing depreciation and amortization.
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derivAtion of the effective tA x rAte

The income taxes disclosed in the year reported, amounting to € 73.5 million (2012: € 55.0 million), can be reconciled 
to an “expected” income tax expense, which would have arisen if the statutory tax rates, giving consideration to different 
local tax rates, had been applied to earnings before tax according to German Commercial Code (HGB):

t€ 2012 2013

Consolidated earnings before taxes 212,539 245,854

Expected tax expense at local tax rates – 60,135 – 69,361

Tax effect from previous periods 2,780 – 10,606

Tax effect from tax-free income 10,031 8,495

Tax effect from non-deductible expenses – 2,299 – 3,559

Non-recoverable withholding tax – 4,953 – 1,344

Tax effect from measurement adjustments to deferred tax assets – 1,157 997

Tax effect from change in tax rate 364 2,019

Other tax effects 322 – 160

income tax expense – 55,047 – 73,519

The effect from taxfree income resulted from foreign tax benefits.

Tax effects from previous years resulted primarily from adjustments related to ongoing tax audits and the consideration 
of effects from continuing risk assessment.

Tax effects from nonrecoverable withholding tax decreased considerably, which is due to a reduction in dividends.

The proposed dividend for the 2013 fiscal year (see note 38) will not have any income tax consequences for Symrise. 
 Future income and withholding taxes resulting from planned distributions of profits of Group companies will be recog
nized under deferred tax liabilities. 

No deferred tax liabilities were recognized for temporary differences from interests in subsidiaries amounting to 
€ 102.4 million in 2013 and € 168.2 million in 2012 as these gains are either not subject to taxation on payout or are 
 expected to be reinvested for indefinite periods of time.

The amount of income tax directly charged or credited to other comprehensive income breaks down as follows:

t€

2012 (adjusted)* 2013

Before taxes taxes after taxes Before taxes taxes after taxes

Exchange rate differences resulting from the 
translation of foreign operations – 10,305 521 – 9,784 – 57,395 2,034 – 55,361

Financial assets available for sale – 1,263 378 – 885 – 41 3 – 38

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges) 888 – 242 646 37 – 16 21

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans – 87,111 23,300 – 63,811 44,712 – 13,955 30,757

Tax rate change 0 – 556 – 556 0 – 73 – 73

other comprehensive income – 97,791 23,401 – 74,390 – 12,687 – 12,007 – 24,694

Current taxes  – 359   421  

Deferred taxes  23,760   – 12,428  

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.
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13.  amortiz ation and depreCiation
Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment are visible in the movement summary 
in notes 25 and 26.

14.  e arninGs per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the holders of the parent company’s ordinary 
shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

No option or conversion rights were issued in 2012 or 2013. As a consequence, there is no dilutive effect on the earnings 
per share. The diluted and basic results are therefore identical.

  2012 2013

earnings per share (€) 1.33 1.46

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (in shares) 118,173,300 118,173,300

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES ON ThE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

15.  Cash and Cash eQuivalents

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Cash 104,542 120,803

Cash equivalents 12,903 14,540

total 117,445 135,343

Cash and cash equivalents mainly consist of balances with banks whose carrying amounts correspond to their fair values.

16.  tr ade reCeivaBles

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Trade receivables 310,715 329,168

Allowance for doubtful accounts – 8,509 – 7,621

total 302,206 321,547

Trade receivables are not secured. The organization therefore bears the risk of default on  payment of the receivables. 
However, the company’s experience in the past was that only insignificant cases of default arose with some individual 
customers. The carrying amount of the trade receivables represents their fair value.
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The due dates for trade receivables at the reporting date and the allowances therefore have developed as follows:

t€

Carrying 
amount 
(gross)

no 
allowance 

set up  
and not 
overdue

Full or 
partial 

allowance 
set up

specific 
allowance 

set up

overdue 
for  

1–30  
days

overdue 
for  

31–90 
days

overdue 
for  

91–360 
days

overdue 
for  

more than 
1 year

overdue 
but no 

allowance 
set up

december 31, 2012 
Trade receivables 310,715 266,385 44,330 8,509 28,304 7,318 4,365 4,343 0

december 31, 2013 
Trade receivables 329,168 283,668 45,500 7,621 29,102 8,273 2,833 5,292 0

The companies grant credit terms that are customary within the industry and the territories in which they operate.

Allowances for trade receivables during the year under review developed as follows:

t€ 2012 2013

as of January 1 6,696 8,509

Translation differences – 6 – 233

Allocations set up 4,600 3,476

Utilized in the reporting year – 611 – 664

Reversals – 2,170 – 3,467

as of december 31 8,509 7,621

The risk of default for trade receivables is limited due to the large number of customers and their widely diversified activ
ities in different markets.

The expenses deriving from the setup of allowances for trade receivables and debt writeoffs are disclosed under selling 
and marketing expenses.

17.  inventories

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Raw materials 133,317 138,264

Finished products 131,172 136,409

Unfinished products 95,703 106,616

Impairment losses – 12,351 – 12,722

total 347,841 368,567

The cost of sales include material costs without foreign currency effects amounting to € 789.6 million (2012: € 787.1 
 million).
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18.  other Current asse ts and reCeivaBles

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Other taxes 20,809 19,347

Other prepayments 13,455 15,497

Miscellaneous other assets 1,430 1,402

total 35,694 36,246

Other prepayments contain particularly payments made for inclusion on customer supplier listings, which are dissolved 
over the term of the contract, as well as prepayments on customer bonuses.

Other assets and receivables are not secured. Symrise carries the risk that defaults can occur on receivables up to the 
carrying amount. However, only insignificant cases of default have occurred in the past. This item only contains slight 
impairments, which is why the development of the impairment account is not presented for materiality reasons.

19.  Current FinanCial asse ts

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Security deposits, guarantees and rental deposits 984 992

Receivables from customers and employees 2,205 644

Other financial assets 909 688

total 4,098 2,324

20.  deFerred ta x asse ts/liaBilit ies
Deferred tax assets and liabilities from temporary differences are made up of the following items:

t€

december 31, 2012 (adjusted)* december 31, 2013

tax assets
tax 

liabilities
income/

expenses (–) tax assets
tax 

liabilities
income/

expenses (–)

Intangible assets 15,683 68,316 9,947 15,160 58,590 9,203

Property, plant and equipment 6,582 45,366 – 161 6,723 43,801 1,706

Financial assets 106 18 – 5 106 32 – 14

Inventories 9,862 248 1,464 10,389 248 527

Trade receivables, prepayments and other assets 2,737 4,169 2,361 3,632 1,855 3,208

Provisions for pensions 50,171 151 – 5,482 37,359 7 65

Other provisions and other liabilities 9,161 7,619 – 1,627 9,786 7,073 2,002

Interests in subsidiaries 0 2,993 0 0 1,993 1,000

Losses carried forward 22,787 0 – 8,347 8,237 0 – 14,550

sub-total 117,089 128,880 – 1,850 91,392 113,599 3,147

Offsetting – 57,989 – 57,989  – 45,200 – 45,200  

total 59,100 70,891 – 1,850 46,192 68,399 3,147

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.

Deferred tax income amounted to € 3.1 million in 2013 in contrast to a deferred tax expense of € 1.9 million in 2012.
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The change in the deferred tax expense resulted primarily from the valuation of foreign currency items as well as 
 ongoing depreciation and amortization. With regard to the change in provisions for pensions and the related change in 
deferred taxes, please see note 2.2.

The change in deferred tax assets for tax losses carried forward is primarily due to their use in France, the USA and 
Brazil. These were also influenced by the revaluation of tax losses carried forward in Singapore related to a development 
and expansion certificate, which reduces the tax rate to 5 %.

Overall, corporation tax losses carried forward amounting to € 70.6 million (2012: € 102.5 million) existed as of the 
 reporting date. Additionally, tax losses carried forward amounting to € 3.7 million (2012: € 4.7 million) existed from 
commercial taxes in Germany. Of the corporation tax losses, € 7.4 million are subject to time limits.

The use of tax losses carried forward and therefore the measurement of the corresponding deferred tax assets are 
 substantiated through tax planning. As of the reporting date, there was no impairment on deferred tax assets (2012: 
€ 1.1 million).

The calculation of foreign income taxes is based on the particular country’s legal regulations. The tax rates of the indi
vidual companies range between 0 % and 38 % without considering financing companies. 

Foreign currency translation effects are contained in the deferred tax assets and liabilities amounting to € 0.8 million 
in the year under review (2012: € 1.0 million).

21.  other non - Current asse ts and reCeivaBles

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Prepayments 8,086 6,814

Miscellaneous other assets 190 293

total 8,276 7,107

Payments made for inclusion on customer supplier listings are recognized in prepayments. In the 2013 fiscal year, we 
once again managed to gain or renew some important customer core list positions. The payments made for these in
clusions will be dissolved over the term of the contract. The reduction resulted from the reclassification of elements which 
have become current to other current assets and receivables.

22.  non - Current FinanCial asse ts

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Balance on fiduciary account 0 7,263

Financial assets (available for sale) 14,797 5,317

Receivables from customers, employees and suppliers 681 1,380

Security deposits, guarantees and rental deposits 1,330 1,073

Other financial assets 79 79

total 16,887 15,112

The balance on the fiduciary account is related to the acquisition performed in the first quarter of 2013 (see note 27).
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The item financial assets contains securities that have to be held in compliance with legislative requirements for pen
sion obligations in Austria as well as other investments. The decrease resulted from the reclassification of the shares in 
Probi AB, Sweden, from “as available for sale” to “investments in associates” (see note 23). 

The rise in receivables from customers, employees and suppliers mainly was due to a loan amounting to € 1 million 
which Symrise Inc., USA, provided to the supplier Ceapro Inc., a Canadian biotechnology group, for the completion of its 
hightech site in Edmonton.

23.  investments in assoCiates
The successive purchase of additional shares in Probi AB, Sweden, led Symrise’s interests in the company to exceed 
the 20 % threshold, meaning that financial assets previously categorized as available for sale were reclassified as invest
ments in associates in February 2013.

Since the equity method is to be applied to all shares and not only to the newly acquired shares, a retrospective adjust
ment of the old shares was performed. The valuation of the old shares as well as the reversal of previous valuation effects 
was performed with no effect on profit or loss through the fair value reserve (T€ 926) as well as through the accumulated 
profit /deficit (T€ 1). 

The result from the companies accounted for under the equity method amounted to T€ 40 in 2013 and is a component of 
the financial result (see note 11).

In 2013, the Group received dividends of T€ 151 from its shares in financial assets recognized using the equity method.

Probi AB, Sweden, is listed on the Swedish stock exchange (NASDAQ OMX). Based on its closing price of SEK 39.50 on 
the closing date, the fair value of the shares held by Symrise amounts to SEK 110.7 million (€ 12.4 million).

The following summarized financial information was taken from the last two annual financial statements published 
on December 31, 2013 and 2012 by Probi AB, Sweden. The financial information disclosed below is based on the entire 
company (100 %):

 Assets SEK 149.7 million (2012: SEK 136.7 million)
 Liabilities SEK 18.7 million (2012: SEK 13.9 million)
 Sales SEK 102.2 million (2012: SEK 99.6 million)
 Net income SEK 15.0 million (2012: SEK 13.5 million)

24.  investment propert Y
Investment property refers to property and buildings in Switzerland that were previously classified as property, plant 
and equipment and were reclassified in early 2013 as being held for the purpose of capital appreciation. As of the report
ing date, the carrying amount was T€ 2,583.

The fair value for investment property is not determined by an independent, qualified valuer, but rather based on 
 observed transactions that are comparable with the location and type of the investment property to be evaluated (market 
value simulation). The prices per square meter used for the evaluation ranged between CHF 130 and 255.
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The following table shows the transfer of the fair value in Level 3.

t€ investment property

January 1, 2013 0

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 1,211

Additions 117

Disposals – 426

Fair value changes  

 Recognized in profit or loss 1,673

Currency translation effects 8

december 31, 2013 2,583

The changes to fair value were recognized in other operating income (see note 6).

If the underlying price per square meter were to fluctuate by +/–10 %, this would increase or decrease the fair  value of 
the investment property by T€ 258.

In 2013, rental income amounting to T€ 40 was recorded. Maintenance expenses amounted to T€ 18 for rented properties 
and T€ 273 for nonrented properties.

25.  intanGiBle asse ts

2012 
t€ Goodwill

recipes1) 
with limited 
useful lives

other 
intangible 

assets2) 
with limited 
useful lives

Capitalized 
development 

costs

advance 
payments and 

intangible 
assets in 

development total

Cost 
as of January 1, 2012 530,691 610,157 133,962 15,494 11,148 1,301,452

Additions from acquisitions 0 1,027 9,438 0 5,250 15,715

Additions from internal development 0 0 0 172 2,725 2,897

Disposals 0 0 – 3,194 – 462 – 29 – 3,685

Transfers 0 0 4,773 180 – 4,953 0

Currency translation effects – 2,563 – 1,261 – 2,795 0 – 97 – 6,716

as of december 31, 2012 528,128 609,923 142,184 15,384 14,044 1,309,663

       

accumulated amortization and impair-
ment losses as of January 1, 2012 – 37,114 – 372,839 – 52,912 – 4,318 0 – 467,183

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 27,793 – 11,142 – 4,135 0 – 43,070

Disposals 0 0 2,910 462 0 3,372

Currency translation effects 301 551 1,366 0 0 2,218

as of december 31, 2012 – 36,813 – 400,081 – 59,778 – 7,991 0 – 504,663

       

Carrying amounts       

as of January 1, 2012 493,577 237,318 81,050 11,176 11,148 834,269

as of december 31, 2012 491,315 209,842 82,406 7,393 14,044 805,000

1) Recipes mainly consist of production recipes that were purchased as part of acquisitions.
2) Customer base, software, patents and other rights, trademarks, own IT developments
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2013 
t€ Goodwill

recipes1) 
with limited 
useful lives

other 
intangible 

assets2) 
with limited 
useful lives

Capitalized 
development 

costs

advance 
payments and 

intangible 
assets in 

development total

Cost 
as of January 1, 2013 528,128 609,923 142,184 15,384 14,044 1,309,663

Additions from business combinations 18,625 5,821 47,057 0 0 71,503

Additions from acquisitions 0 21 3,118 0 4,684 7,823

Additions from internal development 0 0 0 278 1,458 1,736

Disposals 0 0 – 2,523 0 0 – 2,523

Transfers 0 0 10,011 653 – 10,664 0

Currency translation effects – 17,153 – 12,094 – 6,723 0 – 211 – 36,181

as of december 31, 2013 529,600 603,671 193,124 16,315 9,311 1,352,021

       

accumulated amortization and impair-
ment losses as of January 1, 2013 – 36,813 – 400,081 – 59,778 – 7,991 0 – 504,663

Scheduled amortization for the fiscal year 0 – 25,975 – 15,723 – 3,882 0 – 45,580

Disposals 0 0 2,270 0 0 2,270

Transfers 0 0 – 382 382 0 0

Currency translation effects – 2,071 8,178 2,201 0 0 8,308

as of december 31, 2013 – 38,884 – 417,878 – 71,412 – 11,491 0 – 539,665

       

Carrying amounts       

as of January 1, 2013 491,315 209,842 82,406 7,393 14,044 805,000

as of december 31, 2013 490,716 185,793 121,712 4,824 9,311 812,356

1) Recipes mainly consist of production recipes that were purchased as part of acquisitions.
2) Customer base, software, patents and other rights, trademarks, own IT developments 

The addition to goodwill amounting to € 18.6 million resulted from the business combination occurring during the fiscal 
year (see note 27). 

The additions from business combinations resulted from the acquisition occurring during the fiscal year (see note 27). 
The remaining additions relate to software, primarily SAP applications, and the registration of chemicals according to the 
European chemicals directive (REACH).

Capitalized development costs, including those currently in progress, amounted to € 7.3 million as of the reporting date 
(2012: € 13.1 million).

The amortization of recipes and customer base is allocated to production and is therefore included in the cost of sales. 
The amortization of other intangible assets is generally allocated to the relevant functional area in the consolidated in
come statement.

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Goodwill according to segment   

Scent & Care 160,797 173,193

Flavor & Nutrition 330,518 317,523

total 491,315 490,716
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26.  propert Y,  pl ant and eQuipment

2012 
t€

land and 
buildings

plants and 
machinery equipment

assets 
under 

construction total

Cost 
as of January 1, 2012 326,968 305,109 142,852 41,014 815,943

Additions 3,018 11,027 9,496 28,193 51,734

Disposals – 240 – 3,406 – 4,548 – 40 – 8,234

Transfers 3,107 18,597 6,801 – 28,505 0

Currency translation effects – 1,288 – 3,030 – 2,979 – 239 – 7,536

as of december 31, 2012 331,565 328,297 151,622 40,423 851,907

      

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  
as of January 1, 2012 – 103,688 – 183,765 – 97,039 0 – 384,492

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 11,918 – 19,681 – 11,686 0 – 43,285

Reversals 140 0 0 0 140

Disposals 208 3,081 4,404 0 7,693

Transfers 2 299 – 301 0 0

Currency translation effects 1,252 2,792 2,110 0 6,154

as of december 31, 2012 – 114,004 – 197,274 – 102,512 0 – 413,790

      

Carrying amounts      

as of January 1, 2012 223,280 121,344 45,813 41,014 431,451

as of december 31, 2012 217,561 131,023 49,110 40,423 438,117

2013 
t€

land and 
buildings

plants and 
machinery equipment

assets 
under 

construction total

Cost 
as of January 1, 2013 331,565 328,297 151,622 40,423 851,907

Additions from business combinations 0 516 99 0 615

Other additions 4,089 10,181 11,047 35,864 61,181

Disposals – 2,022 – 2,312 – 3,025 – 199 – 7,558

Transfers 5,899 17,990 4,690 – 28,579 0

Reclassification to investment property – 4,265 0 0 0 – 4,265

Currency translation effects – 9,231 – 7,877 – 6,435 – 1,123 – 24,666

as of december 31, 2013 326,035 346,795 157,998 46,386 877,214

      

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses  
as of January 1, 2013 – 114,004 – 197,274 – 102,512 0 – 413,790

Scheduled depreciation for the fiscal year – 12,205 – 20,977 – 11,277 0 – 44,459

Reversals 29 0 0 0 29

Disposals 1,036 2,092 2,702 0 5,830

Reclassification to investment property 3,054 0 0 0 3,054

Currency translation effects 3,387 4,605 3,752 0 11,744

as of december 31, 2013 – 118,703 – 211,554 – 107,335 0 – 437,592

      

Carrying amounts      

as of January 1, 2013 217,561 131,023 49,110 40,423 438,117

as of december 31, 2013 207,332 135,241 50,663 46,386 439,622
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In 2013, a total of € 61.8 million (2012: € 51.7 million) was invested in property, plant and equipment. These mainly 
 concerned capacity expansions as well as the completion of a new research building at the Holzminden site. Additions 
contain capitalized borrowing costs amounting to € 0.4 million.

In the 2013 fiscal year, property and buildings in Switzerland were reclassified as investment property (see note 24).

27.  Business ComBinations
On March 4, 2013, Symrise acquired the global fragrance business of the Belmay Group, based in Yonkers, New York, via 
an asset deal. The Belmay Group was an established and renowned manufacturer of fragrance creations, particularly 
for the fine fragrances, cosmetics and air care application areas. Symrise had already acquired the Brazilian fragrance 
business from Belmay at the start of 2012.

This acquisition was a strategic step for further promoting sustainable growth in the fine fragrances, personal care and 
air care segments. Both Belmay’s product and customer portfolio will supplement the existing activities of the Scent & 
Care division. Our range of offers in the areas of fine fragrances and our expertise in the air care segment will be sub
stantially expanded thanks to the acquisition and will enable us to better serve our customers. At the same time, this 
move will strengthen our presence in North America – Belmay’s core market. We expect to be able to further expand our 
strong market position through this purchase and gain access to new and attractive customer groups.

The assets initially recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position were recognized at the following fair 
values:

t€ Fair value as of acquisition date

Intangible assets  

 Customer base 42,322

 Recipes 5,821

 Non-compete clause 4,553

 Order backlog 182

Property, plant and equipment 615

Inventories 5,006

acquired assets 58,499

  

Consideration transferred for acquiring the assets 77,124

positive difference 18,625

Intangible assets are to be recognized separately if they are clearly distinguishable or if their recognition arises from 
a contractual or other legal right. In this respect, they are not included in goodwill. If the purchase price paid is higher 
than the fair values of the acquired assets at the time of acquisition, the positive difference is capitalized as goodwill. 
It contains particularly the synergies and research and development knowhow expected from the acquisition, which can
not be identified as separate assets according to IAS 38. Goodwill is fully taxdeductible.

From the total acquisition costs of TUSD 100,222 (T€ 77,124, according to the exchange rate at the time of the initial 
consolidation), TUSD 87,143 (T€ 67,059) was due immediately. The remaining purchase price installments with a fair 
 value of TUSD 13,079 (T€ 10,065 according to the exchange rate at the time of the initial consolidation) represent con
tingent considerations:
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 A payment totaling TUSD 10,000 was arranged with the previous owners that would deduct any possible claims for 
damages upon payout. The total amount is due in installments: TUSD 4,000 on September 30, 2014, as well as 
TUSD 2,000 on March 31, 2015, September 30, 2015, and March 31, 2016. The corresponding total to cover this obli
gation is already deposited in a fiduciary account (see note 22).

 Furthermore, an earnback for sales generated with a certain customer within the next two years was granted, which 
is due on March 31, 2015. The fair value of this purchase price component at maturity amounts to TUSD 4,200. The 
minimum claim amounts to TUSD 0, while the maximum is TUSD 5,250.

Interest deriving from the contingent purchase price liability amounted to TUSD 396 as of December 31, 2013. The re
valuation performed at the end of the year did not result in a correction of the liability with an effect on profit or loss. 
The purchase price liability was valued at TUSD 13,476 (T€ 9,788 with the exchange rate from the reporting date) as of 
December 31, 2013.

Since the purchase date, the acquired business contributed € 35.7 million to sales and € 8.2 million to the operating re
sult (EBIT) of the Symrise Group. Had the acquisition already taken place by January 1, 2013, the Symrise Group would 
have posted sales of € 1,837.3 million and an operating result of € 284.3 million for the 2013 fiscal year. Ancillary acqui
sition costs amounting to € 3.0 million were recognized in the income statement (cost of sales: € 1.3 million, selling 
and marketing expenses: € 0.8 million, research and development expenses: € 0.8 million and administration expenses: 
€ 0.1 million).

Symrise also completed an exclusive agreement regarding the delivery of fragrances with a business unit belonging to 
the former Belmay Group, Scent 2 Market – an independent company that develops design and product solutions for 
the air care segment. The agreement has a fixed term of five years. Sales generated with Scent 2 Market in the fiscal year 
totaled T€ 722. 

Furthermore, Symrise entered into a rental agreement regarding the production site previously used by Belmay. The 
agreement has a noncancellable fixed lease term until December 2019 and contains extension options. It is classified 
as an operat ing lease. The future payment obligations resulting from this contract are reported as financial obligations. 
The future nondiscounted net cash outflow resulting from this amounted to T€ 1,986 as of the reporting date.

28.  tr ade paYaBles
Trade payables are due within one year, as in the previous year.

29.  other Current liaBilit ies

t€ december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Employee-related liabilities 38,452 39,402

Taxes on wages/salaries, social security contributions and other social benefits 12,546 11,352

Liabilities to customers 10,554 11,062

Other taxes 8,141 5,983

Insurance premiums 1,187 1,698

Miscellaneous other liabilities 7,333 6,424

total 78,213 75,921

Employeerelated liabilities contain annual bonuses and other bonuses as in the previous year.

Miscellaneous other current liabilities mainly derive from diverse administration, selling and marketing expenses which 
arise during the normal course of operations as well as from liabilities that are incurred from litigation.
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30.  other Current provisions

t€
termination 

benefits

performance-
based 

remuneration Jubilee
miscellaneous 

other provisions total 2013 2012

January 1 127 2,392 854 811 4,184 3,527

Increases 1,960 730 9 326 3,025 2,812

Reversals 0 – 93 0 – 48 – 141 – 35

Utilized – 54 – 2,299 – 549 – 563 – 3,465 – 2,366

Transfers 0 1,038 526 0 1,564 302

sub-total 2,033 1,768 840 526 5,167 4,240

Currency translation effects – 8 0 – 23 – 88 – 119 – 56

 december 31 2,025 1,768 817 438 5,048 4,184

The provisions for termination benefits relate to the reorganization of individual departments.

Performancebased remuneration was approved for the Executive Board and select employees.

We expect that the cash outflow for all provisions will take place within the next few months and by the end of the year 
at the very latest.

31.  Current FinanCial l iaBilit ies
The item mainly contains the current portion of the purchase price obligation (€ 2.8 million) from the acquisition per
formed in the first quarter of 2013 (see note 27), which was not due immediately. The obligation is classified as “recog
nized at fair value through profit or loss.” The measurement changes are recognized in other operating income/expenses.

32.  Current ta x liaBilit ies
Liabilities from taxes contain current income taxes for periods not yet assessed. Regarding the increase in this item 
compared to the previous year, please see note 12.

33.  Current and non - Current BorrowinGs

t€

december 31, 2012 december 31, 2013

Current non-current total Current non-current total 

Bank borrowings 104,068 20,457 124,525 37,077 82,177 119,254

Other borrowings 50 429,609 429,659 53 424,564 424,617

Accrued interest 4,746 0 4,746 3,869 0 3,869

total 108,864 450,066 558,930 40,999 506,741 547,740

Of current bank borrowings from the revolving credit facility, a nominal value of € 31.9 million (2012: € 61.7 million) re
lates to current loans under the terms of a revolving credit facility for € 300.0 million that is available to the Group 
 until November 19, 2015. In addition to the credit facility mentioned, bilateral credit lines with the Commerzbank AG for 
€ 12.5 million and the Deutsche Bank AG for USD 5.0 million exist and are intended to cover shortterm payment re
quirements. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2013, Symrise had unutilized lines of credit available, totaling € 284.3 mil
lion (2012: € 250.8 million).
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As part of the revolving credit facility, KfW loan, US private placement and loan from the European Investment Bank, 
Symrise has entered into an obligation (leverage covenant) to keep the relationship between net borrowings and EBITDA 
within defined limits. This ratio is controlled on a quarterly basis for compliance.

 maturity date nominal interest rate

nominal value 
in thousands of 
issue currency

Carrying 
amount  

in t€  
december 

31, 2012

Carrying 
amount  

in t€   
december 

31, 2013

symrise aG       

US private placement November 2020 Fixed 4.09 % USD 175,000 132,392 126,817

EIB loan
semi-annually until 

April 2020 Fixed 2.59 % USD 90,000 0 65,369

KfW loan
quarterly until 

 September 2019 Fixed 1.45 % EUR 19,274 20,112 19,274

Bond October 2017 Fixed 4.125 % EUR 300,000 297,217 297,747

Revolving credit facility EUR (2013) January 2014 Euribor + 0.7 % 0.93 % EUR 5,000 0 4,430

Revolving credit facility USD (2013) January 2014 Libor + 0.7 % 0.87 % USD 37,000 0 26,649

Revolving credit facility EUR (2012) January 2013 Euribor + 0.7 % 0.81 % EUR 20,000 19,142 0

Revolving credit facility USD (2012) March 2013 Libor + 0.7 % 1.01 % USD 55,000 41,370 0

Promissory note loan April 2013 Fixed 5.35 % EUR 27,500 27,488 0

       

symrise private limited, india       

Term loan 
quarterly until 

 December 2017 Variable 10.55 % INR 100,000 345 1,180

Working capital facility (2013) June 2014 Libor + 0.5 % 0.86 % USD 3,190 0 2,317

Working capital facility (2012) June 2013 Fixed 1.44 % USD 1,995 1,513 0

       

symrise shanghai limited, China       

hedged loan May 2013 Fixed 1.65 % EUR 10,767 10,767 0

       

ooo symrise rogovo, russia       

Bilateral credit line September 2013 MosPrime + 2.5 % 9.85 % RUB 150,000 3,727 0

       

Other borrowings – – – – 111 88

Accrued interest – – – – 4,746 3,869

       

total     558,930 547,740

34.  other non - Current liaBilit ies
The item contains employeerelated liabilities, litigationrelated liabilities and miscellaneous other noncurrent liabilities 
resulting from various administration, selling and marketing expenses that arise during the normal course of operations.
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35.  other non - Current provisions

t€ Jubilee
restoration 
obligations litigation

perfor-
mance-

based re-
muneration

miscella-
neous other 

provisions total 2013 2012

January 1 7,767 3,040 2,517 1,582 1,249 16,155 13,845

Increases 276 0 0 406 165 847 2,511

Reversals 0 0 – 114 0 0 – 114 0

Utilized 0 0 – 977 0 – 22 – 999 – 640

Transfers – 526 0 0 – 1,038 0 – 1,564 – 1,373

sub-total 7,517 3,040 1,426 950 1,392 14,325 14,343

Interest expenses 256 15 340 79 35 725 2,044

Currency translation effects – 17 – 150 – 338 0 – 7 – 512 – 232

december 31 7,756 2,905 1,428 1,029 1,420 14,538 16,155

The jubilee obligations were discounted using an interest rate of 3.4 % in the fiscal year compared to 3.1 % last year.

Provisions for restoration obligations exist visàvis respective lessors to restore leased objects to their condition before 
the lease began. The present value of restoration obligations are recognized in the period where the obligation origi
nated. We generally assume that the corresponding cash outflow is due at the time of the termination of the respective 
lease contract, though the end of the lease and the amount due are estimated. 

As in the previous year, provisions for litigations mainly relate to years of litigation regarding income and wage taxes 
as well as social security contributions in Brazil.

Performancebased remuneration was approved for the Executive Board and select employees.

36.  provisions For pensions and simil ar oBliGations
Individual companies have established pension plans that are either financed directly by the Group companies them
selves through provisions they have set up or by making contributions to external investment fund companies outside 
the Group. The manner in which these benefits are provided to employees varies depending on the legal regulations 
and the fiscal and economic environments in the respective countries involved. In addition, in some cases, the Group has 
agreed to provide additional postemployment health care benefits to its employees. Retirement benefits and health 
care benefits are generally measured based on the wages or salaries of the employees and their respective years of ser
vice. The obligations relate to both existing retirees and also to entitlements of future retirees. 

With the pension plans, Symrise is not subject to any of the risks beyond standard actuarial risks, such as longevity risks, 
interest rate fluctuation risks, currency risks and capital market risks usually associated with assets.

The characteristics of the core plans offered by Symrise are described below:

germAny

In Germany, Symrise grants pension benefits via benefit plans with employerfinanced prior commitments (defined bene
fit plans) and various plans with deferred compensation (defined contribution and defined benefit plans).
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The active participation of employees of the former Haarmann & Reimer GmbH, Germany, in the Bayer mutual pension 
fund VVaG was terminated with effect from March 31, 2003. The employees of Haarmann & Reimer GmbH who had al
ready acquired pension rights as of this date automatically became passive members of the pension fund from April 1, 
2003, onwards. Active members, who had unvested rights as of March 31, 2003, had the option to have their pension en
titlement (excluding employer contributions) paid out at this date in the form of a capital sum and from that point in 
time ceased to be members of the Bayer pension fund. For all individuals in the Bayer pension fund who were active mem
bers as of March 31, 2003, a benefit scheme was introduced in Germany with effect from April 1, 2003, in the form of 
a direct benefit promise, which is financed through a deferred gross compensation arrangement (3 % of the respective 
maximum income threshold for assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension Authority West). 
For those people with components of remuneration that exceed the respective income threshold for assessment of contri
butions, employerfinanced retirement benefits up to a maximum amount are provided based on a benefit scheme. At 
the time that the new benefit scheme was introduced, the former Haarmann & Reimer employees were guaranteed that 
their benefits under the company retirement benefit scheme would not worsen as a result of the merger. The benefits 
have to be maintained at the same level that existed before the merger took place. This is assured under the new benefit 
scheme. As a consequence of this guarantee, the company has also offered those former Haarmann & Reimer GmbH 
 employees – whose earnings are regulated by tariff agreement – a further voluntary deferred compensation scheme in 
the form of a direct benefit promise. The employee contribution and the employer topup contribution taken together 
are limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective income threshold for the assessment of contributions as defined by the 
German State Pension Authority West. 

Former Dragoco employees who joined the organization before December 31, 1981, are the subject of an employer 
financed retirement benefit scheme. The pension payments under this scheme are dependent upon the employee’s 
length of service and their final monthly gross remuneration level. 

All employees who did not belong to a retirement benefit scheme as of April 1, 2003, had the opportunity from this date 
onwards to participate in a retirement benefit scheme which was provided in the form of a direct benefit promise through 
deferral of compensation; this benefit scheme was closed on December 31, 2010. The employee contribution and the 
 employer topup contribution taken together were limited to a maximum of 4 % of the respective income threshold for 
the assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension Authority West.

From January 1, 2010, onwards, all new Symrise employees with unlimited employment contracts at German locations 
are obliged to join the RPK (“Rheinische Pensionskasse” – an external German pension fund) from the seventh month 
of their employment onwards. Under the terms of this arrangement, the employee pays 2 % of his remuneration in the form 
of deferred gross compensation to the RPK (mandatory contribution); the organization tops up the contribution with 
the same amount. Voluntary contributions are also possible and are also topped up with the same amount by the orga
nization. The employee contribution and the employer topup contribution taken together are limited to a maximum of 
4 % of the respective income threshold for the assessment of contributions as defined by the German State Pension Author
ity West. Effective as of January 1, 2011, individuals who were already employed in the organization but who – unlike 
the  former Haarmann & Reimer employees or employees of Dragoco who joined before December 31, 1981 – did not belong 
to a benefit scheme, were able to join the RPK scheme on a voluntary basis up to September 30, 2010. 

Furthermore, all nontariff employees and managers have the possibility to build up additional retirement benefit 
 components on a voluntary basis in the form of a direct benefit promise involving deferral of remuneration. There is no 
employer topup involved in connection with this “deferred compensation” arrangement.

The pension plan through RPK as an external benefit provider is classified as a defined contribution plan and therefore no 
pension provisions are established. All other obligations from benefit commitments are recognized as defined perfor
mancebased benefit plans and therefore accounted for in pension provisions. No plan assets exist for these provisions.
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usA

In the USA, Symrise grants pension benefits through a defined benefit plan, the socalled Mass Mutual Plan, as well 
as medical benefits. Both plans have been frozen, meaning that the plans are closed for new entries as well as for further 
entitlements since 2012 and 2003, repectively. The amount of the benefits from the Mass Mutual Plan is determined by 
the average final salary as well as years of service to the company. The plan assets held for this benefit plan are retained 
in socalled Pooled Separate Accounts at the Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company, which invests the assets 
in a diversified manner so as to minimize concentrations of risk. The investment decisions are made by an investment 
committee, the Benefit Oversight Committee, which is also responsible for the legal management and has fiduciary re
sponsibility. It is composed of five Symrise employees. The legal and regulatory framework of both plans is based on the 
US Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). Symrise Inc. fulfills the minimum financing levels stipulated 
by this law, which are based on an annual measurement. Plan participants do not make payments into the plan assets.

With IAS 19 revised (2011), the recognition of past service costs was changed, among other items. The previous year’s 
figures had to be adjusted accordingly. Please refer to Changes to Accounting Policies (see note 2.2) for an explanation 
regarding these adjustments as well as other changes stemming from the revision of IAS 19.

The net defined benefit liability reported as provisions for pensions and similar obligations can be derived as follows:

t€

present value of defined 
benefit obligation

Fair value  
of plan assets

net defined  
benefit liability

2012 
( adjusted)* 2013 2012 2013

2012 
( adjusted)* 2013

as of January 1 317,271 403,219 – 30,965 – 36,714 286,306 366,505

recognized in profit or loss       

Current service cost 8,977 12,419 – – 8,977 12,419

Past service cost – 13,176 – – – – 13,176 –

Net interest expense 14,073 12,364 – 2,167 – 1,385 11,906 10,979

recognized in other comprehensive income       

Remeasurements       

 Actuarial gains/losses       

  arising from changes in demographic assumptions 34 30 – – 34 30

  arising from changes in financial assumptions 86,251 – 42,395 – – 86,251 – 42,395

  arising from experience-based adjustments 2,937 1,900 – – 2,937 1,900

  Return on plan assets  
(excluding amounts included in net interest) – – – 2,111 – 4,247 – 2,111 – 4,247

Foreign currency differences – 1,769 – 4,009 1,180 2,418 – 589 – 1,591

other       

Employer contributions – – – 3,509 – 200 – 3,509 – 200

Benefits paid – 11,379 – 14,673 858 3,673 – 10,521 – 11,000

as of december 31 403,219 368,855 – 36,714 – 36,455 366,505 332,400

 of which Group defined benefit plans 389,665 356,698 – 36,714 – 36,455 352,951 320,243

 of which post-employment health care benefits 13,554 12,157 – – 13,554 12,157

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.
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As of the end of the year under review, the entire present value of the defined benefit obligation contains T€ 192,039 
for active employees (2012: T€ 204,848), T€ 31,282 for former employees with vested claim entitlements (2012: T€ 39,469) 
and T€ 145,534 for retirees and their dependents (2012: T€ 158,902). From this entire present value of the defined ben 
efit obligation, T€ 357,588 (2012: T€ 393,571) is allocated to vested claims, while the remaining T€ 11,267 (2012: T€ 9,648) 
relates to nonvested claims.

The average weighted term for the present value of the defined benefit obligation from defined benefit plans amounts 
to a total of 16.7 years (2012: 17.6 years). It breaks down with 21.4 years for active employees, 19.4 years for former em
ployees with vested claim entitlements and 10.3 years for retirees and their dependents.

The defined benefit plans are not covered by plan assets except for the pension schemes in the USA (Mass Mutual Plan), 
Japan and India. Plan assets secure a present value of the defined benefit obligation of T€ 39,733 (2012: T€ 51,209) as of 
the end of the year. Financing for the obligations not covered by plan assets is secured through the cash flow from oper
ating activities of Symrise AG and its subsidiaries.

Plan assets of T€ 36,455 (2012: T€ 36,714) are mainly used for pension provisions in the USA (T€ 32,201; 2012: T€ 29,701) 
and are invested in socalled Pooled Separate Accounts at the Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Company. Shares 
in fund assets are held in these accounts, which are invested in money market instruments and bonds as well as special 
growth and value oriented securities. Price quotes for these shares are derived from active markets (fair value hierar
chy level 2). Plan assets also exist in Japan (T€ 4,127; 2012: T€ 4,288) and India (T€ 127; 2012: T€ 145). The assets in Japan 
are deposited at the Japan Master Trust Bank, which invested the assets in Japanese and foreign bonds and shares as 
of the end of 2013 – the prices of which were also derivable from active markets. The plan assets in India are deposited 
in a type of life insurance policy for which there is no active market for estimating the price.

The return on plan assets amounted to T€ 5,632 (2012: T€ 4,278). In 2014, Symrise expects contribution payments of 
T€ 559 (expectation in 2012 for 2013: T€ 648) into the plan assets.

The net defined benefit liability breaks down according to region as follows:

t€
2012 

(adjusted)* 2013

EAME 334,092 312,231

North America 25,353 14,366

Asia/Pacific 3,049 1,714

Latin America 4,011 4,089

total 366,505 332,400

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.
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The actuarial measurements are based on the following assumptions:

% 2012 2013

discount rate   

 Germany 2.90 3.50

 USA 4.03 4.79

 Other countries 3.34 3.38

salary trends   

 Germany 2.50 2.50

 USA 4.25 4.25

 Other countries 3.69 3.51

pension trends   

 Germany 1.75 1.75

 Other countries 2.53 2.17

medical cost trend rates   

 USA 8.12 7.48

 Other countries 7.50 7.50

The assumptions relating to mortality rates are based on published mortality tables. For the pension provisions established 
in Germany, the mortality rate is based on the reference tables 2005 G from Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck. The Mass Mutual 
Plan in the USA is based on the reference table RP 2000 Combined Sex Distinct Generational Table T3 Table less. All other 
actuarial measurements outside of Germany are based on countryspecific mortality tables.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is dependent on the previously mentioned actuarial assumptions. 
The following table shows what the present value as of December 31, 2013, would have been if the actuarial assumptions 
had changed by 1.0 percentage point each:

t€

Change in present value of the 
defined benefit obligation

increase decrease

Discount rate (change of 1.0 percentage point) – 54,240 70,836

Salary trends (change of 1.0 percentage point) 6,691 – 5,447

Pension trends (change of 1.0 percentage point) 43,673 – 36,702

Medical cost trend rates (change of 1.0 percentage point) 1,284 – 1,096

To determine the sensitivity regarding life expectancy, the mortality rate for the beneficiaries covered by the plans was 
 increased or reduced by 10 %. The reduction to the mortality rate results in an increase of life expectancy and is dependent 
on the ages of the individual beneficiaries. The 10 % increase to the mortality rate results in a reduction of the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation by T€ 10,183, while the 10 % reduction results in an increase of T€ 11,040 for pen
sion provisions provided by Symrise. 

A change of 1.0 percentage point in the assumption made for medical cost trend rates would have the following effect on 
current service costs: 

t€ increase 2012 decrease 2012 increase 2013 decrease 2013

Medical cost trend rates 115 – 95 121 – 100
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The calculation of the sensitivity of the present value of the defined benefit obligation was performed using the same 
method used to determine the present value of the obligations from the pension provision commitments (projected unit 
credit method). Increases or decreases to the discount rate, salary and pension trends as well as mortality rates lead to 
other absolute figures, particularly due to the effect of compound interest on the determination of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation. If multiple assumptions are changed simultaneously, the result would not necessarily be 
the sum of the previous individual effects shown. The sensitivities only apply for the respective specific magnitude of 
the change to the assumption (e.g. 1.0 percentage point for the discount rate). If the assumptions change in a manner 
other than those listed, the effect on the present value of the defined benefit obligation cannot be directly adopted.

37.  non - Current FinanCial l iaBilit ies
The item contains the noncurrent portion of the purchase price obligation from the acquisition performed in the first 
quarter of 2013 (see note 27), which was not due immediately. The obligation is classified as “recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss.” The measurement changes are reported in other operating income/expenses.

38.  eQuit Y
shAre cApitAl

The share capital of Symrise AG remained unchanged at € 118,173,300 and is fully paid in. It is divided into 118,173,300 
nopar value bearer shares, each with a calculated nominal share value of € 1.00 per share.

Authorized cApitAl

The Annual General Meeting authorized the Executive Board on May 18, 2011, to increase the share capital in the 
 period up to May 17, 2016, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by up to € 23.0 million in one or more issues of 
new nopar value bearer shares for cash and /or assets in kind. 

Existing shareholders are to be granted a subscription right. This subscription right can however be denied by the Exec
utive Board in the following cases with the consent of the Supervisory Board:

1. In the case of capital increases in return for assets in kind to grant shares for the purpose of acquiring companies, 
parts of companies or share interests in companies. 

2. For the purpose of issuing a maximum number of 1,000,000 new shares to employees of the company and affiliated 
companies, within the constraints imposed by law.

3. Insofar as this is necessary in order to grant holders of warrants and convertible bonds issued by Symrise AG or its 
subsidiaries a right to subscribe for new shares to the extent that they would be entitled to such a right when exercis
ing the warrants or options or when meeting obligations arising from the warrants or options. 

4. To exclude fractional amounts from subscription rights.

5. In the event of a capital increase against cash contribution, if, at the time of the final determination of the issue price 
by the Executive Board, the issue price of the new shares is not significantly lower – within the meaning of Sec. 203 
(1) and (2) and Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) – than the market price of shares 
already traded on the stock exchange of the same type and with the same attributes and the aggregate amount of 
the new shares for which subscription rights are excluded does not exceed 10 % of the share capital either at the time 
this authorization comes into force or at the time this authorization is exercised. This limitation applies to shares 
that were sold, issued or are to be issued with the exclusion of subscription rights during the term of this correspond
ing application of Sec. 186 (3) sentence 4 of the AktG.
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Acquisition of treAsury stock

Following a resolution by the Annual General Meeting held on May 11, 2010, the Executive Board is authorized in accor
dance with Sec. 71 (1) no. 8 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) to purchase its own shares up to a level of 10 % 
of the share capital at the time the resolution was made up until May 10, 2015.

The purchase of treasury stock is to be made through the stock exchange or by means of a public offer made by the 
 company.

 In the case of an acquisition through the stock market, the equivalent paid by the company for each share shall not 
exceed or undercut the opening auction price of the company’s shares on Xetra on the trading day by more than 5 %.

 In the case of acquisition by means of a public offer to purchase, the offered purchase price or the margins of the 
 purchase price range per share shall not exceed or undercut the average closing price quoted by the Xetra trading 
system for the three stock exchange trading days prior to the day of publication of the offer by more than 10 %.

 The authorization was granted for all legally permitted purposes, particularly the following:
– For redemption purposes, without the necessity for the redemption or its execution to be authorized by a further 

resolution of a general meeting of shareholders.
– For disposal purposes – also in the case of disposal other than through the stock exchange or by means of an 

 offer to the shareholders – if the shares are disposed of against payment in cash at a price that is not significantly 
less than the quoted stock exchange price at the time of disposal for shares of the same type.

– For disposal against noncash benefit, particularly in connection with the acquisition of companies.

issue of option bonds And/or convertible bonds without subscription rights As well 

As the creAtion of conditionAl cApitAl

With the consent of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board is authorized to issue option bearer bonds and/or convert
ible bearer bonds or combinations of these instruments, once or several times and with or without term restrictions, up 
until May 13, 2018, for a total nominal amount of up to € 1,000,000,000.00. These can also be issued simultaneously in 
various tranches. The Executive Board is also authorized to grant the bondholders option or conversion rights in re
spect of up to a total of 23,000,000 nopar value bearer shares of the company representing up to € 23,000,000.00 of the 
share capital. 

The bonds shall be issued in return for cash payment. They may also be issued by subsidiaries located in Germany or 
abroad, where Symrise AG either directly or indirectly holds a majority stake (“Group companies”). If the bonds are issued 
through a Group company, the Executive Board shall be authorized, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to 
 guarantee for the bonds in the name of Symrise AG and grant option rights to the holders of option bonds and conversion 
rights to the holders of convertible bonds with regard to company shares as well as make any further statements neces
sary for a successful issue and to perform the necessary actions. The bonds may be issued in EUR as well as in USD or 
CHF as long as the corresponding euro equivalent is not exceeded. 

The shareholders shall be granted a right to subscribe for the bonds in principle. However, the Executive Board is autho
rized, subject to consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude the subscription rights of shareholders in the following in
stances,

(1) insofar as the issue price of a bond is not significantly lower than the theoretical market value calculated according 
to recognized methods of financial mathematics; 

(2) to the extent that this is necessary for fractional amounts resulting from the subscription ratio;
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(3) in order to compensate holders of option /conversion rights to the shares of the company, or holders of bonds with an 
obligation to exercise the option /conversion rights, for dilutions of these rights by granting them the subscription rights 
they would have after exercising these rights or after fulfilling their obligation to exercise the option /conversion rights 
as shareholders.

The Executive Board may only exercise the aforementioned authorization to exclude subscription rights to the extent 
that the proportional amount of all shares issued subject to an exclusion of subscription rights does not exceed 20 % of 
the share capital, neither at the time when the authorizing resolution is adopted nor at the time when it is exercised.

In order to grant shares to holders of option /convertible bonds issued on the basis of the aforementioned authorization, 
the share capital shall be conditionally increased by up to € 23,000,000.00 through issuing up to 23,000,000 nopar val
ue bearer shares (conditional capital). The conditional capital increase shall only be implemented to the extent that the 
holders of convertible bonds or of warrants from option bonds exercise their conversion /option rights, or fulfill their ob
ligations for exercising the option /conversion rights, or the company exercises its right to tender, and as long as no 
 other forms of fulfillment are used. The new shares shall be issued at the respective conversion /option prices to be de
termined.

cApitAl reserve And other reserves

The capital reserve mainly comprises the share premium that arose at the time of the capital increase that was carried 
out as part of the initial public offer and has remained unchanged since December 31, 2012.

The revaluation reserve results from an acquisition in stages made in the past. 

The fair value reserve comprises changes in the value of financial instruments that have been allocated to the “financial 
 assets available for sale” category.

The cash flow hedge reserve contains the effective part of the fair value changes from derivative financial instruments 
held for hedging currency risks. The amount that was transferred during the period from other comprehensive income 
into profit or loss as part of cash flow hedge accounting amounts to T€ –14 before taxes (2012: T€ 752 before taxes).

The following table presents a reconciliation of the cash flow hedge reserve for hedging currency risks:

t€ 2012 2013

January 1 – 534 112

Allocations (effective fair value changes) 136 51

Reclassifications   

 in sales 752 – 199

 in cost of sales 0 185

Deferred taxes – 242 – 16

december 31 112 133

Reclassifications of ineffective parts from cash flow hedges into profit or loss of the period did not occur in 2013.

In the reserve for remeasurements (pensions), actuarial gains and losses from the change in present value of the defined 
benefit obligation as well as the return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest are included.
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reconciliAtion of equit y components Affected by other comprehensive income

2012 (adjusted)*  
t€

Fair value 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

(currency 
hedges)

reserve for 
remeasure-

ments 
( pensions)

Cumulative 
translation 
differences

total other 
comprehen-
sive income

Exchange rate differences resulting from the translation 
of foreign operations      

  Exchange rate differences that occurred during the 
fiscal year – – – – 5,772 – 5,772

 Losses from net investments – – – – 797 – 797

 Reclassification to consolidated income statement – – – – 3,243 – 3,243

  Exchange rate differences from non-current assets 
held for sale (IFRS 5) – – – 28 28

Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale – 885 – – – – 885

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges)      

 Income recorded during the fiscal year – 109 – – 109

 Reclassification to consolidated income statement – 537 – – 537

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension plans – – – 63,811 – – 63,811

Tax rate change – – – 556 – – 556

other comprehensive income – 885 646 – 64,367 – 9,784 – 74,390

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.

2013 
t€

revaluation 
reserve

Fair value 
reserve

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

(currency 
hedges)

 reserve for 
remeasure-

ments 
( pensions)

Cumulative 
translation 
differences

total other 
comprehen-
sive income

Exchange rate differences resulting from 
the translation of foreign operations       

  Exchange rate differences that 
 occurred during the fiscal year – – – – – 49,208 – 49,208

 Losses from net investments – – – – – 4,519 – 4,519

  Reclassification to consolidated 
income statement – – – – – 1,681 – 1,681

  Exchange rate differences from non-
current assets held for sale (IFRS 5) – – – – 47 47

Change in fair value of financial assets 
available for sale – – 38 – – – – 38

Cash flow hedge (currency hedges)       

 Income recorded during the fiscal year – – 5 – – 5

  Reclassification to consolidated 
income statement – – 16 – – 16

Remeasurement of defined benefit 
pension plans – – – 30,757 – 30,757

Tax rate change – 73 – – – – – 73

other comprehensive income – 73 – 38 21 30,757 – 55,361 – 24,694
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other

In accordance with the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the distributable dividend for shareholders of Symrise AG 
is to be determined with reference to the unappropriated profit calculated in accordance with the rules of German 
 Commercial Code (HGB) and presented in the annual financial statements of Symrise AG. At the Annual General Meeting 
held on May 14, 2013, a resolution was passed to distribute a dividend for the 2012 fiscal year of € 0.65 for each ordi
nary share with a dividend entitlement (2011: € 0.62); the total amount of the dividend was T€ 76,813 (2011: T€ 73,267). 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board recommend a dividend of € 0.70 per share based on Symrise AG’s 
 unappropriated net profit under commercial law as of December 31, 2013. This amounts to dividends of T€ 82,721.

hyperinflAtion

The financial statements for the subsidiary operating in Venezuela are mainly based on the principle of historical cost. 
In 2013, these needed to be adjusted due to changes in the general purchasing power of the functional currency and 
are therefore expressed in the measuring unit valid as of the reporting date. The consumer price index published by the 
Venezuelan “Instituto National de Estadística” was consulted (inflation rate 2013: 56.1 %; 2012: 20.1 %).

No adjustments were necessary in Argentina during the fiscal year under review. However, we continue to keep a close 
eye on these developments.

39.  disClosures on Capital manaGement
The main objective in managing the capital structure is to maintain a strong financial profile. In this context, we place 
a focus on equity in order to strengthen trust with investors, credit providers and customers as well as ensure a positive 
business development. 

With an equity ratio (equity in relation to the balance sheet total) of 43.0 % (2012: 40.9 %), Symrise has a solid capital 
structure. One of Symrise’s fundamental principles is to maintain a strong capital base in order to retain the confidence 
of investors, creditors and the market and to be able to drive the future business development forward in a sustained 
manner.

The capital situation is monitored through the use of a number of key indicators. The relationship between net debt (in
cluding provisions for pensions and similar obligations) to EBITDA and the equity ratio are important key indicators 
for this purpose. The objectives, methods and processes in this regard have not changed from the previous year as of the 
reporting date on December 31, 2013. The basis for the calculation is provided by the balance sheet equity:

t€
2012 

(adjusted)* 2013

Share capital 118,173 118,173

Capital reserve 970,911 970,911

Revaluation reserve 2,808 2,735

Fair value reserve – 900 – 12

Cash flow hedge reserve 112 133

Reserve for remeasurements (pensions) – 111,300 – 80,543

Cumulative translation differences – 15,192 – 70,553

Accumulated profit/deficit – 85,304 10,219

total equity 879,308 951,063

*The previous year’s figures have been adjusted. For further information, please see note 2.2 Changes to Accounting Policies.
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We focus on a capital structure that allows us to cover our future potential financing needs at reasonable conditions 
by way of the capital markets. This provides us with a guaranteed high level of independence, security and financial 
flexibility. 

We will continue our attractive dividend policy and give our shareholders an appropriate share in the company’s 
 success. Furthermore, it should be ensured that solid financing options exist for acquisition opportunities. 

The average interest rate for liabilities (including provisions for pensions and similar obligations) was 3.7 % (2012: 4.2 %) 
and the ratio of net debt – including provisions for pensions and similar obligations – to EBITDA was 2.0 (2012: 2.4). 

Neither the company itself nor its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

40.  additional disClosures on the Cash Flow statement
In accordance with IAS 7, the consolidated statement of cash flows for the reporting year 2013 and the previous year 
show the development of cash flows separated into cash inflows and outflows deriving from operating, investing and 
financing activities. Cash flows are calculated using the indirect method.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes cash balances, checks and balances on hand with banks with a 
term to maturity of up to three months, as was the case in the previous year; the amount disclosed is equivalent to the 
reporting item “Cash and cash equivalents.” 
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41.   addit ional inFormation on FinanCial instruments and the me asurement 
oF Fair value

informAtion on finAnciAl instruments According to cAtegory

december 31, 2012 
t€

Carrying 
amount 

value recognized under ias 39

Fair value 
amortized 

cost

Fair value in 
other com-
prehensive 

income
Fair value in 

profit or loss

assets      

loans and receivables (lar) 425,569 425,569 – – 425,569

Cash and cash equivalents 117,445 117,445 – – 117,445

Trade receivables 302,206 302,206 – – 302,206

Other financial assets 5,918 5,918 – – 5,918

      

Financial assets available for sale (afs) 14,797 – 14,797 – 14,797

Securities 12,962 – 12,962 – 12,962

Other financial assets 1,835 – 1,835 – 1,835

      

Financial assets held for trading (Fahft) 134 – – 134 134

Derivative financial instruments without hedge relationship 134 – – 134 134

      

derivative financial instruments with hedge relationship (n.a.) 136 – 136 – 136

      

liaBilities and eQuitY      

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (FlaC) 694,617 694,617 – – 732,432

Trade payables 133,113 133,113 – – 133,113

Borrowings (current and non-current) 558,930 558,930 – – 596,745

Other financial liabilities 2,574 2,574 – – 2,574

      

Financial liabilities held for trading (Flhft) 189 – – 189 189

Derivative financial instruments without hedge relationship 189 – – 189 189

      

derivative financial instruments with hedge relationship (n.a.) 2 – 2 – 2
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december 31, 2013  
t€

Carrying 
amount 

value recognized under ias 39

Fair value 
amortized 

cost

Fair value in 
other com-
prehensive 

income
Fair value in 

profit or loss

assets      

loans and receivables (lar) 468,747 468,747 – – 468,747

Cash and cash equivalents 135,343 135,343 – – 135,343

Trade receivables 321,547 321,547 – – 321,547

Other financial assets 11,857 11,857 – – 11,857

      

Financial assets available for sale (afs) 5,317 – 5,317 – 5,317

Securities 3,358 – 3,358 – 3,358

Other financial assets 1,959 – 1,959 – 1,959

      

Financial assets held for trading (Fahft) 138 – – 138 138

Derivative financial instruments without hedge relationship 138 – – 138 138

      

derivative financial instruments with hedge relationship (n.a.) 124 – 124 – 124

      

liaBilities and eQuitY      

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (FlaC) 699,679 699,679 – – 727,861

Trade payables 150,799 150,799 – – 150,799

Borrowings (current and non-current) 547,740 547,740 – – 575,922

Other financial liabilities 1,140 1,140 – – 1,140

      

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(FlaFvtpl) 9,788 – – 9,788 9,788

Other financial liabilities 9,788 – – 9,788 9,788

      

Financial liabilities held for trading (Flhft) 43 – – 43 43

Derivative financial instruments without hedge relationship 43 – – 43 43

Due to the fact that most of the financial instruments are shortterm in nature, except for the borrowings, the carrying 
amounts for the classifications are only insignificantly different from their fair values.
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fAir vAlue According to hierArchy

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are explained in note 2.5.

t€

2012 2013

level 1 level 2 level 3 total level 1 level 2 level 3 total

assets          

Securities AfS 12,962 – – 12,962 3,358 – – 3,358

Other financial assets AfS – – 1,835 1,835 – – 1,959 1,959

Derivative financial instruments without 
hedge relationship FAhfT – 134 – 134 – 138 – 138

Derivative financial instruments with 
hedge relationship n.a. – 136 – 136 – 124 – 124

Investment property n.a. – – – – – – 2,583 2,583

          

liaBilities and eQuitY          

Contingent purchase price obligation FLaFVtPL – – – – – – 9,788 9,788

Derivative financial instruments without 
hedge relationship FLhfT – 189 – 189 – 43 – 43

Derivative financial instruments with 
hedge relationship n.a. – 2 – 2 – 0 – 0

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year under review.

determining fAir vAlue

The financial assets classified as available for sale in Level 1 relate to securities, whose fair value as of the reporting 
date were determined based on quoted market prices from the closing date on active markets. 

The valid forward exchange rates of partner banks are used as the valuation rates for the marktomarket valuation 
of forward contracts in Level 2 for currency forwards. The forward exchange rates are established by the interest differ
ence of the currencies involved while accounting for term duration.

The fair values of bank borrowings and liabilities deriving from promissory note loans are determined as the present 
 values of payments relating to the liabilities based on the corresponding valid reference interest rate adjusted by a credit 
spread and are therefore to be classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The following table shows both the measurement methods and nonobservable input factors for the recurring measurement 
of fair value in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The measurement is performed regularly by corporate headquarters.

type valuation method

non-observable input factors

 2012 2013

Other financial assets Discounted cash flow

Weighted average cost of capital 15.5 % 13.5 %

Terminal growth rate 3.0 % 3.0 %

EBITDA margin Ø 11.0 % Ø 9.1 %

Contingent purchase price 
obligation 

Present value of the payments relating to 
the obligation based on the Group’s average 
refinancing rate while accounting for the 
probability of occurrence (sales and damage 
claim)

Discount rate – 4.06 %
Sales – 80 %
Damage claim – 0 %
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Reconciliation of the fair value measurement of assets within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

t€ other financial assets
Contingent purchase  

price obligation

as of January 1, 2013 1,835 0

Additions 97 10,065

Fair value changes   

 Recognized in profit or loss 0 299

 Recognized in other comprehensive income with no effect on profit or loss 27 0

Currency translation effects 0 – 576

as of december 31, 2013 1,959 9,788

The measurement gains and losses from the other financial assets were recognized in other comprehensive income 
with no effect on profit or loss. The measurement gains and losses relating to the contingent purchase price obligation 
are recognized in other operating income and expenses.

sensitivit y AnAlysis – meAsurement of level 3 finAnciAl instruments

A change to the input factors listed, with the other input factors remaining unchanged, would have resulted in the fol
lowing impacts for the fair value of other financial assets and the contingent purchase price obligation:

t€

other comprehensive income

2012 2013

increase decrease increase decrease

other financial assets (afs)     

Weighted average cost of capital (change of +/– 1.5 percentage points) – 134 173 – 266 278

Terminal growth rate (change of +/– 1.0 percentage point) 109 – 93 104 – 148

EBITDA margin (change of +/– 2.0 percentage points) 115 – 199 215 – 305

t€

profit or loss

2012 2013

increase decrease increase decrease

Contingent purchase price obligation (FlaFvtpl)     

Discount rate (change of +/– 0.5 percentage points) – – 61 – 62

Sales (change of +/– 10.0 percentage points) – – – 363 363

Damage claim (change of +/– 5.0 percentage points) – – 344 –

net gAins And losses According to vAluAtion cAtegory

t€ 2012 2013

Loans and receivables (LaR) – 9,332 7,233

Financial assets held to maturity (htM) 419 0

Financial assets available for sale (AfS) – 1,091 108

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading (FAhfT and FLhfT) – 63 – 61

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (FLAC) – 19,838 – 14,594

total – 29,905 – 7,314
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The changes from the previous year mainly resulted from currency effects from the measurement of trade receivables 
and payables as part of the ordinary activities as well as from the decline in impairment on trade receivables (see note 16).

Changes in value for financial assets available for sale that were recognized in equity with no effect on profit or loss 
amounted to T€ –41 as of the reporting date (December 31, 2012: T€ –1,263) before accounting for taxes. There were no 
reclassifications to the consolidated income statement.

The net interest result for financial assets and liabilities that were not recognized at fair value through profit or loss 
amounted to € –19.5 million in 2013 (2012: € –20.8 million).

offset ting finAnciAl Assets And finAnciAl liAbilities

Financial assets and liabilities, which are subject to a legally enforceable master netting agreement or a similar agree
ment as shown in the table, only arose with derivative financial instruments in the form of International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements or comparable agreements.

The ISDA agreements do not fulfill the criteria for offsetting in the statement of financial position. This is due to the fact 
that the Group currently does not have any legal right to offset the amounts recorded, since the right to an offset only 
exists with the occurrence of future events, such as a default on a bank loan or other credit events. The following table 
shows the carrying amount of the financial instruments recognized, which are subject to the agreements listed.

t€
Gross amounts  

(balance sheet disclosure)

in connection with 
the amount offset with the 

recognized financial instrument net amount 

december 31, 2012 
assets    

Derivative financial instruments 270 – 3 267

liaBilities and eQuitY    

Derivative financial instruments – 191 3 – 188

    

december 31, 2013 
assets    

Derivative financial instruments 262 – 1 261

liaBilities and eQuitY    

Derivative financial instruments – 43 1 – 42

42.  disClosures rel atinG to FinanCial instrument risK manaGement
Fluctuations in currency and interest rates can result in significant risks to earnings and cash flows. For this rea
son, Symrise monitors these risks centrally and manages them proactively and occasionally with derivative financial 
instruments. 

The management of risk is based on Groupwide guidelines in which objectives, principles, responsibilities and com
petencies are defined. These are monitored on a regular basis and adjusted to current market and product developments. 
Risk management has remained unchanged from previous years.
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interest risk

Interest rate fluctuation risk exists due to potential changes to the market interest rate and can lead to a change in the 
fair value of fixedrate financial instruments and fluctuations in interest payments for variable interest rate financial 
 instruments. Since the overwhelming portion of financial instruments valued at amortized cost have fixed rates, there 
is no notable risk if interest rates change. 

An increase to all relevant interest rates of 1.0 percentage point would have resulted in T€ 342 less net income as of 
 December 31, 2013 (December 31, 2012: T€ 655). The sensitivity of equity towards interest rate changes is minimal.

2012 nominal of which fixed of which variable of which unhedged
1.0 percentage 
point increase

1.0 percentage 
point decrease

t€ 384,076 360,288 23,788 23,788 238 – 238

tusd 230,000 175,000 55,000 55,000 550 – 550

2013 nominal of which fixed of which variable of which unhedged
1.0 percentage 
point increase

1.0 percentage 
point decrease

t€ 324,362 319,362 5,000 5,000 50 – 50

tusd 305,190 265,000 40,190 40,190 402 – 402

currency risk

Due to its global activities, Symrise is exposed to two types of currency risk. The transaction risk arises in the individ
ual financial statements of Group companies through changes in the amounts of future payments denoted in foreign 
currencies due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

The Symrise Group’s global positioning results in supply and payment flows in foreign currencies. These currency 
risks are systematically registered and reported to the Group’s headquarters. We use forward contracts to hedge currency 
risk resulting from original financial instruments and from planned transactions in USD.

Translation risk describes the risk of changes in reporting items in the statement of financial position and the income 
statement of a subsidiary due to currency fluctuations when translating the separate local financial statements into the 
Group reporting currency. Changes deriving from translation of items reported in the statement of financial position of 
these companies that are caused by currency fluctuations are disclosed in Group equity. The resulting risks are nor
mally not hedged.

The presentation of the existing currency risk as of the reporting date is done in accordance with IFRS 7 using a sensi-

tivity analysis. The foreign currency sensitivity is determined from the aggregation of all financial assets and liabili
ties that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the respective reporting company. The net 
foreign currency risk determined by this analysis is valued at the reporting date rate and at a sensitivity rate that rep
resents a 10 % appreciation /depreciation of the Group’s reporting currency as compared to the foreign currency. The dif
ference between this hypothetical valuation represents the effect on earnings before taxes and on equity.
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In the sensitivity analysis, currency risks from internal monetary items were included as far as translation gains or 
losses result that are not eliminated as part of consolidation. 

Effects from the currency translation of subsidiaries whose functional currency is not the same as that of the Symrise 
Group do not affect the cash flows in the local currency and are therefore not included in the sensitivity analysis.

A significant currency risk for the Symrise Group resulted only in relation to the USD, both for this fiscal year and 
the previous year. The net foreign currency risk from this amounted to USD 25.6 million as of the reporting date 
( December 31, 2012: USD 34.8 million). The decrease resulted primarily from the change of the functional currency 
in Singapore from SGD to USD. This sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that all variables other than a 
change in the foreign currency exchange rate remain constant.

t€ 2012 2013

Impacts on profit or loss from a 10 % value increase/decrease in the EUR as compared to the USD +/– 2,335 +/– 2,239

Impacts on other comprehensive income from a 10 % value increase/decrease in the EUR  
as compared to the USD –/+ 720 –/+ 254

total +/– 1,615 +/– 1,985

Derivative financial instruments were used to reduce currency risk. As of the reporting date, there are forward con
tracts with a nominal volume of USD 7.5 million (December 31, 2012: USD 9.0 million) for hedging €/USD, forward con
tracts with a nominal volume of USD 6.0 million (December 31, 2012: USD 0 million) for hedging USD/JPY as well as 
forward contracts with a nominal volume of USD 3.1 million (December 31, 2012: USD 0 million) for hedging USD/INR. 

Forward contracts with positive market values amounted to T€ 262 as of the reporting date (December 31, 2012: T€ 270), 
while forward contracts with negative market values totaled T€ 43 (December 31, 2012: T€ 191). 

The forward contracts usually have maximum terms of six months.

Further information on the positive and negative fair values for forward contracts with and without hedge relationships 
can be found in the table on financial instruments in note 41 as well as in the notes on liquidity risks.

liquidit y risk

The liquidity risk – i.e. the risk that Symrise is unable to meet its financial obligations – is limited by creating the 
 necessary financial flexibility within the existing financing arrangements and through effective cash management. 
Symrise manages the liquidity risk through the use of a 12month rolling financial plan. This makes it possible to fi
nance forecast deficits under normal market conditions at normal market terms. Based on current liquidity information, 
no liquidity risks can be foreseen at the moment. 

As of the balance sheet reporting date, Symrise had access to credit lines that are explained in greater detail in note 33.
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The following summary shows the contractually agreed interest and redemption payments for current and noncurrent 
nonderivative financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments for variable interest:

2012 
t€

Carrying 
amount

expected 
payments 

maturity dates for expected payments

up to 1 year over 1 year to 5 years over 5 years

Borrowings 558,930 670,940 130,086 385,519 155,335

Trade payables 133,113 133,113 133,113 0 0

Other non-derivative financial obligations 2,574 2,589 2,589 0 0

2013 
t€

Carrying 
amount

expected 
payments 

maturity dates for expected payments

up to 1 year over 1 year to 5 years over 5 years

Borrowings 547,740 641,569 57,494 424,967 159,108

Trade payables 150,799 150,799 150,799 0 0

Other non-derivative financial obligations 10,928 10,415 3,447 6,968 0

The fair value and the expected incoming and outgoing payments from derivative financial liabilities are presented in 
the following table. The terms of the forward contracts amount to a maximum of six months.

t€ 2012 2013

Forward contracts   

Assets 270 262

Liabilities – 191 – 43

   

Expected incoming payments 21,274 12,211

Expected outgoing payments – 21,195 – 11,992

defAult And credit worthiness risk

A credit risk is the unexpected loss of cash or income. This occurs when a customer is not able to meet his obligations 
as they become due. Receivables management, which employs guidelines that are globally valid, coupled with regular 
analysis of the aging structure of trade receivables, ensures that the risks are permanently monitored and limited; in 
this way, cases of default on receivables are minimized. Due to the Symrise Group’s wideranging business structure, 
there is no particular concentration of credit risks either in relation to customers or in relation to individual countries.

We only enter into financial contracts for cash investments with banks which we have carefully chosen and which are 
permanently monitored. The Symrise Group is exposed to credit risks related to derivative financial instruments, which 
would arise from the contractual partner not fulfilling his obligations. This credit risk is minimized in that transactions 
are only entered into with contract partners whose credit standing is regularly evaluated by independent rating agencies, 
which we constantly monitor. The carrying amounts of the financial assets represent the maximum credit risk.
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43.  oper atinG le ase aGreements
leAse Agreements As lessee

Payment obligations exist for operating lease agreements, which have terms ranging from less than 1 year to 15 years 
and mainly relate to vehicles and buildings. These leases cannot be canceled before the term is finished. Some of the agree
ments contain renewal options or price escalation clauses but do not include purchase options.

The aggregate net future cash outflows from operating leases are phased as follows:

t€ 2012 2013

During the fiscal year 12,660 12,623

   

Due in one year 10,657 10,122

Due in two years 7,561 7,804

Due in three years 6,214 6,449

Due in four years 4,433 5,453

Due in five years 4,264 4,942

Due in six years or more 30,202 25,343

total 63,331 60,113

leAse Agreements As lessor

The Group has been leasing its investment property since the beginning of the fiscal year (see note 24).

As of the reporting date, the following future minimum lease payments are outstanding as part of nonterminable lease 
agreements.

t€ 2013

Up to one year 60

Longer than one year and up to five years 207

Longer than five years 168

total 435

44.  ContinGent liaBilit ies and other FinanCial oBliGations
contingent liAbilities

Contingent liabilities relate to potential future events, which, upon occurring, would result in an obligation. As of the 
 reporting date, the following contingent liabilities are seen as unlikely, but cannot be completely ruled out. 

Symrise is confronted with diverse lawsuits and legal proceedings as a result of its normal business activities, which 
generally relate to the areas of labor law, product liability, warranty claims, tax law and intellectual property. We create 
provisions for such cases where we see a realistic possibility of it resulting in an obligation due to a past event, and 
which can be reliably estimated and whose fulfillment will likely result in the outflow of resources with economic val
ue. For all currently pending legal proceedings, we have a provision of € 1.4 million. We are currently of the opinion 
that all of the suits and proceedings brought against us, both individually and as a whole, will have no notable negative 
influence on our business operations, financial situation, results or cash flow. The arranged provisions are therefore 
 neither individually nor collectively essential. The results of current and future proceedings are not predictable, mean
ing that legal or official decisions or settlement agreements could lead to expenses that are not or not completely cov
ered by our insurance services and could therefore have substantial effects on our business and its results. Many of our 
processes are covered by insurance benefits relating to our product liability insurance.
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other finAnciAl obligAtions

As of December 31, 2013, the Group had obligations to purchase property, plant and equipment amounting to € 16.0 mil
lion (December 31, 2012: € 6.8 million). This mainly relates to production facilities, hardware and office equipment. 
Most are due during the course of 2014. Other obligations amounting to € 138.3 million (December 31, 2012: € 76.4 mil
lion) exist from not yet fulfilled noncurrent obligations for the purchase of goods.

Symrise AG signed a service contract, effective February 1, 2006, for outsourcing internal IT with a term of ten 
years with Atos Origin GmbH. The remaining total obligations towards Atos amount to € 33.8 million (December 31, 
2012: € 51.2 million).

Furthermore, other obligations amounting to € 10.2 million (December 31, 2012: € 5.8 million) exist. These mainly 
 relate to litigations and tax disputes in Brazil (€ 6.9 million; December 31, 2012: € 4.1 million), for which no provisions 
were established based on the opinion of legal advisors, who see a claim as improbable.

Contracts for consulting, cooperations and other services also exist with terms reaching to 2014 at the latest. Total 
 obligations from these contracts amount to € 2.1 million (December 31, 2012: € 2.0 million).

45.  tr ansaCtions with rel ated parties
Fully consolidated and associated companies, Executive Board members and former managers as well as Supervisory 
Board members and former shareholder representatives and their close relatives are considered related parties. 

The sales and purchases from related companies were completed under the same terms and conditions as though they 
had been transacted with third parties. 

Only a small amount of goods was purchased from associated companies in the 2013 fiscal year. 

Contribution payments were made to the Rheinische Pensionskasse (RPK) amounting to T€ 918 (2012: T€ 749). These 
were allocated to their corresponding function according to their assignment. Liabilities to RPK amounting to T€ 146 
 (December 31, 2012: T€ 0) existed as of the reporting date. There were no receivables, as in the previous year. For addi
tional information, see note 36.

The members of the Executive Board received remuneration of T€ 5,135 (2012: T€ 3,555) including fringe benefits and 
variable remuneration components in 2013. The allocations to provisions for noncurrent performancebased remunera
tion amounted to T€ 963 (2012: T€ 3,138). The service cost for pensions in the fiscal year amounted to T€ 139 (2012: T€ 837).

The former Executive Board member Mr. HorstOtto Gerberding received pension payments of T€ 292 in 2013, as in the 
previous year.

Provisions for current pensions and pension entitlements contains contributions of € 7.5 million (December 31, 2012: 
€ 8.4 million) for former members of the Executive Board and € 2.3 million (December 31, 2012: € 2.1 million) for current 
members of the Executive Board.

Total remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board amounted to T€ 933 during the reporting period (2012: T€ 789).

The individualized remuneration of members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board is disclosed in the Group 
management report.

46.  e xeCutive Board and supervisorY Board shareholdinGs
Pursuant to no. 6.6 of the German Corporate Governance Codex, the ownership of shares or related financial instru
ments by members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board shall be reported if these directly or indirectly ex
ceed 1 % of the shares issued by the company. If the entire holdings of all members of the Executive Board and Super
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visory Board exceed 1 % of the shares issued by the company, these holdings shall be reported separately for the Execu
tive Board and the Supervisory Board.

The direct or indirect total holding of shares in Symrise AG by all members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as 
of December 31, 2013, was more than 1 %. Of the 6.142 % of shares in Symrise AG held by members of the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards, 6.001 % is held by members of the Supervisory Board while 0.141 % is held by members of the Exec
utive Board.

47.  lonG -term oBJeCtives and me thods For manaGinG FinanCial risK
Please see the risk report, which is a component of our Group management report.

48.  audit oF FinanCial statements
The Annual General Meeting of Symrise AG, held on May 14, 2013, appointed KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
as auditor for the fiscal year 2013.

The following table provides an overview of the fees paid to the auditors:

t€ 2012 2013

Audit of financial statements 800 801

Other audit assurance services 12 12

Tax advisory services 407 612

Other services 11 62

total 1,230 1,487

49.  l ist oF interests in entit ies

Fully Consolidated Companies as of december 31, 2013  

name and registered office of the entity share

Germany  

Symrise Beteiligungs Gmbh, holzminden 100 %

DrinkStar Gmbh, Rosenheim 100 %

Schimmel & Co. Gesellschaft mit beschränkter haftung, holzminden 100 %

Symrise BioActives Gmbh, hamburg 100 %

Tesium Gmbh, holzminden 100 %

Symotion Gmbh, holzminden 100 %

Busiris Vermögensverwaltung Gmbh, holzminden 100 %

Symrise US-Beteiligungs Gmbh, Frankfurt/Main 100 %

Symrise IP-Verwaltungs Gmbh, holzminden 100 %

Symrise IP-holding Gmbh & Co. KG, holzminden 100 %

haarmann & Reimer Unterstützungskasse Gesellschaft mit beschränkter haftung, holzminden 100 %

rest of europe  

Aromatics S.A.S., France 100 %

OOO Symrise Rogovo, Russia 100 %

Steng Ingredients Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise SA, Switzerland 100 %

Symrise Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise holding Limited, UK 100 %

Flavours Direct Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise B.V., Netherlands 100 %
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Symrise Iberica S.L., Spain 100 %

Symrise S.A.S., France 100 %

Symrise S.r.l., Italy 100 %

Symrise Vertriebs Gmbh, Austria 100 %

Symrise Kimya Sanayi Ticaret Ltd. Sirketi, Turkey 100 %

Symrise Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Luxembourg 100 %

WWS Limited, UK 100 %

Symrise Group Finance holding 1 BVBA, Belgium 100 %

Symrise Group Finance holding 2 CV, Belgium 100 %

north america  

Symrise Inc., USA 100 %

Symrise holding Inc., USA 100 %

Symrise US LLC, USA 100 %

latin america  

Symrise Aromas e Fragrâncias Ltda., Brazil 100 %

Symrise S.R.L., Argentina 100 %

Symrise S.A., Chile 100 %

Symrise Ltda., Colombia 100 %

Symrise C.A., Venezuela 100 %

Symrise S. de R.L. de C.V., Mexico 100 %

asia and pacific  

Symrise Pty. Ltd., Australia 100 %

Symrise Shanghai Limited, China 100 %

Symrise SDN. BhD, Malaysia 100 %

Symrise holding Pte. Limited, Singapore 100 %

Symrise Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Singapore 100 %

Symrise Limited, South Korea 100 %

Symrise Ltd., Thailand 100 %

P.T. Symrise, Indonesia 100 %

Symrise Inc., Philippines 100 %

Symrise Private Limited, India 100 %

Symrise K.K., Japan 100 %

africa and middle east  

Aroma Labs For Flavours S.A.E., Egypt 100 %

Futura Labs International S.A.E., Egypt 100 %

Roseland Flavors & Fragrances CORP, Dubai 100 %

Symrise (Pty) Ltd., South Africa 100 %

Symrise S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100 %

Origines S.a.r.L., Madagascar 100 %
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associated Companies as of december 31, 2013  

name and registered office of the entity share

Therapeutic Peptides Inc., USA 20.0 %

Probi AB, Sweden 29.9 %

50.   e xemption From the oBliGation to prepare annual FinanCial statements pursuant 
to seC.  264 (3)  oF the hGB

DrinkStar GmbH, Tesium GmbH and Symotion GmbH are included in the consolidated financial statements of Symrise AG 
in accordance with the provisions applicable for corporate entities and have taken advantage of the exemption provi
sions covering the preparation, audit and publication of separate annual financial statements pursuant to Sec. 264 (3) of 
the HGB.

51.  Corpor ate GovernanCe
The Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) has been submitted for 
2013 and has been made permanently available to shareholders on our website www.symrise.com.

Holzminden, February 20, 2014

Symrise AG 
The Executive Board

 

Dr. HeinzJürgen Bertram  Achim Daub

Hans Holger Gliewe  Bernd Hirsch
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Statement of the Executive Board

To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial reporting, the 
 consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss 
of the Group, and the Group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the busi
ness and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with 
the expected development of the Group.

Holzminden, February 20, 2014

Symrise AG 
The Executive Board

 

Dr. HeinzJürgen Bertram  Achim Daub

Hans Holger Gliewe  Bernd Hirsch
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Auditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Symrise AG, Holzminden, comprising the consoli
dated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, 
consolidated statement of cash flows, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the notes, together with the group 
management report for the business year from January 1 to December 31, 2013. The preparation of the consolidated fi
nancial statements and the group management report in  accordance with IFRSs, as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch “German Commercial 
Code”] are the responsibility of the parent company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and German generally 
accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of 
Public Auditors in  Germany] (IDW). Those standards require that we plan and  perform the audit such that misstatements 
materially affecting the presen tation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations in the consolidated 
 financial statements in accordance with the  applicable financial reporting framework and in the group management re
port are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environ
ment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the deter mination of audit pro
cedures. The effectiveness of the accountingrelated internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclo
sures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a test basis 
within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities in
cluded in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRSs, as adopted 
by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315a (1) HGB and give a true and fair 
view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. 
The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Hanover, February 20, 2014

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Marc Ufer Dr. Axel Thümler 
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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DeCl ar ation of ComplianCe as of  
DeCember 2013 pursuant to seC.  161 of  
the German stoCk  Corpor ation aCt
IntroductIon

Under Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG – 
 Aktiengesetz), the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
of a listed company must issue an annual declaration detailing 
whether the company was and is in compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code, as applicable, and detailing recom
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code that have 
not been applied.

WordIng of the declaratIon

On the basis of their deliberations, the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board of Symrise AG issued a new Declaration 
of Compliance on December 5, 2013, pursuant to Sec. 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act. The declaration is worded as 
 follows:

“In accordance with Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act, the Executive and Supervisory Boards of Symrise AG state 
that:

Symrise has, to date, fully complied with all recommendations 
made by the Government Commission on the German Corporate 
Governance Code (version: May 13, 2013) published by the Ger
man Federal Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013, in the official 
part of the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) with the exception 
of one item.

Until now, the company has differed from the 28th recommen
dation issued by the Government Commission of the German Cor
porate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, paragraph 5 
of the code’s current version from May 13, 2013, published in the 
official section of the Federal Gazette by the German Federal 
Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013 as pertains the Chief Execu
tive Officer’s work contract. The commitments for payments in 
case of an early termination of the Executive Board position re
sulting from a change of control could exceed 150 % of the sev
erance payment cap and amount to up to 250 % of the severance 
payment cap.

Effective as of today, the company will again comply with the 
28th recommendation issued by the Government Commission of 
the German Corporate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, 
paragraph 5 of the code’s current version from May 13, 2013, pub
lished in the official section of the Federal Gazette by the Ger
man Federal Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013 and will contin
ue to do so in the future.

Corporate Governance Statement Pursuant 
to Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) and Corporate Governance Report

In addition to the Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 
of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the following Cor
porate Governance Statement pursuant to Sec. 289a of the HGB 
(German Commercial Code) also contains Symrise’s Corporate 
Governance Report in the sense of no. 3.10 of the German Corpo
rate Governance Code’s (DCGK) current version from May 13, 
2013, as published in the official part of the electronic Federal 
Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) by the German Federal Ministry 
of Justice on June 10, 2013. It is also available on Symrise AG’s 
website at http://www.symrise.com/investors/corporate- 
governance/corporate-governance-statement-and-corporate- 
governance-report.

Corpor ate GovernanCe statement
The actions of Symrise AG’s management and oversight bodies 
are determined by the principles of good and responsible corpo
rate governance. The Executive Board – also acting on behalf of 
the Supervisory Board – has issued the following Corporate 
 Governance Statement. The Corporate Governance Statement 
pursuant to Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
comprises the Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 of 
the German Stock Corporation Act, relevant information on cor
porate governance practices, a description of the working meth
ods of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as well as the com
position and working methods of their committees. Pursuant to 
the currently valid version of no. 3.10 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code (DCGK) from May 13, 2013, published in the 
official section of the Federal Gazette by the German Federal 
Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013, the Corporate Governance 
Report, which is required to be issued annually by the Execu
tive Board and the Supervisory Board, must be published together 
with the Corporate Governance Statement.

Due to the similarity of content between the Corporate Gover
nance Report and the Corporate Governance Statement, we have 
decided to integrate the Corporate Governance Report in the 
meaning of no. 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance Code 
into the Corporate Governance Statement pursuant to Sec. 289a 
of the German Commercial Code in order to simplify orientation 
for the reader. By contrast, the remuneration report is no longer 
part of the Corporate Governance Report pursuant to the current 
version of no. 4.2.5 of the German Corporate Governance Code 
(DCGK) from May 13, 2013, as published in the official section of 
the Federal Gazette by the German Federal Ministry of Justice 
on June 10, 2013. The remuneration report is now part of the 
management report included on pages 33 to 37 of the 2013 
 financial report.
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our complIance organIzatIon

At Symrise, we understand “compliance” as an integrated organi
zational model ensuring adherence to legal regulations as well 
as intercompany guidelines and the corresponding processes and 
systems. In this respect, the focus of compliance activities 
at Symrise is on quality, environmental protection, health, work 
safety, energy, product safety, food safety, risk and value man
agement, antitrust laws and combating corruption. For this rea
son, the Executive Board of Symrise AG has bundled the corre
sponding functional units from integrated compliance manage
ment system, internal auditing, risk management and sustain
ability in the Corporate Compliance organization. The results of 
all audits and knowledge from risk management are joined to
gether in this organizational unit. As a result, the measures will 
now be coordinated more efficiently.

The Executive Board of Symrise AG has explicitly expressed 
both internally and externally its refusal to accept any form of 
compliance infringement. Infringements will not be tolerated 
at Symrise. Sanctions will be imposed upon involved employees 
wherever necessary and legally possible.

Symrise has an integrated Corporate Compliance management 
system that combines sustainable, risk and valueoriented, as 
well as legal and ethical aspects and rules; we have made this 
into a fundamental principle for everything we do in business. 
We act on the basis of our understanding and conviction that ad
herence to these fundamental rules is an inalienable and non
negotiable component of our Symrise identity. Only a clearly de
fined and transparent framework of what type of conduct is 
 allowed and what type of conduct is not allowed guarantees the 
success and sustainability of our business.

Our principle is clear and applies to all countries: “A transaction 
that cannot be brought into line with our fundamental principles 
is not a transaction for Symrise.”

The Corporate Compliance office as well as Internal Auditing 
 report directly to the CEO. This ensures their independence and 
authority. The Corporate Compliance office and Internal Audit
ing report to the Auditing Committee of the Supervisory Board 
regularly at each meeting.

The Declaration of Compliance has also been made publicly 
available on Symrise AG’s website at http://www.symrise.com/
investors/corporate-governance/declaration-of-compliance.

rele vant information on Company pr aCtiCes
IntroductIon

This part of the Corporate Governance Statement provides rele
vant information on corporate governance practices beyond the 
scope of legal requirements. In other words, the discussion en
compasses all regulations that are derived neither from legal reg
ulations nor from the recommendations and suggestions of the 
Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code.

our code of conduct

In order to ensure uniform and exemplary actions and conduct 
within the company, a Code of Conduct was devised in 2006 which 
applies as a binding guiding principle equally to all Symrise 
 employees in Germany and other countries, i. e. to the Executive 
Board and the Supervisory Board, as well as to Group manage
rial staff and employees. This Code of Conduct was fundamental
ly revised in 2012 and adapted to the latest developments. The 
Code of Conduct defines minimum standards and sets out behav
ior enabling all employees to cooperate in meeting these stan
dards. The purpose of the Code is to help all employees cope with 
the ethical and legal challenges of their everyday work and pro
vide them with guidance in conflict situations. In the interest of 
all employees and the Group, noncompliance will be investigated 
and its causes will be remedied. This means that misconduct will 
be consistently prosecuted in accordance with national laws.

Our Code of Conduct provides the framework for interactions with 
our key stakeholders: employees and colleagues, customers and 
suppliers, shareholders and investors, neighbors and society, na
tional and local governments as well as government agencies, 
media and the public.

The Code of Conduct is based on our values and principles. By 
following it, we guarantee that every person is treated fairly and 
with respect while ensuring that our behavior and business 
 activities remain transparent, honest and consistent throughout 
the world.

Our Code of Conduct has been made available on Symrise AG’s 
website at http://www.symrise.com/newsroom/publications/
code-of-conduct.
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ic aspects. In 2013, compliance training was again carried out 
at our company sites in all countries for the areas of management, 
purchasing, sales, finance and production. During the course 
of this training, around 3,600 employees were trained in matters 
such as fair competition, antitrust law and discrimination pre
vention. Furthermore, around 4,700 employees were invited to 
participate in a general, indepth Code of Conduct training 
course. Here, certain sections of our Code of Conduct were ex
plained as part of our threeyear training program. Sensitizing 
our employees to act in a sustainable manner on a daytoday ba
sis is a focus of our training courses every year. Overall, our 
 employees received approximately 30,000 hours of training in 
2013 on topics such as work safety, health, environmental 
 issues, hygiene and compliance.

We plan to hold training sessions once again on these issues in 
2014. The primary focus of our efforts will be on those employee 
groups whose work generally has the greatest improvement 
 potential. We will also more actively train employees who act as 
multipliers and can pass on the training content within the 
 company.

Corpor ate GovernanCe
IntroductIon

Corporate Governance at Symrise is based on the German Cor
porate Governance Code, which has established itself as guideline 
and standard for good corporate governance in Germany. Today, 
we are convinced more than ever before that good corporate gov
ernance is a prerequisite and indispensable basis for the suc
cess of a company. This success depends especially on the trust 
of our business partners, financial markets, investors, employ
ees and the public. Confirming and further strengthening this 
trust is a prioritized objective at Symrise. Achieving this ob
jective calls for responsible leadership along with corporate man
agement and control focused on creating sustainable value.

In the past, we oriented ourselves to internationally and nation
ally acknowledged standards of good and responsible corporate 
governance and will continue to do so in the future. In the 2013 
fiscal year, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board dealt 
intensively with all corporate governance issues on numerous 
occasions across all areas. In particular, the new version of the 
German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) from May 13, 2013, 
as published in the official section of the Federal Gazette by the 
German Federal Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013, was once 
again the focus of deliberations.

our IntegrIt y hotlIne

Already in the summer of 2008, Symrise’s Corporate Compli
ance office installed an Integrity Hotline to ensure that Symrise 
employees can anonymously report violations of both legal regu
lations and internal company guidelines from anywhere in the 
world. By means of this hotline, all our employees are able to 
contact the Compliance office using tollfree telephone numbers 
that have been specially set up in the individual countries. An 
intermediary service operator ensures that employees can retain 
anonymity where required and communicate in their own na
tive language. By entering an access code, employees can leave 
a message with the Compliance office. They receive a number 
that enables them to call back later and listen to the answer left 
for them by the Compliance office. This procedure can be con
tinued as long as one likes, enabling intensive communication 
between the Compliance office and the person providing the 
 information while preserving the latter’s anonymity. At the same 
time, abuses can be prevented through targeted queries. Since 
the fall of 2009, employees have been able to additionally contact 
Compliance office staff anonymously and leave messages via 
the online service of the Symrise Integrity Hotline. As a result, 
it is no longer absolutely necessary to communicate with the 
Compliance office over the phone. Of course, all employees can 
also contact the Compliance office directly and personally at 
any time.

In 2013, no cases were reported via the Integrity Hotline world
wide. Instead, four cases of irregularities were reported directly 
to the Compliance office. In each case, investigations were then 
initiated. No material damage to third parties or to our company 
resulted from these cases.

our traInIng courses on complIance Issues

In order to ensure that all compliance requirements are consis
tently met, the need for training is regularly determined and 
 appropriate measures are implemented. In addition to training 
courses where employees are present on site, we are also in
creasingly offering internetbased training. We are thereby able 
to reach a larger number of employees in a shorter period of 
time. Furthermore, every employee can decide more flexibly when 
and where he or she would like to attend each training course. 
Final tests ensure that the course material has been understood.

In addition to the requirements of their position, new Symrise 
employees are given comprehensive training when they join the 
company on the fundamental principles of our Code of Conduct. 
In addition to this, we run a variety of training courses on specif
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seven independent members should always be represented in the 
Supervisory Board. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board strives 
to ensure that the share of Supervisory Board members from other 
nations does not fall below onethird. The term of office for 
a  Supervisory Board member must end at the conclusion of the 
Annual General Meeting following the member’s 70th birthday. 
All of these targets are currently being met. Concerning future 
nominations, it will be ensured that the targets defined by the 
Supervisory Board continue to be fulfilled.

transparency

Pursuant to Sec. 15a of the German Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG — Wertpapierhandelsgesetz), the members of the Execu
tive Board and the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG as well 
as certain employees with management duties and the persons 
with whom they have a close relationship must disclose the 
 purchase or sale of Symrise shares and related financial instru
ments. This duty of disclosure applies if the value of the trans
actions undertaken by one of the aforementioned persons reaches 
or exceeds the sum of € 5,000.

All of the reports received by Symrise AG as of December 31, 
2013, are published on our website at http://www.symrise.
com/investors/corporate-governance/directors-dealings. 
This includes all such reports since the IPO in December 2006, 
including any persons who have meanwhile left the Executive 
Board or the Supervisory Board.

The direct or indirect total holding of shares in Symrise AG by 
all members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as of De
cember 31, 2013, was more than 1 %. Of the 6.142 % of shares in 
Symrise AG held by members of the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards, 6.001 % is held by members of the Supervisory Board 
while 0.141 % is held by members of the Executive Board (values 
are rounded).

A summary of the respective mandates of the members of the 
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board outside of the 
 Symrise Group can be found on pages 134/135 of the 2013 
 financial report.

A report on the relationships to associated companies and related 
parties can be found on page 112 of the 2013 financial report.

conflIcts of Interest

As in the previous year, conflicts of interest involving members of 
the Executive Board, which have to be disclosed to the Supervi
sory Board without delay, did not occur in 2013. The only consul
tant or service agreements or other exchange contracts between 
members of the Supervisory Board and the company in the 2013 
fiscal year involved Mr. HorstOtto Gerberding, as in the previous 
year:

In connection with the retirement of Mr. Gerberding as manag
ing director of the former Symrise Holding GmbH, the company 
and Mr. Gerberding entered into an “Amended and Restated 
 Service Agreement” on September 4, 2003. Under the terms of 
this agreement, Mr. Gerberding is entitled to an annual retire
ment pension of € 100,000 until his death. This amount increases 
by € 7,500 for each year that Mr. Gerberding remains in the 
 service of the company after the conclusion of the agreement. 
Mr. Gerberding is also entitled to a pension from Symrise AG 
through an employment and supply contract dated July 29, 1983. 
The total sum is € 24,358 per month.

objectIves of the supervIsory board 

In relatIon to Its composItIon

In its session on December 5, 2013, pursuant to no. 5.4.1 para
graph 2 sentence 1 of the German Corporate Governance Code 
in its current version from May 13, 2013, the Supervisory Board 
set itself concrete goals which, in keeping with the company’s 
specific situation, take account of (i) the company’s international 
activity, (ii) potential conflicts of interest, (iii) the number of 
 independent Supervisory Board members, (iv) an age limit for 
Supervisory Board members to be defined, and (v) diversity. 
One of its main goals is ensuring an appropriate participation 
of women. 

The current Supervisory Board at Symrise AG has a total 
of twelve members, including seven independent members and 
three women: Prof. Dr. Pfeifer, Ms. Jarke and Ms. Hufnagel. The 
Supervisory Board seeks to ensure that in its future composition 
too, at least onefourth of its members will be female. The Super
visory Board considers this to be an appropriate share of women. 
They arrived at this figure by doubling the current proportion 
of women among the Group’s managerial staff, which amounted 
to oneeighth at the end of the last fiscal year. Generally, at least 
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InformatIon servIce for our shareholders

Corporate communication is undertaken with the objective of 
guaranteeing the greatest possible transparency and equality 
of opportunities through timely and equal information to all 
 target groups. All major press and capital market releases by 
Symrise AG are also published on the company’s website in Ger
man and in English. The articles of incorporation, the rules of 
procedure for the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, as 
well as the annual and consolidated financial statements, quar
terly results and the annual and halfyearly financial reports can 
also be found on our website.

We regularly notify our shareholders, analysts, shareholder as
sociations and the public of all important recurring dates through 
a financial calendar published in the corporate report, in the 
 financial report, the quarterly reports and on the company web
site. Regular meetings with analysts and institutional investors 
are part of our investor relations activities. This includes an an
nual analysts’ conference as well as conference calls for analysts 
and investors coinciding with the publication of our quarterly 
and halfyearly figures.

The most important presentations prepared for these and other 
events, such as the Annual General Meeting, road shows and 
 investor conferences, can also be viewed on our website. The 
 location and dates of road shows and investor conferences can 
also be found on our website at http://www.symrise.com/ 
investors/financial-calendar/2014/.

rIsk management

Dealing with risks of all kinds responsibly has the utmost im
portance for the success of a company. For this reason, a compre
hensive risk management system is a mandatory element of suit
able corporate governance. The Executive Board ensures appro
priate risk management and risk controlling throughout the 
Group. The risk management system is constantly developed and 
adapted to changing conditions. Previously, potential risks were 
analyzed and classified throughout the Group twice a year. Now, 
the analysis and classification of possible risks is performed con
stantly using electronic systems across the entire Group. This en
sures that the company’s risk situation is always available and 
up to date.

shareholders and annual general meetIng

Symrise AG shareholders exercise their codetermination and 
control rights at the General Meeting, which takes place at least 
once each year. The Meeting makes decisions on all statutory 
matters that are binding on all shareholders and the company. For 
every decision, each share is entitled to one vote. All sharehold
ers that register within the specified period are entitled to partic
ipate in the Annual General Meeting. Shareholders who are not 
able to attend the Meeting in person are entitled to have their vot
ing rights exercised by a bank, a shareholder association, a vot
ing proxy of Symrise AG who is bound by its instruments or an
other proxy of their own choosing. Shareholders also have the 
possibility of voting online in the runup to the Annual General 
Meeting or authorizing the voting proxy provided by the com
pany on the web. Instructions on how voting rights are to be ex
ercised may be given to a voting proxy before and during the 
Annual General Meeting on May 14, 2014, up until the end of the 
general debate. It is possible to transfer the voting rights to a 
voting proxy electronically up until 6:00 p.m. on the evening of 
May 13, 2014. The invitation to the Annual General Meeting and 
the reports and information required for the decisions are pub
lished according to stock corporation law and made available on 
Symrise AG’s website in German and English.

It is our intention to provide our shareholders with quick, com
prehensive and effective information before and during the An
nual General Meeting and to make it easy for them to exercise 
their rights. The corporate report, the financial report and the in
vitation to the Annual General Meeting, which are also avail
able on the website of Symrise AG, provide the shareholders with 
comprehensive information on the past fiscal year and the indi
vidual agenda items of the upcoming Annual General Meeting. 
All documents and information pertaining to the Annual Gen
eral Meeting as well as the corporate and financial reports are 
available on the website of Symrise AG.

The registration and legitimation process for the Annual General 
Meeting is simple. The 21st day before the Meeting is the cutoff 
date for the legitimation of the shareholders.

Subsequent to the Annual General Meeting, we also publish the 
attendance figures and voting results on our website.
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identified during the audit to the Executive Board and the Super
visory Board. Moreover, the auditors are required to notify the 
Supervisory Board and make a note in the audit report if circum
stances are identified during the audit that are incompatible 
with the Declaration of Compliance issued by the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board in accordance with Sec. 161 of the Ger
man Stock Corporation Act.

DesCription of the WorkinG me thoDs of the 
e xeCutive anD supervisory boarDs
IntroductIon

This part of the Corporate Governance Statement focuses on the 
working methods of the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board 
and of the committees formed by the Supervisory Board. The 
composition of these committees will also be briefly discussed. 
The Executive Board has not formed any committees. 

dual management system

Symrise AG is a company under German law, which is influenced 
by the German Corporate Governance Code. One of the funda
mental principles of German stock corporation law is the dual 
management system involving two bodies, the Executive Board 
and the Supervisory Board, each of which is entrusted with inde
pendent competencies. Symrise AG’s Executive Board and Su
pervisory Board cooperate closely and in a spirit of trust in man
aging and overseeing the company.

executIve board

The Executive Board of Symrise AG currently has four members. 
All members of the Executive Board are appointed by the Super
visory Board. The Executive Board is responsible for managing 
the company’s business operations in the interest of the com
pany with a view to creating sustainable value. The Executive 
Board develops the company’s strategic direction, coordinates 
this with the Supervisory Board and is responsible for its imple
mentation.

The Executive Board provides the Supervisory Board with regu
lar, prompt and comprehensive reports on all relevant issues of 
corporate planning and strategic development, on company per
formance, on the state of the Group, including a risk profile, and 
on risk management. The reporting of the Executive Board also 
includes the topic of compliance, i.e. the measures for adherence 
to legal regulations and internal corporate guidelines. The ar
ticles of incorporation specify reservations of consent for signifi
cant business transactions. These reservations of consent are 
contained in identical form in rules of procedure for the Executive 
Board.

The risk management system at Symrise AG, its security mecha
nisms, internal guidelines and monitoring instruments, are 
checked by the internal Group auditors without prior notice. Risks 
identified in this manner are immediately reported to the Exec
utive Board.

The auditors in Germany and abroad monitor the early recogni
tion system for risk in accordance with Sec. 91 (2) of the German 
Stock Corporation Act. 

Along with the audit of annual accounts and monitoring of ac
counting procedures, the Auditing Committee set up by the 
 Supervisory Board also undertakes regular auditing and monitor
ing of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk manage
ment system. This also includes, for example, regular reporting by 
Internal Auditing and the Compliance office of Symrise.

This overlapping mechanism allows risks to be identified and 
 assessed at an early stage. The Executive Board regularly informs 
the Supervisory Board and Auditing Committee of existing risks 
and their development. Specific measures are proposed and im
plemented right from this early stage to mitigate the identified 
risks. The Group’s inhouse auditors also check on the implemen
tation of these new measures and the results are given a critical 
assessment. The risk profile is thereby constantly monitored and 
measures necessary to mitigate risks are introduced. Specific 
staff members are assigned responsibility for this and held ac
countable in their performance review.

our audItors: kpmg

With regard to the consolidated financial statements and the in
terim reports at Symrise, our accounting in the 2013 fiscal year 
was again based on the International Financial Reporting Stan
dards (IFRS) as required to be applied in the European Union. The 
legally prescribed individual accounts of Symrise AG that are 
decisive for the payment of dividends have been prepared in ac
cordance with the regulations of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB  Handelsgesetzbuch). As in 2012, the annual financial state
ments, the management report and consolidated annual finan
cial statements of Symrise AG as well as the Group management 
report were again audited in 2013 by our auditors KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Hanover. An agreement is in 
place with the auditors to promptly notify the chairman of the 
Auditing Committee of any grounds for disqualification or prej
udice that are identified during the audit, insofar as such cir
cumstances cannot immediately be rectified. The auditors are in
structed to report without delay all findings and incidents of 
 significance for the duties of the Supervisory Board that are 
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The six employee representatives were chosen from among the 
German staff on February 21, 2011. As of June 30, 2013, Karl
Heinz Huchthausen officially retired and accordingly resigned 
from his position on the Supervisory Board. His elected re
placement, Harald Feist, became a member of the Supervisory 
Board at Symrise AG as of July 1, 2013. 

All members are appointed to the Supervisory Board for a period 
until the end of the Annual General Meeting in the fourth fiscal 
year after beginning their term, at which point a decision about 
their discharge is made. The initial year of service is not included 
in this calculation. The period of service for the members of the 
Supervisory Board will therefore presumably end in early 2016. 
When nominating candidates for election to the Supervisory 
Board, particular attention is paid to the knowledge, skills and 
professional experience required for the duties to be performed, 
as well as to the principle of diversity among the Supervisory 
Board’s members. The current Supervisory Board at Symrise AG 
includes seven independent members and three women: Prof. 
Dr. Pfeifer, Ms. Jarke and Ms. Hufnagel.

As in the past, no former Executive Board members are serving 
on the Supervisory Board in order to ensure its neutral and 
i ndependent consulting and supervising of the Executive Board. 
At least one independent member has expertise in accounting 
or auditing.

supervIsory board commIt tees

As in the past, the Supervisory Board formed a total of four com
mittees to fulfill its responsibilities more efficiently. These com
mittees draft the Supervisory Board’s resolutions and prepare the 
agenda items to be addressed in the full sessions. To the extent 
that it is legally admissible, the Supervisory Board will delegate 
decision making to its committees in individual cases. The 
 Supervisory Board established an Auditing Committee, an Arbi
tration Committee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Codetermina
tion Act (MitbestG), a Personnel Committee and a Nominations 
Committee as permanent committees. The task of the latter is 
to recommend suitable candidates as shareholder representatives 
when new Supervisory Board elections are coming up. The 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board chairs all of the committees 
with the exception of the Auditing Committee. In the full ses
sions, the chairmen of the committees report regularly and com
prehensively on the content and results of the committee 
 meetings.

These provisions are available to the public on our website at 
http://www.symrise.com/investors/corporate-governance/
executive-board.

supervIsory board

The Supervisory Board advises and oversees the Executive 
Board in the management of the company. It is involved in strat
egy and planning as well as all other decisions of fundamental 
significance to the company. The chairman of the Supervisory 
Board coordinates the work in the Supervisory Board, chairs 
its meetings and externally represents the concerns of the body. 
An extraordinary Supervisory Board meeting may be convened 
if required when events of particular relevance occur. In the 
course of preparing for the Supervisory Board meetings, the rep
resentatives of shareholders and employees meet separately, 
if necessary. The Supervisory Board has adopted rules of proce
dure that find corresponding application in the committees of 
the Supervisory Board.

These rules have been made available on our website at 
http://www.symrise.com/investors/corporate-governance/
supervisory-board.

composItIon of the supervIsory board

In accordance with the articles of incorporation, Symrise AG’s 
Supervisory Board comprises twelve members, with six repre
sentatives elected by the shareholders and six by the employees 
for an identical period of office. In accordance with the recom
mendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the share
holder representatives are elected individually at the Annual 
General Meeting. All members of the Supervisory Board were last 
elected in the 2011 fiscal year as part of the rotation system. 
Shareholders elected six shareholder representatives to the Super
visory Board on May 18, 2011, at the Annual General Meeting. A 
shareholder representative resigned from his position as a share
holder representative on the Supervisory Board due to reaching 
retirement age; the resignation took effect upon conclusion of the 
Annual General Meeting on May 15, 2012. The Annual General 
Meeting on May 15, 2012, elected Dr. Winfried Steeger as his 
successor.
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currently has six members. Three members are shareholder 
 representatives on the Supervisory Board and three are employee 
representatives on the Supervisory Board. The members are: 
Dr. Michael Becker (Chairman), Dr. Peter Grafoner, Francesco 
Grioli, Regina Hufnagel, Dr. Winfried Steeger and Helmut Tacke. 
The Auditing Committee convened five times in the 2013 fiscal 
year. The Auditing Committee prepared the Supervisory Board’s 
proposal to the Annual General Meeting to again nominate 
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Hanover as the 
auditor. Furthermore, the Auditing Committee discussed the 
 interim reports in detail and approved them before they were 
published. It commissioned the auditor, determined the auditing 
fees, and agreed upon the main points of the audit. The Auditing 
Committee does not have its own rules of procedure. The rules 
of procedure of the Supervisory Board are applied accordingly.
Additionally, the Auditing Committee drew up its own regula
tion regarding its concrete procedure.

Shareholders and employees are equally represented on the Arbi
tration Committee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Codetermina
tion Act (MitbestG). Currently, its four members are Dr. Thomas 
Rabe (Chairman), Harald Feist, Dr. Peter Grafoner and Regina 
Hufnagel. Once again, it was not necessary to convene the Arbi
tration Committee during the 2013 fiscal year. The Arbitration 
Committee does not have its own rules of procedure. The rules of 
procedure of the Supervisory Board are applied accordingly.

The Nominations Committee consists exclusively of shareholder 
representatives from the Supervisory Board in accordance with 
the German Corporate Governance Code. Its task is to recommend 
shareholder representatives to the Annual General Meeting 
who would be suitable Supervisory Board members for upcoming 
Supervisory Board elections. The current three members of the 
Nominations Committee are: Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman), Horst
Otto Gerberding and Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer. It was not neces
sary to convene the Nominations Committee during the 2013 fis
cal year. The Nominations Committee does not have its own 
rules of procedure. The rules of procedure of the Supervisory 
Board are applied accordingly. 

The Personnel Committee is responsible for matters pertaining to 
the Executive Board. These matters include making resolution 
recommendations at the full Supervisory Board meetings regard
ing the appointment of Executive Board members or regarding 
components of Executive Board members’ employment contracts. 
This committee is also responsible for succession planning at 
the Executive Board level and it deals with the development of the 
Executive Board remuneration system, specifies the amount of 
remuneration and makes corresponding recommendations at the 
full Supervisory Board meetings. The Personnel Committee ad
ditionally resolved to incorporate the criterion of diversity when 
appointing future Executive Board members, striving in partic
ular to give appropriate consideration to women. The Personnel 
Committee currently has six members, of which three members 
are shareholder representatives and three are employee represen
tatives on the Supervisory Board. The members are: Dr. Thomas 
Rabe (Chairman), HorstOtto Gerberding, Francesco Grioli, Regina 
Hufnagel, Christiane Jarke and Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer. The 
 Personnel Committee convened two times in the 2013 fiscal year. 
The Personnel Committee does not have its own rules of proce
dure. The rules of procedure of the Supervisory Board are applied 
accordingly.

The Auditing Committee deals with the annual financial state
ments and consolidated financial statements. In addition, it mon
itors the accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal 
controlling system, the risk management system, the internal au
diting system and the audit of annual accounts. It also monitors 
the independence and qualifications of the auditor as well as addi
tional services provided by the auditor. Furthermore, the Audit
ing Committee discussed the interim reports in detail and ap
proved them before they were published. The Auditing Commit
tee prepares the Supervisory Board’s decision on the approval 
of the annual financial statements and its approval of the consol
idated financial statements. To this end, it is responsible for pre
auditing the annual financial statements, the consolidated finan
cial statements, the management report and the proposal regard
ing appropriation of earnings. Among the regular agenda items 
are also the receipt of the reports from Internal Auditing and the 
Compliance office as well as the risk report. At least one member 
of the Auditing Committee must be independent and possess 
 expertise in accounting or auditing. The Auditing Committee 
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Report of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG 

Dear Shareholders,

The drivers of international economic development remained 
limited in 2013. The International Monetary Fund’s (IMF) outlook 
projected growth of 2.9 % for the overall global economy for the 
year. This corresponds to a drop of 0.3 percentage points in the 
growth rate compared to 2012. The main causes for this develop
ment can be found in the slowing rate of expansion in the devel
oping and emerging markets, which have seen their collective 
growth rate fall from 6.2 % in 2011 to 4.9 % in 2012 and achieved 
only 4.5 % for the whole of 2013. Overall though, developing and 
emerging countries are continuing to grow considerably faster 
than industrialized nations, where economic output in 2013 only 
grew by an average of 1.2 %. Despite uncertainties regarding eco
nomic developments, our company was successful and main
tained its profitable growth course. Once more, Symrise posted 
strong growth in sales and earnings in 2013.

In this report, I would like to inform you about the key activities 
of the Supervisory Board in this challenging environment. In 
2013, the Supervisory Board again fulfilled its responsibilities 
under the law and according to the articles of incorporation with 
great care. In the sessions of the Supervisory Board and its com
mittees, we again discussed and reached agreements on a num
ber of matters and business transactions subject to our approval.

We regularly provided consultation to the Executive Board and 
supervised the management of the company. We are satisfied 
that the company was managed in a way that complied with all 
legal and regulatory requirements. The Supervisory Board was 
 directly and deeply involved in all decisions of fundamental sig
nificance to the company. The Executive Board comprehen
sively discussed and coordinated the strategic planning and ori
entation of the company with us. As in previous fiscal years, 
the Supervisory and Executive Boards held a separate meeting 
in 2013 to examine and evaluate the company’s strategy.

Based on information received from the Executive Board, we thor
oughly discussed and advised on all business transactions of 
significance to the company in our full Supervisory Board meet
ings. The Executive Board provided us with regular, current 
and comprehensive reports in written and oral form on all aspects 
important to the company for this purpose. This includes above 
all information on the development of the business and financial 
situation, the employment situation, ongoing and planned in
vestments, basic corporate strategy and planning issues as well 
as the risk situation, risk management and the compliance pro
gram. The Executive Board informed us at an early stage of mat
ters that, according to legal requirements and /or the articles 
of incorporation, are subject to our approval and allowed us the 
necessary time to make a decision. Wherever required by law 
or by the articles of incorporation, we submitted our vote on the 
reports and proposed resolutions of the Executive Board after 
thorough analysis and discussion. In urgent special cases, deci
sions were made in consultation with the Chairman of the 
 Supervisory Board, either by telephone or in writing.

Dr. thomas rabe , chairman of the supervisory board of symrise ag
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The Executive Board provided us with a monthly report on all of 
the key financial figures. When there were deviations in the 
course of business from the set plans and objectives, we received 
detailed explanations in written and oral form, enabling us 
to discuss the reasons for the deviations and targeted correction 
measures with the Executive Board.

Additionally, during the periods between the sessions of the Su
pervisory Board and its committees, the Chairman of the Super
visory Board and the Chairman of the Auditing Committee in 
particular were in close and continuous contact with the Execu
tive Board. Restrained global economic growth and its conse
quences for current and future business development as well as 
the status of essential projects and key business transactions in 
both Group divisions were repeatedly a subject of our discussions 
with the Executive Board.

As in the previous year, conflicts of interest of members of the 
Executive and Supervisory Boards, which must be disclosed to 
the Supervisory Board without delay and reported to the Annual 
General Meeting along with their underlying circumstances 
and a report of how they will be handled, did not occur in 2013.

the supervisory boarD’s Work in Commit tees
As in the past, the Supervisory Board formed a total of four com
mittees to fulfill its responsibilities more efficiently. These com
mittees draft the Supervisory Board’s resolutions and prepare the 
agenda items to be addressed in the full sessions. To the extent 
that it was legally admissible, the Supervisory Board delegated 
decision making to its committees in individual cases. This 
 practice of delegation has proved successful in our experience. 
The Supervisory Board established an Auditing Committee, an 
Arbitration Committee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Codetermi
nation Act (MitbestG), a Personnel Committee and a Nomina
tions Committee as permanent committees. The task of the latter 
is to recommend suitable candidates as shareholder represen
tatives on the Supervisory Board when new Supervisory Board 
elections are coming up. The Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board chairs all of the committees with the exception of the 
 Auditing Committee. 

In the Supervisory Board sessions, the chairmen of the commit
tees report regularly and extensively on the content and results of 
the committee meetings. As a result, the Supervisory Board 
 always has a comprehensive basis of information for its consul
tations.

The Personnel Committee is responsible for matters pertaining to 
the Executive Board. These matters include making resolution 
recommendations at the full Supervisory Board meetings regard
ing the appointment of Executive Board members or regarding 
components of Executive Board members’ employment contracts. 
This committee is also responsible for succession planning at 
the Executive Board level and it deals with the development of the 
Executive Board remuneration system, specifies the amount of 
remuneration and makes corresponding recommendations at the 
full Supervisory Board meetings. The Personnel Committee ad
ditionally resolved to incorporate the criterion of diversity when 
appointing future Executive Board members, striving in partic
ular to give appropriate consideration to women. The Personnel 
Committee currently has six members, of which three members 
are shareholder representatives and three are employee represen
tatives on the Supervisory Board. 

The members are: Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman), HorstOtto 
 Gerberding, Francesco Grioli, Regina Hufnagel, Christiane Jarke 
and Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer. All of the members attended every 
meeting.

The Personnel Committee convened two times in the 2013 fiscal 
year. Its agenda points included reappointing Achim Daub for 
three years taking effect as of January 1, 2014, evaluating the Ex
ecutive Board members’ performance during the 2012 fiscal 
year, setting new targets for the 2013 fiscal year, reviewing the 
Executive Board members’ remuneration with a focus on the 
multiyear remuneration program (LTIP) as well as succession 
planning for the Executive Board and the two upper manage
ment levels.
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The Auditing Committee deals with the annual financial state
ments and consolidated financial statements. In addition, it moni
tors the accounting process, the effectiveness of the internal 
 controlling system, the risk management system, the internal au
diting system and the audit of annual accounts. It also monitors 
the independence and qualifications of the auditor as well as addi
tional services provided by the auditor. Furthermore, the Auditing 
Committee discussed the interim reports in detail and approved 
them before they were published. The Auditing Committee pre
pares the Supervisory Board’s decision on the approval of the an
nual financial statements and its approval of the consolidated fi
nancial statements. To this end, it is responsible for preauditing 
the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial state
ments, the management report and the proposal regarding appro
priation of earnings. Among the regular agenda items are also 
the receipt of the reports from Internal Auditing and the Compli
ance office as well as the risk report. At least one member of the 
Auditing Committee must be independent and possess expertise 
in accounting or auditing. The Auditing Committee currently 
has six members. Three members are shareholder representatives 
on the Supervisory Board and three are employee represen
tatives on the Supervisory Board. The members are: Dr. Michael 
Becker (Chairman), Dr. Peter Grafoner, Francesco Grioli, Regina 
Hufnagel, Dr. Winfried Steeger and Helmut Tacke. The Auditing 
Committee convened five times in the 2013 fiscal year. One 
member of the Auditing Committee was unable to attend one 
meeting. The CFO regularly attends the meetings of the Audit
ing Committee while the auditor, CEO and other guests are pres
ent for individual agenda items when needed. The committee’s 
work focused on the interim reports, the annual financial state
ments and consolidated financial statements, the auditor’s re
ports as well as on the refinement of the risk management system 
and compliance program. Financing future growth /measures 
and conditions were also a main topic for one of the Auditing 
Committee’s meetings. The auditor reported in detail on all 
 findings and incidents of significance to the duties of the Super
visory Board that were identified during the audit and reviews 
of the interim financial statements following the conclusion of the 
first half of the year.

The Auditing Committee prepared the Supervisory Board’s pro
posal to the Annual General Meeting to again nominate KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of Hanover as the auditor. 
 Furthermore, the Auditing Committee solicited a statement of 
 independence from the auditor. It commissioned the auditor to 
conduct an audit with a riskoriented approach, established the 
main focuses of the audit and determined the auditing fees.

Shareholders and employees are equally represented on the Arbi
tration Committee pursuant to Sec. 27 (3) of the Codetermina
tion Act (MitbestG). Currently, its four members are Dr. Thomas 
Rabe (Chairman), Harald Feist, Dr. Peter Grafoner and Regina 
Hufnagel. Once again, it was not necessary to convene the Arbi
tration Committee during the 2013 fiscal year.

The Nominations Committee consists exclusively of shareholder 
representatives from the Supervisory Board in accordance with 
the German Corporate Governance Code. Its task is to recommend 
shareholder representatives to the Annual General Meeting 
who would be suitable Supervisory Board members for upcoming 
Supervisory Board elections. The current three members of the 
Nominations Committee are: Dr. Thomas Rabe (Chairman), Horst
Otto Gerberding and Prof. Dr. Andrea Pfeifer. It was not neces
sary to convene the Nominations Committee during the 2013 
 fiscal year.

topiCs of the full supervisory boarD mee tinGs
The effects of slow global economic growth, continuing high 
raw materials costs, the ongoing European debt crisis and sharply 
rising energy costs on Symrise represented the main focuses 
of our work and objects of regular discussions by the Supervisory 
Board. In light of these matters, we discussed with the Execu
tive Board in detail the measures it had enacted as well as those 
planned for the future. Regular deliberations within the Super
visory Board also covered the development of sales, earnings and 
employment at Symrise and its two corporate divisions in the 
 individual regions and the economic conditions present there. It 
also discussed the company’s financial and liquidity situation 
as well as important investment projects and their development 
as measured against the planned objectives. In the 2013 fiscal 
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year, the Supervisory Board held five ordinary sessions, two of 
which focused on specific topics, and one extraordinary session 
held as a conference call. The first meeting on a specific topic cen
tered around the company’s strategy, its monitoring in view 
of the changing economic environment and the state of its imple
mentation, while the second such meeting focused on the an
nual planning for 2014. No member of the Supervisory Board was 
present at less than half of the meetings.

In its extraordinary session on February 4, 2013, the Supervisory 
Board discussed the entrepreneurial rationale, transaction 
structure and results of the due diligence review regarding the 
acquisition of certain assets from the US company Belmay Inc. 
and approved the transaction.

In our session on March 6, 2013, we consulted and coordinated 
with the Executive Board on the approval of the annual finan
cial statements and the consolidated financial statements for 2012. 
We also discussed preparations for the 2013 Annual General 
Meeting, the Corporate Governance Statement, the Corporate Gov
ernance Report and various M & A projects. All members of the 
Supervisory Board and the auditor attended this session.

In our session on May 13, 2013, the Executive Board’s report on 
the company’s performance during the first quarter of 2013 
and its outlook for the rest of the year represented the main focus 
of the meeting as did the impending Annual General Meeting. 
The Executive Board informed us about the most recent develop
ments regarding M & A activities at that time. All Supervisory 
Board members attended this session with the exception of one. 

In the session on August 6, 2013, the Supervisory Board focused 
on the report from the Executive Board on the company’s per
formance during the second quarter and first halfyear of 2013 
and its update to the outlook for the rest of the 2013 fiscal year 
as well as the risk report and the Auditing Committee’s report. 
All Supervisory Board members attended this session, two via 
telephone. Due to the concluding mandate for KarlHeinz Hucht
hausen on June 30, 2013, the Supervisory Board held a vote 

on the Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board and held special 
elections for the committees. 

In the session on September 26, 2013, the Executive Board ex
plained the corporate strategy and discussed it with the Super
visory Board. In view of the changing economic conditions, we 
discussed the necessity of an adjustment to the strategy and the 
state of its implementation in detail with the Executive Board. 
In this session, both business divisions provided us with detailed 
insights into their strategic activities and their implementation. 
We especially focused on the global business unit Aroma Mole
cules within the Scent & Care division and the global applica
tion area Consumer Health within the Flavor & Nutrition division. 
These insights also included information on the significant 
 investment plans of both business divisions. All Supervisory 
Board members attended this session.

The session on December 5, 2013, was devoted to the corporate 
planning for the upcoming 2014 fiscal year. The Supervisory 
Board approved the corporate planning for the 2014 fiscal year 
in this session. We also received the Personnel Committee’s 
 report at this session. Furthermore, we submitted the annual Dec
laration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act together with the Executive Board and up
dated our objectives on the composition of the Supervisory 
Board originally drafted in 2012. All Supervisory Board members 
attended this session.
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annual anD ConsoliDateD finanCial 
statements 2013
The auditor, KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft of 
 Hanover, audited the annual financial statements for the fiscal 
year from January 1, 2013, to December 31, 2013, which were 
prepared by the Executive Board according to HGB (German Com
mercial Code) standards, as well as the Symrise AG manage
ment report. The Auditing Committee issued the order for the au
dit in accordance with the May 14, 2013, resolution of the Annual 
General Meeting. The auditor issued an unqualified audit opinion.

The Symrise AG consolidated financial statements were prepared 
in accordance with Sec. 315a HGB on the basis of the Interna
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable in the 
European Union. The auditor also gave the consolidated finan
cial statements and the Group management report an unqualified 
audit opinion. 

The auditor’s report on these financial statements as well as addi
tional auditing reports and documentation were delivered to 
all members of the Supervisory Board in a timely manner. They 
were discussed thoroughly in the sessions of the Auditing Com
mittee on February 13 and March 6, 2014, and in the session of 
the Supervisory Board on March 6, 2014. The auditors partici
pated in the discussion of the annual financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements in both bodies. 

They reported on the key audit results and were available to 
the Auditing Committee and the Supervisory Board to answer 
any questions and provide additional information.

Following our own review of the annual financial statements, 
the consolidated financial statements, the management report and 
the Group management report, we accepted the findings of the 
auditor. In our session on March 6, 2014, we approved the annual 
financial statements and the consolidated financial statements 
upon the recommendation of the Auditing Committee. The annual 
financial statements are thereby approved. After examining it, 
we endorsed the proposal of the Executive Board for the use of the 
net income for the year. The Supervisory Board considers the 
proposal regarding the use of profits to be appropriate.

Corpor ate GovernanCe
Once a year and pursuant to no. 3.10 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, the Executive Board reports on corporate 
 governance at Symrise AG – also on behalf of the Supervisory 
Board – in conjunction with the publication of the Corporate 
Governance Statement pursuant to Sec. 289a of the German Com
mercial Code (HGB). The Corporate Governance Statement com
prises the Declaration of Compliance pursuant to Sec. 161 of the 
German Stock Corporation Act, relevant information on corpo
rate governance practices, a description of the working methods 
of the Executive and Supervisory Boards as well as the compo
sition and working methods of their committees. Pursuant to the 
current version of no. 3.10 of the German Corporate Governance 
Code (DCGK) from May 13, 2013, published in the official section 
of the Federal Gazette by the German Federal Ministry of Jus
tice on June 10, 2013, the Corporate Governance Report, which is 
required to be issued annually by the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board, must now be published together with the Cor
porate Governance Statement. Due to the similarity of content 
between the Corporate Governance Report and the Corporate Gov
ernance Statement, we have decided to integrate the Corporate 
Governance Report in the meaning of no. 3.10 of the German Cor
porate Governance Code into the Corporate Governance State
ment in order to simplify orientation for the reader. By contrast, 
the remuneration report pursuant to the current version of 
no. 4.2.5 of the German Corporate Governance Code from May 13, 
2013, is no longer part of the Corporate Governance Report. The 
remuneration report is now part of the management report in
cluded on pages 33 to 37 of this financial report.

The Corporate Governance Statement can be found on pages 120 to 
127 in this financial report. It can also be found on Symrise AG’s 
website at http://www.symrise.com/investors/corporate- 
governance/corporate-governance-statement-and-corporate-
governance-report. The Supervisory Board discussed imple
mentation of the code in depth during its meeting on  December 
5, 2013. In 2013, we observed the refinement of cor porate gov
ernance standards in Germany and abroad and will continue to 
do so in the future. 
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On December 5, 2013, the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board submitted an updated Declaration of Compliance according 
to Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act and made this 
permanently available to the shareholders on the company’s web
site. It is also included in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Symrise has, to date, fully complied with all recommendations 
made by the Government Commission on the German Corporate 
Governance Code (version: May 13, 2013) published by the Ger
man Federal Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013, in the official 
part of the Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) with the exception 
of one item.

Until now, the company has differed from the 28th recommen
dation issued by the Government Commission of the German Cor
porate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, paragraph 5 
of the code’s current version from May 13, 2013, published in the 
official section of the Federal Gazette by the German Federal 
Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013 as pertains the Chief Execu
tive Officer’s work contract. The commitments for payments in 
case of an early termination of the Executive Board position re
sulting from a change of control could exceed 150 % of the sever
ance payment cap and amount to up to 250 % of the severance pay
ment cap.

Effective as of today, the company will again comply with the 
28th recommendation issued by the Government Commission of 
the German Corporate Governance Code contained in no. 4.2.3, 
paragraph 5 of the code’s current version from May 13, 2013, 
published in the official section of the Federal Gazette by the 
German Federal Ministry of Justice on June 10, 2013 and will 
continue to do so in the future.

ChanGes in the e xeCutive boarD 
anD supervisory boarD
There were no personnel changes in the Executive Board during 
the reporting year. 

As of the conclusion of June 30, 2013, KarlHeinz Huchthausen 
officially retired and accordingly resigned from his position on 
the Supervisory Board. His elected replacement, Harald Feist, 
became a member of the Supervisory Board at Symrise AG as of 
July 1, 2013.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank all of the members of 
the Executive Board, the employees of all Group companies in 
Germany and abroad as well as all employee representatives for 
their commitment and accomplishments in the 2013 fiscal year. 
You contributed to another successful business year for Symrise.

On behalf of the Supervisory Board,

Dr. Thomas Rabe 
Chairman

Holzminden, March 6, 2014
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e xeCutive boarD:
dr. heInz- jürgen bertram:

CEO

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany None

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International)
 Rockwool A/S, Hedehusene, Denmark,  

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Indevex AB, Storebro, Sweden,  

Member of the Supervisory Board

achIm daub:

President Scent & Care

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany None

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International) None

hans holger glIeWe:

President Flavor & Nutrition

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany None

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

bernd hIrsch:

CFO

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
Evotec AG, Hamburg, Member of the Supervisory Board  
(since Dec. 16, 2013)

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International) None

supervisory boarD:
dr. thomas rabe:

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG,  
Chief Executive Officer of Bertelsmann Management SE

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden
 Arvato AG, Gütersloh, Germany,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Druck und Verlagshaus Gruner + Jahr AG, Hamburg,  

Germany, Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International)
 BMG R M Germany GmbH, Berlin, Germany,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board (until Sept. 13, 2013)
 Springer Science + Business Media, Strassen, Luxembourg, 

Member of the Supervisory Board (until June 18, 2013)
 Bertelsmann Capital Investments S.A., Luxembourg,  

Member of the Supervisory Board (until Oct. 7, 2013)
 Bertelsmann Digital Media Investments S.A., Luxembourg, 

Member of the Supervisory Board
 Bertelsmann Inc., Wilmington, USA,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Edmond Israel Foundation, Luxembourg,  

Member of the Supervisory Board
 RTL Group S.A., Luxembourg,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Penguin Random House LLC, UK,  

Member of the Supervisory Board (since July 1, 2013)

dr. mIchael becker:

Retired;  
Managing Partner at Merck KGaA until Dec. 31, 2011

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International)
 Bâloise Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland,  

Member of the Board of Directors

horst- ot to gerberdIng:

Managing Director at Gottfried Friedrichs KG, Hamburg

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

dr. peter grafoner:

Freelance Consultant

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden
 SAG Group GmbH, Langen,  

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Coperion GmbH, Stuttgart,  

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Bodies and Mandates – Executive Board and Supervisory Board
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Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International)
 SKF AB, Gothenburg, Sweden,  

Member of the Supervisory Board
 SCANIA Schweiz AG, Kloten, Switzerland,  

President of the Board of Directors

francesco grIolI:

Executive Secretary for Tariff Policy and Finance at IG BCE

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden
 Gerresheimer AG, Düsseldorf, Germany,  

Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

regIna hufnagel:

Vice Chairperson of the Supervisory Board of Symrise AG, 
 Chairperson of the works council and Chairperson of the general 
works council of Symrise AG

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

chrIstIane jarke:

Director F & N Strategic Regulatory Affairs EAME at Symrise AG

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

gerd lösIng:

Vice President Quality Control EAME of Symrise AG

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

prof. dr. andrea pfeIfer:

Chief Executive Officer at AC Immune S.A.,  
Lausanne,  Switzerland

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International)
 Bio MedInvest AG, Basel, Switzerland,  

Chairperson of the Board of Directors
 AB2 Bio SA, Lausanne, Switzerland,  

Chairperson of the Board of Directors 

dr. WInfrIed steeger (as of may 15, 2012):

CEO at Jahr Holding GmbH & Co.KG, Hamburg

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden
 Druck und Verlagshaus Gruner + Jahr Aktiengesellschaft, 

Hamburg, Germany, Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH (codetermined limited 

 liability company of the Otto Group), Hamburg, Germany, 
Member of the Supervisory Board

 Hemmoor Zement AG i.L., Hemmoor, Germany,  
Member of the Supervisory Board 

 Eurokai KGaA, Hamburg, Germany,  
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International)
 August Prien Verwaltung GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, 

 Chairman of the Supervisory Board
 Otto Dörner GmbH & Co.KG, Hamburg, Germany,  

Member of the Advisory Board

helmut tacke:

Member of the works council of Symrise AG,  
Vice Chairman of the general works council

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies  
 (Domestic and International) None

harald feIst (as of july 1, 2013):

Vice Chairman of the works council of Symrise AG

Membership of Statutory Supervisory Boards  
in Germany
 Symrise AG, Holzminden

Membership in Comparable Supervisory Bodies   
(Domestic and International)  None



Glossary 

aff
Aroma Molecules, Flavors & Fragrances

aroma
A complex mix of flavors and/or fragrances often based on 
 aromatic compounds, which can be aromatics themselves

bilmoG
German Accounting Law Modernization Act (Bilanzrechts
modernisierungsgesetz)

bioCatalysis
Implementation, acceleration or alteration of chemical reactions 
(catalysis), in which enzymes serve as biological catalysts

Coso i i
COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission) aims to improve financial reporting through ethical 
action, effective internal controls and good corporate gover
nance. Published in 2004, COSO II is an expansion of the original 
control model

Covenants
Loan agreements (under the normal market conditions)

DQs
Leading certifier of corporate processes

e ame
Europe, Africa and Middle East

ebit
Earnings before interest and taxes

ebitDa
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization 
on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

f & f
Flavors & Fragrances

GDp
Gross Domestic Product: A statistic used to measure the economic 
strength (goods and services) of a country

hGb
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch)

ial
An industrial and market research consultancy

ifr a
International Fragrance Association

iks
Internal Controlling System

iofi
International Organization of the Flavor Industry

iso 31000
A standard that defines the framework for a risk management 
system

l avanDin
(Lavandula intermedia, Provence lavender): Hybrid of real and 
spike lavender that is of great importance for the industry

ltip
Long Term Incentive Plan, a remuneration plan for staff, 
 especially for managerial staff

open innovation
Opening up of the innovation process of organizations and thus 
the active strategic use of the external world for the expansion of 
innovative potential. The open innovation concept describes the 
purposeful use of knowledge flowing into and out of the company, 
while making use of internal and external marketing channels 
in order to generate innovations

oper atinG Cash floW
Cash generated from the operations of a company and defined as 
the revenues minus operating expenses (an important indicator 
of an enterprise’s earning power)

phy toChemistry
Also called plant chemistry, phytochemistry is a subarea of 
 biochemistry and botany that researches chemical substances in 
plants

re aCh
European Union regulation for the registration, evaluation, 
 authorization and restriction of chemicals

re volvinG CreDit faCilit y
Credit limits which the borrower can access at any time and  offer 
very flexible repayment options

supply Chain
Process chain from procurement, through production and all the 
way to the sale of a product, including suppliers, manufacturers 
and end customers

us private pl aCement
Nonpublic sale of debt securities to US investors, which is 
 regulated, however, by the SEC (United States Securities and 
 Exchange Commission) 

WorkinG Capital
Financial indicator derived by subtracting current operating 
 liabilities from current operating assets
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pUBliSHeR
symrise AG
mühlenfeldstrasse 1
Corporate Communications
37603 Holzminden
Germany
T +49 55 31.90 – 0

F +49 55 31.90 – 16 49

concept AnD eDitinG

PvF investor relations, eschborn

concept, DeSiGn AnD ReAliZAtion

3st kommunikation, mainz

tYpoGRApHY
BG media design GmbH, Darmstadt

tRAnSlAtion

englishBusiness AG, Hamburg

pRintinG
Westdeutsche Verlags- und Druckerei GmbH, 

mörfelden-Walldorf

pUBlicAtion DAte oF tHiS RepoRt

march 10, 2014

SYMRiSe on tHe inteRnet
www.symrise.com/en
www.symrise.com/en/sustainability
www.symrise.com/en/investors The FsC® logo iden tifi es products which contain wood 

from well-managed forests certifi ed in accordance with 
rules of the Forest stewardship Council.

Print compensated
Id-No. 1326951

www.bvdm-online.de

Imprint Financial Calendar

MARcH 10, 2014
Corporate and Financial report 2013

MAY 6, 2014

interim report 1st Quarter 2014

MAY 14, 2014

Annual General meeting

AUGUSt 7, 2014

interim report 2nd Quarter 2014

noVeMBeR 4, 2014
interim report 3rd Quarter 2014

FoRWARD -looKinG StAteMentS

This financial report contains forward-looking sta te ments that are based on current assumptions and forecasts by Symrise AG. 
The future course of business and the results actually achieved by Symrise AG and its affiliates are subject to a large number of 
risks and uncertainties and may therefore differ substantially from the forward-looking statements. Many of these factors are outside 
of Symrise AG’s sphere of influence and cannot be assessed in detail ahead of events. They include, for example, unfavorable de-
velopment of the global economy, a change in consumer behavior, and changes to laws, regulations and official guidelines. Should 
one of these uncertainty factors, named or otherwise, occur or should the assumptions on which the forward-looking statements 
are based prove to be incorrect, the actual results may differ significantly from the results anticipated. Symrise undertakes no obli-
gation to update forward-looking statements contin uously and to adjust them to future events or devel opments.

© 2014 Symrise AG



Symrise AG
Mühlenfeldstrasse 1
37603 Holzminden
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